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PROLOGUE

 


U.S. ARMY MUNITIONS COMMAND

 


EDGEWOOD, MARYLAND

 




Be all that you can be, Emery
thought. In the Army.

 


During his two years in green, he’d seen
some butt-ugly posts—Fort Leonard Wood, Missouri; Dix, Sill, and
Devans in Massachusetts before they’d closed that hock-bucket
down—but this…

This?

“Good God,” Emery muttered.

The U.S. Army Edgewood Arsenal made Bosnia
look like the French Riviera. Home of the illustrious 1st
Redeposition Battalion, Edgewood seemed to be the sinkhole where
the Army buried all its junk, and men like Emery were the masters
of the junkyard.

Quanset huts and fences—acres of them, all
set in mud. No grass was allowed to grow on this post because dirt
and mud would take castable footprints, something CID wanted in
case anyone was stupid enough to break into this joint. In essence,
then, the Edgewood Arsenal was a seemingly limitless mud hole.

It’s the ass-crack of the world,
Emery thought, and here I am stuck between the cheeks.

Whenever he pulled sentry duty, it rained.
Dressed in an olive-drab hood and poncho, Specialist 4th Class
Craig Emery walked his solitary guard post in front of a long
warehouse. Just like the warehouse he’d guarded last night, and the
night before that, and so on. The warehouses all looked the same.
Slung around his shoulder was an M-16A2. His boots clicked wetly
through the rain puddles.

Just like the rain puddles last night, and
the night before that.

And so on.

Emery, like a lot of eighteen year olds
fresh out of high school, had fallen for the recruiter’s shtick,
hook, line, and sinker. He’d wanted to be an infantry man, try to
make the cut with the Rangers, go to jump school and all that. He’d
wanted to be a SOLDIER. But once the recruitment officer got to
jacking his jaws, that was all she wrote for Emery.

“You don’t want to be a ground-pounder, do
you?” he’d insisted. “You want to be a 095-Echo Security Materials
Technician. See, Craig, you passed the background check. You
qualify for a Secret clearance with an access higher than most U.S.
congressmen. The Army needs men like you, Craig. Men of integrity,
men of character. Plus, when you get out, the Army pays all your
college tuition, or if you stay in, you get a $25,000 re-enlistment
bonus.”

Wow, Emery had thought.

“Don’t be a sod-pounder, Craig. As a
095-Echo Security Materials Technician, you’ll be working the U.S.
Army Munitions Command, and you’ll be maintaining critical security
on…secret weapons.”

Wow, Emery had thought. Security
Materials Technician!

That’s all it took. Emery signed on the
dotted line and was shipped of to Basic a week later. He was going
to work on secret weapons!

Security Materials Technician indeed. The
title sounded intriguing, and, yes, Emery received his Secret
clearance just as he graduated Basic and was shipped to his
Advanced Individual Training at Fort Goodfellow in San Angelo,
Texas. He’d passed the polygraphs. He’d never stolen. He’d never
used drugs. And he’d never done any…atypical things with animals.
Emery was in!

At Goodfellow, though, he’d found out just
exactly what a Security Materials Technician was.

A sentry. A flunky walking a guard post.
That was it.

No, in the two years and eleven months of
his three-year stint, Emery had never seen a single “secret
weapon.” Oh, there were plenty such things on the vast post: old
field nukes from the 60s and 70s, RAP artillery shells, binary
chemical-weapons canisters. He’d even heard that the base stored
hundreds of Whisky-79 155mm warheads which were essentially neutron
bombs but, because of their older design, had slipped through some
SALT II loopholes.

But Emery never saw any of this
stuff, and he certainly never worked on it.

He just guarded it.

I should’ve joined the Rangers, he
regretted. Should’ve gone to Kosovo.

Because there was another thing: Nothing
ever happened here. Action was not this post’s middle name.

Just walking one eight-hour shift after
another, looking at the same long gray locked warehouses.

In the rain.

Behind him, heavy rolls of razor wire topped
the double-layer steel fence.

The fence hummed.

An ever-familiar warning sign read: NO
TRESPASSING! DO NOT TOUCH PERIMETER FENCE!

Emery passed two more such signs: RESTRICTED
AREA. USE OF DEADLY FORCE AUTHORIZED and SECTION 21, INTERNAL
SECURITY ACT OF 1950 - 50 U.S.C. 797 - ALL TRESPASSERS WILL BE
FIRED UPON.

Yeah yeah yeah, Emery thought, rain
running off him as though he were a human drain-spout.

He glanced at his watch. Thank God!
he thought.

It was 11:59 p.m.

His post ended in one minute.

Or maybe not.

Emery had already abruptly stopped. He was
staring at the perimeter fence.

There was a hole in it, a big one. At least
three feet around.

Nothing ever happens here, he
reminded himself. He unslung his rifle, its plastic handgrips tight
in his fingers. He pulled back the charging handle—

clack!

—and fed a 5.56mm round into the
chamber.

Then he turned around one hundred and eighty
degrees.

“Fuck,” he muttered between his clenched
teeth.

Nothing ever happened here?

Emery was staring at the nearest warehouse
door. He saw three heavy-duty padlocks lying in pieces at the foot
of the door.

The door stood ajar.

Emery whipped out his hand-held Motorola
radio…

 


««—»»

 


The guard hut was cozy, warm. And dry.

Those poor bohunkers, Staff Sergeant
Young thought with a chuckle, thinking all off his boys out there
in the rain tonight. It rained a lot around here.

But the Sergeant of the Guard didn’t have to
walk a post. SSG Young felt he’d earned the privilege. Combat
Infantry Badge and Purple Heart in Desert Storm. He’d be E-8 by now
if it weren’t for that minor altercation at Nurnberg two years ago.
You punch a 2nd lieutenant in the face at a bar, you get busted.
Didn’t matter that the punk had only been in the service nine
months. Didn’t matter that it was over a pissant bar argument about
baseball. Young was a Yankees fan. The lieutenant…the fucking
Orioles.

Didn’t matter. When an EM punches an officer
in the face, the officer always won.

Young pleaded guilty before the UCMJ court,
and when the judge took one look at his record, he’d let Young off
light in a big way. One stripe in the shitter and ninety-days Extra
Duty.

Young’s escalating security clearance had
landed him at Edgewood. It was easy time, and Young figured that he
deserved it, after so many times of being fired at—and shot—by
Hussein’s Republican Guard. He’d taken out six of the pricks before
they’d tagged him. Young had been deep in the field, sensor-reading
Iraqi weapons igloos that had been lazed and bombed by the Air
Force. The things their CAT detectors had told them…

Well, that was another story.

At least I got the shots, he
thought.

Right now he was slouched back at the guard
desk reading—of all things—TV Guide. Forget about the
Playboys and Hustlers under the desk. This ish had
the first pix of Pamela Lee with her de-planted bosoms.

What a woman, he thought. With or
without, babe, you’re the greatest…

That’s when the base-station radio went
off.

“Sergeant of the Guard, Post Number 3!”

Pam was on the floor as Young rushed to the
set. He keyed the mike:

“Post 3, this is Security Point SOG. What’s
your status?”

“Sarge, this is Emery! Sector 9 fence is
breached! And the door to Vault 6 is open!”

Young spat out his wad of Cannonball chewing
tobacco. “Emery! Lock and load, and man your post. A SERT’s on the
way!” Young, harried now, grabbed a phone. “Division CQ, this is
1st Redep. Wake up the CO and tell him we got a breach.”

Goddamn godamn goddamn, he thought
when he hung up the phone. Nothing ever happened at this post. But
tonight…something had.

Young clicked the radio base to another
channel, then grabbed the mike.

“Base Security, this is 1st Redep SOG. Put
the Base on Op Stat 4 Alert, now. I need a Special Emergency
Response Team dispatched to Vault 6, now.”

The alarms were already blaring when Staff
Sergeant Young donned his field hat, cocked his Beretta 92F, then
ran out the guard shack’s door.

 


««—»»

 


“Right there, Sarge!” Emery yelled.

Rain ran in rivulets down Young’s face and
arms. “Where?”

Emery pointed to the hole cut into the
fence. Behind them, the spotlights were roving, and many armed
soldiers could be seen searching the outside perimeter.

The breach alarm continued to blare.

Then the Emery pointed to the opened
warehouse door. “And there!” he shouted.

Young eyed the cracked Milspec locks on the
ground, thinking Shit! “We ain’t waiting for the SERT team,”
he told Emery. “Come on.”

Young pushed open the warehouse door, thrust
out his sidearm.

Inside, the warehouse extended vast as a
ship’s cargo hold. Intermittent caged lights hung overhead,
throwing blocks of stiff shadows. Long aisles formed by wooden
crates stacked ceiling-high. A sign warned from a low support beam:
NO OPEN LIGHTS. NO SMOKING. DANGER: HIGH EXPLOSIVES.

“This sucks, Sarge,” Emery complained. Fear
put a slight crack in his voice. “You see how those door locks were
busted? Somebody popped ’em right off the u-bolts. I heard those
locks—”

“You heard right,” Young snapped back.
“They’re the best padlocks in the world; a .50-cal round won’t
break them. And how’d they get through the security fence? It’s
1,500 volts.”

“We-we should wait for the SERT team,
Sarge.”

“Bullshit. Whoever busted in might still be
here.”

Sweat formed around Emery’s collar. “Yeah,
which is why we should—”

“Pipe down,” Young ordered. “And aim your
weapon forward—it ain’t a goddamn broom. You watch right, I watch
left. Keep an eye out for trip-wires. And shoot anything that
moves.”

Young lead on through the main aisle,
determined, eyes keen over his pistol sight. Emery followed with
quite a bit less enthusiasm. As they moved deeper into the
warehouse, the air grew heavy with the scents of bare wood and
fire-retardants.

“First section of the warehouse is mainly
primers and rigging gear. Now we’re getting into the tough
stuff.”

Emery began to sweat harder as he read the
stenciled markings on various crates:

 


MINES/M-18 (Claymore) APERS, One (1) Box of
Twelve (12)

BLOCK, DEMOLITION M2 (Tetrytol) 6.5 LB, Six
(6) Pieces

GRENADES, HAND, FRAG MK2A1 with FUSE
M204A1.

 


“Aw, come on, Sarge!” Emery raised his
voice. “This is all bomb shit! It could be some terrorist busted in
here and rigged the place to blow. We need to get our asses out of
here and call the ordnance people!”

“Shut up,” Young quietly replied. “You’re a
fuckin’ soldier, start acting like it.”

“To hell with that shit! I’m short; I’m
discharged in a month!”

Young spared his underling the thinnest of
grins. “Better to go out with a bang, huh?”

“To hell with that shit, Sarge!”

Young chuckled. Sure, the kid was
shit-scared, but maybe that would keep him on his toes, where he
needed to be. “Eyes open, mouth shut. This ain’t the Navy, boy.
This isn’t a rig-job—”

“How do you know?”

“Because we’re still alive. Whoever busted
into the vault had some serious know-how. If they’d rigged charges,
this quad would be a crater by now, and there wouldn’t be enough
left of you or me to fill a bottle cap.”

“You really know how to make a guy feel
secure, Sarge,” Emery muttered.

“My guess is a material theft. Some
whacked-out Bin Laden terrorist, or one of those asshole white
militias. Keep your eyes peeled for opened crates.”

Emery dragged his feet. “Opened crates,” he
muttered to himself. Then something hooked his vision off to the
right. “Hey, Sarge? Is that a—”

“What?”

“Is that an opened crate? Right there? Two
o’clock?”

Young slowly roved his gaze, the bead of his
pistol-sight following it. After a moment of comprehension, then,
he stood upright and slumped. His pistol slipped out of his hand
and clattered to the cement floor.

“Holy mother of God,” Young whispered.

“What!” Emery cracked. “What is it?”

Indeed, there before them sat an empty
wooden crate, it’s nailed lid pried off into splinters.

“What is it?” Emery repeated, his lower lip
trembling.

“A world of hurt,” SSG Young answered in
drained monotone.

Only then did Emery see what his superior
non-com meant. He was close enough now to read the stenciled
markings on the side of the empty crate:

 


PROPERTY OF U.S. ARMY CORP OF ENGINEERS

LOT 2244-63, M-129/W-54 - YIELD, SELECTABLE:
0.5-1.5KT

NET WEIGHT: 298 LBS.

 


Emery’s mouth fell open when he read the
rest.

 


CONTENTS: ONE (1) (S-)A-D-M:

(SMALL) ATOMIC DEMOLITION MUNITION.

 


 




CHAPTER ONE

 


A dark, musty room, one light.

Locked door.

A two-way mirror and two shadows for
company.

But for a police interrogation room…Harlan
Garrett had seen worse. This was Washington, D.C., and they
probably wouldn’t beat him up here, not like they’d beat him up in
De Smet, South Dakota, and Calera, Alabama. Yes, those redneck cops
had whupped Garrett’s tail-end in a big way, and in Tonopah,
Nevada, the feds had confiscated Garrett’s rental car and left him
to hitchhike several hundred miles down the Shoshone utility road
where he could’ve died from heat-stroke and dehydration.

No, Garrett thought, they won’t
pull any of that here. Not in D.C. Christ, it’s the nation’s
Capitol.

“Garrett,” one of the shadows spake. “I
ought to have a goon squad drag you out back and kick your ass.
We’d make Rodney King look like paddycakes. This is D.C., pal. We
do things right out here.”

Then again, Garrett thought, I
could be wrong about that.

“So when do you break out the billy clubs
and rubbers hoses?”

“Aw, we don’t use candyass stuff like that.
We use Tasers and shock-sticks. They don’t leave any identifiable
marks. Plus they’re…a lot more fun.”

Harlan Garrett was lean, scruffy, handsome
in a roguish sort of way. Maybe a Brad Pitt type—that is, Brad Pitt
on some serious skids. Brad didn’t wear rotten tennis shoes nor did
he drive a ‘76 Malibu with a flat finish and 200,000 miles on the
odometer. His longish brown hair was mussed, dark circles under his
eyes, clothes crumpled. Two men in suits stood before him—the two
shadows. One was Demeter, a balding big-gun District Six police
detective and the self-same gentleman who’d made the amicable
remark about the goon squad and the Tasers. The second was Roderick
Calabrice, a…balding, big-gun litigation attorney for Gilbert,
Barbick, Pearson, & Calabrice, only the biggest power-pack law
firm in the city. They’d turned down Paula Jones and the Starbucks
suit because they deemed any potential settlement of five million
dollars or less wasn’t worth their time. But here, today, Calabrice
was on retainer, one of the firm’s clients: Nevatek, the most
successful fiber and composite manufacturer on the eastern
seaboard.

“Yeah, this looks fair,” Garrett pointed out
at once, rubbing his stubble. “Nevatek’s lawyer is here but mine’s
not. I thought I get a public defender or something, or did I wake
up in Serbia this morning?”

“Don’t ask me why, Garrett,” Demeter said
through a smirk, “but—”

Calabrice cut in, hoisting his medicine-ball
gut beneath the $1500 Xanadrini suit.

“Mr. Garrett, we’re here simply to advise
you that my client, Nevatek Industries, is dropping all charges
against you.”

Garrett cast a knowing smile. “Of course you
are. You’re one of the best law firms in the country, and what’s
Nevatek’s retainer? About a quarter-mil per month? You guys don’t
want any publicity on this. If I published my findings, the whole
country would know that Nevetek is double-subcontracting for the
CIA.”

Now Calabrice’s Steak-Diane-and-lobster-flan
gut actually jiggled at a titter. Lawyers, after all, were just
actors in nice suits. They were good. They made Sir Laurence
Olivier look like high school casting call.

“Really, Mr. Garrett,” Calabrice assured,
“that’s the most preposterous thing I’ve ever heard, not to mention
its clear potential for several crimes that you may have heard of
called libel and character defamation, and doubly not to mention
that any, um…findings you might publish would hardly have
any credibility amongst what our founding fathers described as the
public trust.”

Detective Demeter laughed through a hoarse
smoker’s cough that sounded like someone trying to start a faulty
gas-powered weed-whacker. “How do you like this busted loser?
Bet’choo gotta couple of Pulitzers for that fine respectable
journalism of yours, huh? Bet’choo hang out with Woodward and
Bernstein at the friggin’ Capital Hill cocktail parties. Shit,
Garrett, you act like the National Enquirer is the same as
the friggin’ Washington Post. “

“That’s real funny, Dirty Harry,” Garrett
came back. “And for one thing, half the writers on the Post
are on the White House pad, and for another, I don’t write for the
Enquirer. I write for legitimate—”

Calabrice subtly burped; the burped smelled
like Merlot and Duck Confit. “Yes, Mr. Garrett, as you’ve already
been kind enough to enlighten us, you write only for legitimate
alternate investigative journals, seven of which you’ve been
fired from for the same infractions that have landed you here.
Nevertheless, the fact remains: you illegally impersonated a
Nevatek employee, you unlawfully entered secured and sensitive
private property, you infiltrated a Nevetek data processing unit,
and you stole confidential corporate files.”

Demeter stepped closer, blooming his shadow
more broadly across Garrett’s face. “Garrett, these guys have every
right to prosecute you to the fullest extent of the law, and I wish
they would. They’d bury you so deep you’d need a mile-long snorkel
just to suck air. Why they’re not going to do that is beyond
me.”

“I’ll tell you why, Dick Tracy,” Garrett
explained. “They don’t want the public to know they’re testing
electro-magnetic pulse weapons on unsuspecting citizens in Northern
Virginia , and that U.S. tax dollars are paying for it. It’s called
a ‘triple-cloak-scheme,’ same as the pyramid shams that
multi-millionaires use to shelter money in off-shore accounts. The
National Security Counsel uses its own CIA operatives to hire phony
subcontractors who in turn hire high-tech companies like Nevatek to
start up field labs for clandestine research. This stuffed-shirt
here will tell you that all Nevatek does is manufacture plastic and
fiberglass at their well-known production facility in Arlington,
Virginia. But what he won’t tell you is that the Nevatek created a
second production facility in Bowensville, Maryland, where they’ve
got an operational atomic clock, an operational tri-rack cyclotron,
and a dozen one-gigawatt EM-pulse generators. Tell me that, Mr.
Hot-Shot Lawyer? What business does a fucking plastic
factory have with a billion-dollar cyclotron?”

“Do you take narcotics, Mr. Garrett? Are you
delusional?” Calabrice suggested.

Garrett sniffed. “What’s the smell you keep
burping? I like it. You have lunch at The Occidental or was it
Ruth’s Chris? I’ll bet you were billing your client five hundred
bucks an hour for the whole time you were stuffing your face with a
meal that cost more than most Americans make in a week. Oh, and
then I’ll bet you billed your client for the meal too, huh?”

Calabrice’s jaw set. “I’d think you’d be a
little more cordial, considering my client’s generosity. Your fine
tally adds up to a minimum of fifteen years in prison. We don’t
have to drop charges but have elected to simply in the
interests of saving unnecessary legal costs.”

Garrett nodded briskly, in hilarity. “Okay,
okay, I get it. You drop charges if keep my mouth shut. Fine. It’s
shut.”

“That’s not what I meant at all, Mr.
Garrett,” Calabrice bid, “but that’s a moot point now. Have a good
day.”

Calabrice took his finely suited bulk out of
the dim interrogation room. This left Garrett alone with the
Detective Demeter.

Garrett shrugged at the policeman. “Hell, I
can’t afford to go to jail again, and everybody knows his firm pays
off the public defenders to deliberately blow the case.”

“You’re something, Garrett, a real pride to
humanity.”

“I agree. And I can leave now, right?”
Garrett said. “He’s dropping charges.”

“He is, but we aren’t,”
Demeter was happy to say. “You’ll still be charged criminally by
the District of Columbia for—”

Garrett vocally exploded. “For what! If
they’re not going to prosecute, the Nevatek files aren’t admissible
as evidence!”

Demeter nodded with a long smile. “When you
were on your way home from your little caper the other night, you
were observed failing to stop at the traffic signal at 14th and U
Streets, exceeding the speed limit, negligent driving—oh, and for
operating an unsafe vehicle. The tag light was out on that boat
anchor you call a car.”

“And you’re incarcerating me for that
nickel-dime crap!”

“Under the law, it’s our right to refuse to
release you pending court summons.””You’re just doing that to jerk
me around!” Garrett stared fiercely at the detective. “I’ll bet
Perry Mason out there is padding you, just to warn me off! His
firm’s got more money than Bill Gates!”

Demeter’s rock face stared right back. “Just
get out of here, asshole. Your girlfriend posted your bail. See you
in court.”

Disgusted, Garrett got up, was about to
leave, but then he stopped short and twirled around at the door.
“All right, Dick, I admit it. I broke into Nevatek and stole some
of their R&D files. But no one, and I mean no one, knew
that I was going to make the heist, but you guys were
waiting for me at my apartment. How did you know? Come on. I
won’t tell, and who’d believe me anyway?”

“The good fairies tipped us off,” Demeter’s
voice grated. “Now get out of here before I misplace your bail
release and put you back in the tank. Shit, I’ll over-night you to
the city general-pop. A skinny, good-looking guy like you? You’d be
considered prime relationship material.” Demeter winked. “And those
guys in there? They’ll change your name to Mary Jean in less time
than it takes you to bend over. Shit, Garrett, they’ll be trading
you back and forth for cigarettes and cell-block cookies every
night.”

Garrett’s stomach turned at the thought. It
was no joke. He got up from the table and left the smoky room as
fast as his rotten sneakers could propel him.

“See ya later…Mary Jean…”

 


««—»»

 


Jessica was radiant, kind, considerate,
and—moreover—beautiful. In all the bad things about Garrett’s life,
there was always Jessica, to add something good. She was always
there for him.

She’ll understand, Garrett felt
sure.

“Goddamn you, Harlan, you goddamn bastard!”
Jessica shouted at him the minute custody sergeant let him out of
the tank and into the exit corridor.

Garrett, in his inept misinterpretation of
her reaction, almost wanted to turn right around and go back to
jail.

“Honey, I’m sorry,” he pleaded.

“Oh? Whose fault was it then?” she bellowed
back, more irate than he’d ever seen her. “What, you’re possessed
by some devil that makes you get arrested every time?”

Garrett ground his teeth. “They’re tapping
my phones again, I know it,” he explained. “And I’ll bet
DARPA or NSA is intercepting my e-mail. That’s the only way
anyone could’ve known in advance that I was going to pull the
Nevatek job.”

It was all Jessica could do to walk next to
him toward the exit doors. She didn’t say a word for the entire
trek.

“So what is this?” Garrett said, glancing at
her. “The silent treatment?”

“Don’t talk to me, Harlan. Don’t say
anything,” she hissed back. “I’m just too pissed off at you
right now.”

“I just spent a day and a night in that
medieval penal colony. The last thing I need is a stiff upper
lip.”

“What you need is a busted lip, and a
head to go with it!”

Garrett was appalled by her insensitivity.
“I guess you didn’t hear me. D.C. Jail? Me—in it? It’s not for
human beings, honey, believe me. It’s like that Oz show on
cable. Christ, you should see the creatures in there. One of
them tried to—”

Jessica stopped and briskly spun around, her
shiny red hair aswirl. “Stop trying to make me feel sorry for you
’cos you had to spend the night in jail!” she shouted, fire in her
jade-green eyes. She grabbed Garrett’s shoulders and shook him like
a baby rattle. “What am I? Your personal bail bondman? Damn it,
Harlan! This is the second time I’ve had to bail you out of jail.
It cost me $500 this time!”

“I’ll pay you back,” Garrett peeped.

“That’s what you said last time, Harlan!
I’ve got bills too, and half of them are yours anyway!”

Garrett caught his composure, calming down.
He tried to see it from her point of view…and began to see her
point. Whenever he was unemployed, it was always Jessica who helped
him out. And I’m unemployed a lot, he admitted. He sighed
and gently touched her cheek.

“This time I will pay you back, baby,
I promise. Things could be worse, you know. At least I still got my
job with the Psi-Com Journal…”

 


««—»»

 


The letter felt like a sheet of dead skin in
his hands:

 


THE PSI-COM JOURNAL

A Subsidiary of the Wentner Publishing
Group

200 Madison Avenue

New York, NY 10016

 


Dear Mr. Garrett:

 


Per our conversation, your complete lack of
ethics while under our employ have been deemed wholly unacceptable.
Therefore, you may consider this letter an official notification of
your termination.

 


Glen Boyd

Editor and Chief

 


Aw, man, Garrett thought, staring at
the letter he’d just opened in his apartment. Wearing only his
boxer shorts, he walked back from the mailshot and fell back into
his disheveled bed. Kick me some more, God, will Ya? Why
not?

He crumpled up the letter, and when he
tossed it at the waste basket…it missed. The shower hissed behind
him from his mop-closet-sized bathroom.

“Who need the friggin’ Psi-Com Journal
anyway?” he voiced aloud to himself. “I’m too good for those
stuck-up jive neckbones.”

When he reached up for his cigarettes, his
hand padded across his computer-laden desk and a clogged ashtray;
finally, it knocked over several empty beers cans. Eventually he
found his pack of generics but when he tried to light one, the
lighter wouldn’t work.

Disgusted, Garret got back out of bed,
hunting for matches amongst the piles of books on his desk.
Roswell Dead Witnesses, KGB Citations of Spontaneous Human
Combustion, MK-ULTRA Then And Now, Crash Perimeters and Grids:
Classified! and the like. Here, in the midst of Garrett’s
professional bibles, he found a matchbook from the 1720 Club, his
favorite strip bar.

The matchbook was empty.

Can’t pay my bills, can’t keep a job…can’t
even light a friggin’ cigarette…

He stretched before the wide balcony window,
scratching his butocks through the blue boxer shorts. He didn’t
hear the bathroom door click open.

“Doing what you do best, I see.”

Garrett’s gaze snapped around, and there
stood Jessica, wet-haired from the shower, a towel draped around
her.

“What?”

“Standing in your shorts, scratching your
ass.”

Garrett slipped his hands out of his boxers.
He winked at her. “Yeah, but you like my ass. You’ve told me
so.”

“You don’t get it, do you? A relationship is
a two-way street, Harlan. It just seems the more I put into this,
the less I get.” Jessica huffed, brazenly dropping the towel, then
pulling her clothes back on. “I can’t hack it anymore, Harlan.
Every time

you get something good in your life, you
blow it. Christ, I’m surprised you still have the freelance job
with The Psi-Com Journal.

Garrett felt like a toddler caught with full
pants. But he couldn’t lie to her. “I just got fired…”

“What! When?”

“Just now,” he admitted. “When I got the
mail.”

Jessica momentarily froze in disbelief, one
stocking dangling from her hand. “You’re serious, aren’t
you? My God, Harlan! It just gets worse and worse!”

Garrett tossed a nonchalant hand. “What,
Psi-Com fires me? So what? I can do better than that tabloid
roll of toilet paper any day.”

Jessica, still half naked, looked fit to
explode. “Harlan, you just lost your job and you act like it’s
nothing! Jeeze, you’ve been fired from MUFON, The SETI Sentinel,
The Watchman—”

“Rags, all rags—”

“You’ve been arrested seven times—”

“Six times, thank you, and they were all bum
raps, just like last night. All I was doing was what investigative
journalists are supposed to do. I was investigating.”

“You call it investigating, but the police
call it something else—breaking and entering!” Jessica railed. Now
she’d at least gotten her stockings and skirt back on. “I mean, for
God’s sake, Harlan, I’ve tried my best to support you through all
this but I can’t take anymore! You’ve got to join the real world,
get a real job, and get off all this UFO paranormal psychic
phenomena trance-channeling spontaneous combustion past-life
regressive hypnosis Uri Geller spoon-bending bullshit!”

“Hey, Uri Geller really can bend spoons,”
Garrett defended. “I saw him do it at the Seattle Convention Center
in ‘93. He also blanked some floppy disks just by looking at them;
I positively verified the erasures with my laptop. He says the
Russians hired him to do it to D-O-D couriers on commercial air
flights. I believe him.”

Jessica stormed about the unkempt apartment,
fully dressed now, but looking for her shoes. “Everything’s a joke
to you, isn’t it? It almost seems like you go out of your way to
make things worse for yourself! You get a scholarship to MIT grad
school and quit! You get job offers from IBM, Compaq,
Packard Bell, and Microsoft—and you turn them down! Then you
get a chance at a solid career in the Air Force, and you get
kicked out!”

Garrett finally found a Bic and lit his
cigarette. He shrugged at Jessica’s rather loud observations. It
was all true, but what did that matter. “Can I help it they can’t
take a joke?”

“A joke? Reading classified security
files is a joke? You’re lucky they didn’t throw you in a
military prison for twenty years!”

“Hey, no prison on earth can hold me, baby,”
he tried to make light of it.

Jessica wasn’t hearing it. “I work my tail
off at the hospital, swing-shifts, double-shifts, thinking it’s all
for something, for us, for our life
together—and all you do is drink beer, smoke cigarettes, and make
jokes!”

“All right,” Garrett agreed. “I’ll cut down
on the jokes—”

Jessica, now dressed and her shoes on,
snatched up her purse in an escalating rage. “No wonder your wife
divorced you! She ought to get a medal for putting up with you for
that long! Well, I’m sure as hell not going to make the same
mistake she did—”

Next, Jessica stared Garrett down, glaring.
Then she—

“No!” Garrett yelled.

—took her engagement ring off her finger and
threw it at him.

“Jessica! Come on!” Garrett exclaimed.
“Let’s not get carried away here. Look, I’m really sorry about you
having to bail me out of jail. But don’t you understand? I got set
up. Some government entity is bugging me again!”

The ring bounced across the dingy carpet and
wound up under the couch. “Oh, give me a break. Every time you
screw up you blame it on some ridiculous government
conspiracy!”

Garrett roused to take exception. “Come on,
honey. You remember when I found these…” He removed a small
cuff-link box from his desk. I’ll show her, he thought with
a sly smile. He flipped open the cheaply hinged,
patent-leather-covered box which once housed a set of dime-store
cufflink.

Now it housed something that looked like
four tiny pinheads.

“They’re pinheads, Harlan,” Jessica
insisted. “Are you too dim to remember? You’ve shown me that crock
of crap before.”

“They’re not pinheads, baby. I had them
tested at the Harrison Lab at University of Maryland. They’re
quarter-wavelength 400-512 megahertz wireless audio sensors.
Discreet microphones by any other name.” Garrett nodded in
assurance, displaying the small box. “This is high-tech stuff. The
guy at U of M told me they look just like the latest CIA models
that cost thirty grand apiece.”

“They’re pinheads, and that’s what
you’re becoming in this Big Brother fantasy

land of yours!” she yelled looking for her
keys.

“No, no, you don’t understand. They’re
bi-passive microphones, honey, planted in here to keep tabs on me.
Look how small they are! Can you imagine the advanced state of
technology?” Garrett, oblivious, went on to explain, “See, baby, a
VLF signal from a remote listening post is the actual power source
for the mikes. Then the signal produces what’s called a
carrier-current loop which cycles the voice transmissions back to
the eavesdroppers. See, once the mikes are no longer passive, an
oscillographic sensor detects the magnetic field in their pick-up
elements and—”

“SHUT UP!” Jessica shouted, bug-eyed.

Silence collapsed onto the room.

“I’m through—get it?” Jessica railed. “I’ve
got no more time to invest in a relationship that hasn’t been going
anywhere since the first day it started!”

Garrett forgot about the microphones.
“Honey, please. Look, I promise that from

now on—”

“Save it. I’m not buying that line of
bullshit ever again.” Jessica’s ample bosom rose and fell as she
caught her breath. “Read my lips, Harlan. It’s over. I’m out
of here—forever. Goodbye!”

“Wait a minute, wait a minute, give me—”

“Another chance?” A laugh blurted from her
lips. “I’ve been doing that for a year, and I’m sick of it! I’m
making a fool of myself thinking that we can ever have a
normal relationship. My time would be better spent ramming my head
into a brick wall. At least the goddamn brick wall would be more
receptive to my needs than you.”

Am I paranoid, or is this not going
very well? Garrett posed to himself. One thing he did know,
however: he loved her. She was so beautiful, and…she washed
dishes. He stood bewildered, scratching his butt, a cigarette
dangling from his lips.

“Because I’ve finally seen the light,” she
added, mockingly slapping her forehead. “After all this time, I’ve
finally been able to see the truth behind this farce of a
relationship.” Her gorgeous green eyes blazed, angry pinpoints of
green fire. “You know what you’re going to be doing five years from
now, ten? Huh, Harlan?”

“Uh…”

“The same damn thing you’re doing right now!
Standing in this rat-hole apartment with your hands in your shorts
scratching your ass!”

At last, shoes on feet and purse in hand,
Jessica turned in a pissed-off blur, stormed out of the apartment,
and slammed the door behind her so hard, Garrett’s framed
autographed photo of renowned ufologist Kevin D. Randall popped off
its nail in the foyer and shattered.

Garrett stared after her boisterous exit,
open-mouthed.

“Ain’t love grand?” he said aloud.

Eventually, in his shock, he turned around,
caught a glimpse of his boxer-short-clad self in the wall mirror,
scratching his butt. Great. He quickly pulled his hands out
from the back of his shorts, then distractedly wandered to the
window and looked out.

“Harlan E. Garrett, take heart,” he told
himself. “Today’s been a bad day, that’s true. You lost your job
and you lost your beautiful girlfriend—”

Sunlight blared in the window. Not a cloud
in the sky.

“—but things could be a lot worse, couldn’t
they?” Garrett nodded a philosophically positivistic agreement to
himself. He shrugged limply.

“It could be raining, right?”
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Torrential rain poured down on the car’s
windshield, the wipers thunking rapidly back and forth. The sudden
rainstorm had been a bit of a surprise, the turning black in
moments and cracking open like an egg. Thunder rumbled. Lightning
whiplashed blue-white tendrils in the murky darkness overhead.

But the driver of the rental car was
unperturbed. His entire life had been a storm. He liked
storms.

Through the deluge, the green road-sign with
white letters appeared in the bright halogen headlights:

WELCOME TO WASHINGTON D.C. under which
someone has crudely spray-painted in scarlet REDSKINS SUCK!

The driver’s black-gloved hands gripped the
wheel a bit more tightly. The leather creaked. He didn’t know the
Washington Redskins from a redskin peanut, and didn’t care;
football seemed a silly sport of misguided, structured violence.
When legs were irreparably shattered with multiple fractures or
when men broke their necks and were left quadriplegic, the
spectators didn’t care. They just kept watching. They wanted more,
and figured permanently disabling injuries were part of the risk
when these athletes signed their seven-figure contracts.

But the driver had much better ways of
disabling people, much more expeditious ways. Professional sports
merely seemed to license half-measures. The gladiators of Rome
didn’t, and neither did he. There was no gray area in the
philosophy of violence.

Idiots…

The sudden clench of his hands on the
steering wheel was merely a reflex of something that could be
likened to excitement.

He’d just entered the official limits of
Washington, D.C.…

He was getting close.

Good.

Once Maryland Route 50 turned into the
District’s well-known New York Avenue, a trash-strewn, pot-holed
mainline through the nation’s capital, the driver’s eyes quickly
scanned the coming road for a pay phone. Insular cell-phone devices
or even satellite phones would not suffice for this: too risky.
Instead, he looked for a simple landline.

The ludicrous lighted sign bloomed: SCOT. A
gas station. Hadn’t that franchise gone under decades ago, right
along with BP and Sinclair? Evidently not. Probably a tag-along
station privately owned, the driver guessed but hardly cared.
He pulled in at once, stopped the rental right in front of the
phone booth. The rain splattered on him, stepping from the car to
the booth, then he clacked the hinged doors closed.

Outside, the storm continued to rage.

His gloved hands deftly opened the black
lunch-box-sized case he’d brought with him: an N.P.O 1309 telephone
descrambler. He removed the pay phone’s receiver and snapped it
into the unit’s reception cups, then picked up the unit’s own
receiver. In the reflection of the phone booth’s glass, his face
looked phantom-black.

He dropped thirty-five cents into the slot
and dialed “O.”

“Thank you for using Bell-Atlantic,” a
cheery voice answered. “How may I assist you?”

GO GONZAGA EAGLES, he read a brief
announcement scratched into the phone’s chrome coin-box plate. And:
IF CLINTON DIDN’T INHALE, DID MONICA SWALLOW? “I’d like to place a
station-to-station call, please,” he said. “Area code 202-266-0001,
extension suffix 6.”

“One moment please.”

The driver’s eyes flicked up at a sudden
thumping on the phone booth glass. In an instant the door was
loudly pushed wide open.

Standing in the phone booth’s rainy entrance
was scrawny shaven-headed punk in a sleeveless black-leather jacket
and enough facial piercings to fill a tackle box. Twenty-five,
thirty-five—it was hard to tell these days; the crack and the ice
and the black tar Mexican “boy” wrung them out young these days,
added a decade for every year. The kid’s swollen red eyes looked
puffed and teary in whatever addiction it was that he’d sold his
soul too.

“Nice suit, fuck,” the boy said. “I’ll take
the jacket and the wallet. Now.” Then he raised a sharpened
screwdriver.

“Think so?”

“Be cool, man, don’t be stupid. Hand over
the wallet. If there ain’t some good cash in it, you’re fucked.
Don’t make me kill you.”

“What’s a bag of boy cost over here in the
east?” the driver strangely asked. “Ten bucks, twenty? On the west
coast, they sell the shit by the quarter-gram, but they’re all
loaded shots. Tips you losers over in a day. For God’s sake, what
the hell is wrong with you, kid? Life is a gift. Look what you’re
doing with it.”

The addict stared, taken aback even in his
twitching withdrawal. “You crazy, pops? I’ll gut you right here.
Gimme the cash…and the jacket. And I’ll take the car keys, too.”
Next, he raised the screwdriver higher.

“What are you gonna do with that? Hang a
towel rack? Get a life, son.”

The addict was incredulous.

“I’m making an important call,” the driver
said. “I got no time to play paddy cakes with junkies, so I’ll tell
you this once: Walk away.”

The addict grinned. “Fuck it.” Then he
lunged.

The driver’s left hand shot out, grasped the
addict’s throat while his right hand kept the phone calmly to his
ear. A few futile jabs of the sharpened screwdriver buffeted
against the suit jacket, not even scratching the Threat-Level III
Kevlar vest beneath. The addict’s face ballooned as the driver’s
left hand squeezed harder. In a moment the screwdriver clattered to
the floor, and a moment after that his trachea splintered.

“Rogers and Sons Dry Cleaning,” came a stiff
male voice over the phone.

The driver clicked a button on the receiver
with his thumb and then came brittle fizzing sound over the
line, then a long beep.

“Tango-six-dash-four-nine,” the male voice
said. “Counter-measures confirmed. Feed-decay-refeed loop—positive
for C.E.I.C ancillary band.”

The driver released his sudden burden; the
addict fell to the floor with a meager thunk, twitching,
gargling blood.

“Order retrieval request, ID eight,” the
driver said into the phone.

“Crypt double?”

“Q-J.”

“Crypt triple?”

“W-Y-N.”

“Roger, QJ/WYN. Listen and out.” A pause
lingered over the scrambled/ descrambled transmission. “Unto
whomsoever much is given, of him shall be much required.”

The driver, QJ/WYN, replaced the unit’s
receiver into its case and hung up the pay phone.

At his Gucci wing-tipped feet, the dying
drug addict still twitched, still gargled foamy blood.

The tracheal wound would more than likely
kill him, but more than likely wasn’t good enough. QJ/WYN removed a
Mont Blanc pen from his jacket pocket, pressed the clip, and out
shot a four-inch-long barbed titanium needle. He inserted it into
one side of the addict’s neck, dragged it back and forth a few
times until the carotid was sufficiently torn.

Within a minute, QJ/WYN was back in the
rental, back in the rainstorm, driving toward the city which lay
ahead.

 


 




CHAPTER TWO

 


Silence.

Blackness. Then—

The little boy’s name is Danny, and Danny is
walking up a long hill from a distance. Dull red and yellow lights
seem to be throbbing from the other side of the hill. Is that what
Danny is walking toward? The lights?

Yes.

The night-time has no sound at first, no
crickets, no peepers, none of the sounds he’s used to on summer
nights. As his pace up the hill breaks into a trot, his footfalls
make no sound. There’s a funny smell drifting around him, like
burning metal, like last summer when they’d had that big storm and
lightning had hit the neighbor’s TV dish.

Now, the red and yellow blobs of light
appear to be leaking smoke, or steam, and their patterns change,
almost as if the lights have somehow been able to sense Danny’s
approach.

Once he’s made it to the top of the hill, he
just stands there, staring.

Staring down at—

Danny doesn’t know what it is.

Trapezoid, he thinks. He knows the
word from math class, when the teacher was talking about geometry.
Basic shapes and angles. It’s stuff he’ll learn more about when
he’s older and gets into higher grades. Circles, squares,
triangles. Parallelograms.

Trapezoids.

The trapezoid is made of blinding white
light that seems to be sitting on top of the other red and yellow
lights. And now Danny can hear a sound: the sound of his own rapid,
terrified breathing.

All the colors churn over his face. He can
feel each separate color—the white, the yellow, and the red—as
though each is a hand rubbing over him.

Suddenly, then, something moves. It’s inside
the trapezoid.

A shape, a thin figure.

Looking back at him—

—and—

—everything turns black—

—and—

“No! No! No!”

—and then Danny woke up.

He jerked bolt upright in bed.

“No,” he whispered to himself.

His rapid breathing continued, the same
breathing he’d heard in the nightmare. His heart felt like a little
fist trying to beat its way out of his chest.

The nightmare again, he realized.
The nightmare…

Only now did his heart pace down; he glanced
around and saw with relief that he was not on the weird hill at
all, and there were no funny lights and no trapezoid. Instead he
lay in the safety of his own bedroom.

It took a few more moments for the shock to
run out of his eyes.

“The trapezoid,” he whispered to
himself.

He sat up in bed, catching his breath. His
pajamas were damp with sweat. He looked at the clock on his
nightstand, right beside his Hercules and Xena figures. The clock
read: 6:00 A.M.

He remembered the funny smell from the
dream, the smell like burning metal, which somehow seemed to linger
even though the dream was over. But then the smell was replaced by
something much more familiar—the aroma of bacon frying.

“Danny!” his mother called to him from
downstairs. “Time to get up! Breakfast is ready!”
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Garrett frowned in the bookstore window, and
the sign that read: “Meet Best-selling Author Arron Matthews, and
Buy His New Autographed Book, THE ALIEN ANTENNA NETWORK OF THE
GREAT PYRAMIDS!”

Blow me, Garrett thought. It
should be me on a damn book tour, not this idiot.

What Garrett hated most were the
theory-predators: the phony “autopsies” sanctioned by prime-time
tv, the bullshit tabloid and even Penthouse magazine
“extraterrestrial” photos, the Joe Scully UFO book that was
underwritten by the Air Force as disinformation, etc., etc. More
than half of Garrett’s battle wasn’t with the government cells that
strove to rape his constitutional rights and discredit him to
preposterous degrees, it was the simple assemblage of cash-grubbers
out there—like this nimrod Matthews—who would go to the most
creative lengths to profit from the work of Garrett and his
vilified coterie with everything from snapshots of “faeries” to toy
submarines masquerading as the monster of Loch Ness to British
bumpkins with nothing better to with their time than elaborately
manufacture “crop circle” landing sites.

And with just the right camera angle, an
altered gorilla suit made for a great Bigfoot.

The field Garrett had given up so much
potential for to put all of his belief into was truly a three-ring
circus of fakes, schmucks, scumbags, and greed-laden boneheads. It
only made Garrett’s true calling that much more difficult, because
for every scintilla of truth he legitimately exposed, there was an
avalanche of fraud he had to sift through first like straining
lumps of feces from a box of cat litter with his bare hands.

Even when he persevered to meet his most
honest objectives, he still wound up smelling like shit.

The tentacles of sham stretched far, yet
those same tentacles happily encircled Garrett’s neck on a daily
basis. He had no choice but to simply live with it—just as a
ditch-digger lived with calluses and a street prostitute lived with
subjugation—because it was part of Garrett’s turf, and nobody was
putting a gun to his head to walk on it. He walked it because he
chose to, because he chose to pursue the truth behind the Big Lie.
The shammers were just mosquitoes on a hot, humid day. Garrett
didn’t like them, but he swatted them off just the same.

Garrett’s mother had died when he was
ten—spinal meningitis. It took Garrett five years to get over
it…and then, when he was fifteen, his father had died—heart attack
tumor. Just like that, that fast. Good quality middle-class life in
Wheaton, Maryland, good schools, good upbringing, never wanted for
anything—then poof! It was all gone.

And it had all happened so fast, the young
Garrett didn’t know which end of the world was up. His father’s
only brother had taken him in for the high school years, and
Garrett’s constant honor-roll status had gotten him a scholarship.
Four more years of close to a 4.0 average had set Garrett up
right—or should have. He’d done everything right, in spite of
losing his parents. Since his parents had died, he’d always felt a
deepening hole in his heart, but then he looked around and saw the
schizos on the street picking cigarette butts out of gutter cracks,
all the people in motorized wheelchairs who drooled uncontrollably
and couldn’t even hold their heads up straight, and the typical
“bums” who sat in alleys like piles of human rot.

All Garret had to do was look at those poor,
destitute people to realize that his life, in spite of its traumas,
was too bad at all. Sure, his mother and died and his father had
died, but some force of fate or God or luck had kept him whole and
sane and walking. Garrett felt like the luckiest guy on earth when
he saw what life had bestowed upon certain others. Earthquakes
wiped out tens of thousands in a single minute. Genocidal wars
claimed millions in months. Weighed against all of those
brutal truths, Garrett knew that he’d been dealt some damn good
cards.

In college, he’d hung in there and
made it. Hard work, focus, studying when everyone else was
slamming beers at the Student Union (Garrett had only slammed them
on weekends). His major in computer engineering opened an influx of
doors. But then Garrett had done the least logical thing.

He’d enlisted.

He’d joined the Air Force.

He needed more experience. He needed more
life. For him, the standard pattern of high school, college,
and solid mainstream job didn’t make it. There’d always been
something missing. He didn’t know what but he just knew.

And that’s when he’d started hacking into
encrypted databases…

That’s what had put the match to the fuse of
his current plight, and made him what he was today…

It was just that some days were better than
others.

He left his sour grapes at the bookstore
window, and now, in jeans, and a crumpled black t-shirt that read
SYSTEMS BRANCH: USAF, paused on Connecticut Avenue to light a
cigarette, frowning at its stale taste. With the feds raising
tobacco taxes every other month, Garrett was forced to buy generics
made with tobacco from Indonesia. Twenty-five bucks a carton for
this crap, he sputtered to himself. Pretty soon I won’t even
able to afford to light a match. But at least he knew his taxes
were going to a good cause: J-STAR targeting satellites and the B-3
Bomber.

The downtown lunch-hour rush packed the
sidewalks and streets. Well-dressed men and women hustled through
the crowds for their power lunches. Car horns from slogged traffic
brayed like irate mechanical beasts. At the corner Garrett passed
an x-rated movie house and at the same time could see the Lincoln
Memorial in the distance. Skin flicks and politics all wrapped up
in the same charming city. He wondered if Abe was ever tempted to
get off his chair and check out the video selection.

After two more blocks, Garrett ducked into
his favorite watering hole, Benny’s Rebel Room. It used to be a
strip joint until the city counsel had revoked all their licenses
for a new business district. Stepping off the hot, humid street
into the tavern’s cool darkness felt like walking into a nicer
world.

“Harlan,” greeted Craig, the Rebel Room’s
co-owner and main barkeep. “Damn, I knew I should’ve locked the
door.”

“Good to see you too,” Garrett replied and
pulled up a stool.

Craig was proverbially polishing glasses
behind the long dark-wood bar top. “Isn’t it a little early to be
drinking even? Even for an AA reject like you?”

“I didn’t come here to drink, but since you
offered, gimme a beer.” Garrett stubbed out his cigarette, wincing.
“And how about a real cigarette? These generic things are killing
me.”

Craig slid him a beer and a cigarette.
“Anything else?”

“Yeah, the phone.”

“What, don’t you have a phone in that
gorilla cage you call an apartment?”

“Oh, there’s a phone there, all right,”
Garrett elaborated, “but it’s not much good when you don’t pay the
phone bill.”

“That’ll do it.” Craig sniffed. “You forget
to take a shower today?”

“Couldn’t pay the water bill either.”

“That’ll do it.” Craig slid Garrett the bar
phone. “Local calls only, my friend. You

tip like you pay your bills.”

Garrett dialed the number, waited, then
heard Jessica’s voice over the line:

“Hi, this is Jessica. I can’t come to the
phone right now, but please leave a message and I’ll return your
call. Unless this is Harlan, in which case I won’t return
your call even if you have suddenly become the last man on
earth.”

Garrett frowned through the beep. “Honey,
please pick up. I know you’re there. We’ll work this out, I
promise. I miss you, I— I…you know, I love you—”

He hung up and the line went dead.

Craig was shaking his head, aligning
half-yard beer funnels in wooden racks. “Don’t tell me. The redhead
give you the heave-ho again?”

“Yeah, but she loves me,” Garrett assured.
“Give her a few days and she’ll be back on my doorstep, you
wait.”

“I’ll wait but I won’t hold my breath. You
ever think maybe she wants a guy with, you know, motivation,
responsibility, a solid career and direction in his life?”

Garrett looked up after his next sip of beer
which left a foamy mustache. “What am I, Santa Claus?” Then he
glanced despondently at the phone. “Look, Craig, how about break?
Just one long distance call to New York. I gotta really good job
cooking. No lie.”

“All right,” Craig groaned.

Garrett anxiously punched in the number that
he’d scrawled onto the back of a parking ticket, waited for the
line to connect.

“They Are Among Us Magazine,” a male voice
answered. “John Peters, Editor-in-Chief.”

Garrett perked up at once. I got him!
Finally I got him! “Mr. Peters, I’m sorry to disturb you, but
you may not remember me, we spoke at the Roswell Convention last
July?”

“Who is this?” the editor asked.

“Mr. Peters, I won the 1997 MUFON Award for
Best Investigative Series, and, sir, have I got a story for you.
Three interviews, with names and pictures, of former Army
Science and Research Command employees. I’ve got the full
scoop, the whole tamale, nailed. These three guys have agreed
to go public with their knowledge of black-funding research at Fort
Meade and NSA. They were all hired as channelers for remote-viewing
missions against Russian intelligence vaults in the
mid-Eighties.”

“Wow, that sounds very interesting,” the
editor remarked. “But…who is this?”

“Sir, these guys actually psychically
penetrated a Russian defense mainframe and the records safe at the
Moscow Academy of Sciences, not to mention—”

“Great, great, but who are you?”

“—not to mention ECM codes on a Soviet
Whiskey-Class sub, plus they’ve got actual hardcopy documents of
their Army protocol orders, and—”

The editor interrupted a final time. “This
wouldn’t be Harlan Garrett, would it?”

Garrett’s shoulders slumped. “Uh, yes, uh,
sir, it is I won the 1997 and I have three commendations from the
Northwest Geological Survey for assistance during their search
for—”

“Let me ask you something, Mr. Garrett,” the
editor posed. “Does the word ‘blackballed’ mean anything to you? Or
how about the phrase ‘your name is mud’? I wouldn’t touch an
article of yours with a ten-foot pole. You’re a walking libel
action. Any publication you write for winds up getting sued.”

“Hold on now, Mr. Peters,” Garrett
stammered. “I don’t think you realize the impact of my most recent
research. I’ve got it lock, stock, and barrel, sir: the tracking
photos, the names and the actual codes, the docu—”

click

Garrett hung up and let out a long sigh.
“Who needs your rag anyway?” he tried to justify. “They make up
more of their features than the damned Weekly World
News.”

Craig was screwing on a Scheidmantel Silber
Bock tap-head onto one of the keg levers. “Hey, Harlan, you want
some friendly advice?”

“No,” Garrett said.

“Get yourself squared away.”

“You sound just like Jessica… Too bad you
don’t look like Jessica.”

“You’re a smart guy, you’ve got marketable
skills. But…writing about all this ESP and UFO bunk? Come on.”

“It’s not bunk,” Garrett
objected.

“Oh, sorry. I meant poop. It’s stuff
in tabloids, Harlan. It’s fiction for gullible people who’ve got
nothing better to do with the lives that God gave them than worry
about government conspiracies and abominable goddamn snowmen. All
this poop you write about is nothing but a bunch of
modernized folklore.”

Garrett glared. “These guys I interviewed
last week used to be psychic technicians—”

Craig grinned. “Psychic technicians. That’s
rich.”

“—for the Army. By using telethesic
perceptions, they can read files locked up in vaults 10,000 miles
away.”

“Telethesic perceptions. Every time you walk
in here, you’ve got a new one. And you really believe that? You
don’t, do you? Please tell me you don’t honestly believe that
psychic technicians can see through vaults ten thousand
miles away by using their telethesic perceptions. Tell me,
Harlan.”

“Of course I believe it. When General
Dossier was kidnapped by the Red Brigade, these techs were the same
guys who used their minds to get the address of the house he
was being held hostage at. I know it’s true. I saw the D-O-D
documents verifying it.”

Craig began to chuckle outright. “Yeah? And
today in the Globe I saw a photo of the Four Horsemen of the
Apocalypse…in Arizona. Harlan, you’re losing it. You’re getting too
caught up in this stuff. Jesus, last month you were telling me that
‘government operatives’ were tapping your phones.”

“They were, and camphoring my mail too, and
tailing me. They put a direction-finder on my car, for Christ’s
sake!”

Craig just kept chuckling, just kept shaking
his head. “You know, Harlan, it’s really easy to see why the
redhead dumped you and your wife divorced your butt. I mean, no
offense, but…you’re crazier than a shit-house rat.”

Garrett winced over his beer. “No offense
taken, Craig, good buddy old pal. Oh, and fuck you very much. No
offense.”
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The maid’s name was Lynn but she wasn’t
really a maid. She looked like one, though, in the short black
gathered skirt with white trim, the serving apron, and the puffed
laced-cuffed sleeves. She was dressed exactly like the real maids
at this four-star hotel, and she’d even taken an occupational
familiarization class back at the Center. Well, at least I know
I’ll be able to get a job here if Clinton cuts the C.I.R. budget
again. She opened the door to Room 3112 and called out:

“Housekeeping! Anyone here?”

Several moments passed, and her inquiry was
not answered.

Thank God. She closed the door, then
touched the tiny wireless earphone.

Myers’ gruff voice instantly responded.
“Thermograph’s clear. You’re the only one in the room—”

“Jack the nanos to 365 and start a lateral
cross-matrix sweep,” Lynn whispered. “The clock’s ticking.”

“Relax. The apex should find this baby in
about two seconds.”

Officially, Myers was brass, a SCD—Senior
Case Director—but when he got bored, which was most of the time,
he’d go on field assignments and run tech duties. Right now he was
communicating to Lynn from a loaded surveillance van parked thirty
stories down across the street. Parlance referred to these vans as
“Junk Boxes,” and the junk they contained were devices such as
cadmium thermographic processors, acoustic noise generators,
tri-point ultra-low-frequency radar, UV, IR, and passive zero-light
scopes, and about $10,000,000 worth of assorted other covert and
privacy-violating government trinkets.

At this moment, Lynn was walking around the
room in a manner that would appear normal in the event that hotel
security had a video in the room; she was dusting, in fact. Pinned
to her white-lace collar, however, was a 22mm digital wide-angle
lens which piped half-second digitizations back to Myers in the
van.

“Got it, Lynn,” Myers confirmed into her
earphone. “Check the night stand. Under that…thingie there.”

Thingie, she thought. He meant the
doily. Lynn approached the nightstand, leaned over, and flipped up
the doily. That’s about the worst hiding job I’ve ever seen.
Beneath the doily lay a silver-dollar-sized optical computer disk
in a plastic sheath. Lynn slipped it into her maid’s apron and
quickly replaced it with an identical disk, all the while still
pretending to dust. I’m out of here, she thought. Thank
you, Mr. Scammell.

She began to wheel her cart toward the door,
but stopped, alarmed. The doorknob began to rattle; an instant
later the door swung wide. Standing there facing her now was their
target: one J.M. Scammell, a bald fat pock-marked scumbag in a
Brooks Brothers suit. Scammell was a simple private-sector courier
but these days couriers were paid very well considering the
potential worth of their deliveries.

“Oh, hello, sir,” Lynn managed without a
start. “I was just finishing up cleaning your room.”

“Well, thank you very much,” Scammell
said.

“I’ll just be on my way now.”

Scammell nodded and proceeded into the room
just as Lynn would push her cart out and leave. God, that was
close, she thought. “I hope you enjoy your stay, sir,” she
added.

“Stop!” Scammell said.

Lynn froze in the doorway, behind the
cleaning cart. He must’ve made me! Did I forget to fold the
doily back over? As she slowly turned back around, her hand
crept for her apron pocket, for her 4mm flechette pistol.

“What kind of a maid are you?” Scammell
griped. “Did you even look in the bathroom? How about some
fresh towels? How about cleaning the mirror? And—

come on! You didn’t even empty the
wastebaskets!”

“Sorry, sir,” Lynn peeped back, relieved.
“I’ll get right on it.”

Scammell stood tapping his foot for the next
twenty minutes, his arms crossed as he sternly watched Lynn clean
the room. Lynn felt humiliated…but at least she hadn’t been “made.”
Over her earphone, she could hear Myers laughing: “Looks like
Scammell’s pillows could use a fluffing too. Yeah, and Lynn? How
about giving the toilet a quick scrub, huh? We want our customers
to come back, don’t we?”

That’s real funny, Myers, she
thought, bending over to grab some fresh towels.
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Lynn, now wearing an overcoat, approached
the WASHINGTON GAS & ELECTRIC truck on the other side of P
Street. She entered through the back door into the hardware bay
where Myers sat in his padded chair before ranks of display
terminals and surveillance apparatus. He was pink in the face from
laughing.

“Real funny,” Lynn said.

“See all the great things you get to do in
this job?” Myers said. He looked more like an over-the-hill high
school principal than a decorated technistics chief. Mid-50s, cheap
suit and tie, gray hair and a perennially bad haircut. “You get to
plant bugs, blackmail double-agents, put spies away for
life…and wipe toothpaste specks off mirrors!” Myers, then,
broke into more laughter.

Lynn frowned. “Laugh it up, Myers, but I’ll
bet I made more money than you did today.”

“How’s that?”

Lynn whipped out two fifty-dollar bills. “I
did such a good job cleaning the room, Scammell tipped me.” She
waved the bills in front of Myers.

“That’s an unauthorized gratuity,” Myers
reminded. “You have to turn it in to the finance-control
office.”

Lynn gave one of the fifties to Myers.

“Like I just said,” Myers commented.
“Fuck the finance-control office.”

“I thought that’s what you said.” Next, Lynn
gave him the tiny optical disk she’d swiped from Scammell’s hotel
room.

“Good work. You make the switch all
right?”

“Yeah, no problem.”

“Can’t wait for our friend Saddam to
recalibrate his anti-aircraft radar now. Those old
frequencies on the snowflake will guide our AMRAMs right to
target.”

“We’re getting a lot of mileage out of
Scammell.” Lynn grinned. “The moron thinks he’s selling his country
out, but doesn’t have a clue that every page of classified defense
data he’s giving the Iraqis is fake. I’ll bet we can use Scammell
several more

times before they get wise. Men are just so
stupid.”

“I hear that,” Myers said. “Come on, let’s
go get lunch.” He smiled at the newly acquired $50 bill. “With this
kind of money—hell—we might even be able to afford sushi.”

Lynn rolled her eyes. “In this
town.”

“Yeah, I guess you’re right. Denny’s, here
we come. Oh, say, I’ve been meaning to ask you. How’s your crackpot
ex-husband?”

Lynn rolled her eyes again. “Harlan? I don’t
know and could care even less.”

 


 




CHAPTER THREE

 


APRIL 19, 1962

 


Swenson was young for his rank: a brigadier
general now at age thirty-three. In a decade, he’d have three more
stars but he could hardly have known that at this moment, dressed
in fatigues and riding in an open jeep through the ridged Nevada
desert. The sun beat down on him like a crushing, physical weight.
The jeep’s suspension yanked him back and forth against his canvas
seat belt as if trying to throw him out onto the sand.

Another one, he thought.

Swenson’s job seemed ironic; with all the
crucial matters going on in the world, Swenson’s discreet
assignments were the most crucial of all, yet no one would ever
know. There was talk of a nuclear test-ban treaty, and there was
Vietnam. The current president in Saigon was using U.S. funds to
fight the Buddhists instead of the Vietcong, and rumors were rife
that Kennedy wanted a new administration there, even if it meant
assassinating the old. And as for Cuba, a full year after the Bay
of Pigs failure, Swenson had already seen the NSC briefings between
the state department and the CIA; Kennedy had six more
assassination plots on Castro in the works, plus another full-scale
invasion plan. Cuba was going to get hot fast; Swenson wouldn’t be
surprised if the Soviets started installing missiles there
soon.

Racial unrest was exploding all over the
country—this man named King—and pro-communist militias were
springing up everywhere. Heroin was flowing into every major city,
and a risky tampering with the oil-depletion allowance could
potentially shatter the economy.

Yet with all these dire examples, Swenson
could only think these two words that felt like a dark throb in his
head:

Another one��

“—by NORAD and the VLRA in New Mexico, sir,”
his driver was saying, Lieutenant Hanover, was saying beside him.
The young officer steered the jeep like a quick skiff, swerving
around obstacles of rock and cattle skulls. “The 1022nd SPs have
already secured the site but…it’s a big site, sir.”

“They always are,” Swenson said more to
himself.

“What’s that, sir?”

“Nothing.” Swenson eyed the desert. “Thank
God it cracked up here and not downtown Las Vegas or Reno.”
Mother of God, he thought. Can you imagine?

The jeep buffeted over more sandy hillocks.
Cacti stood out all around them, like sentinels. Soon, though, the
sentinels would be just as green but heavily armed. From beneath
the seat, he pulled out a roll of black duct tape. He peeled off a
piece and placed it over the embroidered name-tag over his left
breast pocket, then handed another piece to Hancock.

“Cover that nametag, son. The SOPs don’t
change just because we’re on government land.”

“Yes, sir.”

A short time later, the jeep ground to a
halt. Swenson slowly got out, looking ahead at the edge of the
bluff. Security police milled about several commo trucks.

“I need—”

“The retrieval units are already being
choppered in from Edwards, sir,” Hancock said.

“Good. Use the star-net band and radio 1st
Air Transport. I want them right behind the retrieval teams.”

“Yes sir.”

Hancock briskly departed for the commo
truck, leaving Swenson to stand alone looking out at the edge of
the bluff.

He didn’t sweat in the great blaze of sun;
instead it seemed to dry him out like a twig, like something
drained of all moisture. Yes, Swenson was young for his rank, but
right now he felt ancient, enfeebled.

Another one, came the repeating
thought.

“Would you like to take a look,
General?”

The voice caught him off guard. A security
sergeant had approached, was offering a pair of binoculars. The
sergeant didn’t salute because he was armed. Slung to his shoulder
was one of the new Stoner assault rifles which everyone was saying
would win the Vietnam war.

“Thank you, Sergeant.” He took the
binoculars. “Carry on.”

“Yes, sir.”

Swenson walked to the edge of the bluffed,
brought the binoculars to his eyes, and looked down…

God in heaven, he thought.
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“God in heaven,” he croaked, just as he had
thirty-eight years ago on that sun-swept desert bluff. General
Swenson was seventy-one years old now, and dying. The disease had
confined him to the convalescent bed surrounded by flanks of
beeping cardiac monitors and medicine cabinets. The was an armed
guard in the house round the clock, as well as an orderly from
Walter Reed. He hated to think how many tax dollars were being
spent simply to have his inevitable death properly overseen.

It was the e-lex print-out that had caused
the sudden memory jag, taking Swenson’s mind back to that horridly
hot day thirty-eight years ago. He been right about much that day:
John F. Kennedy had sanctioned the overthrow and assassination of
the president of South Vietnam only to be assassinated himself
three weeks later. Heroin continued to flow into the country along
with newer, worse evils, and the Soviets had tried to arm Cuba with
nuclear missiles which had brought the world to within twenty-four
hours of World War III.

The heart monitors continued to beep behind
him, and so did the drip-monitor on the overhead I.V. bag.
Swenson’s eyes—an old man’s eyes now—glanced back at the tulle-thin
sheet of printer paper that the guard had brought in to him only
moments ago.

The sheet seemed too thin, too insubstantial
to carry so grievous a message, a message, nevertheless, that only
he and a few others in the world could fully understand.

The e-lex read:

 


052899 - 0613 HRS

DE: FBI HQ CNTRL PROSS

TO: RELEVANT AD OR DEPUTY SECTION
CHIEF/STATUS: FYI

 


SUBJECT: W/M 34 YO, URSLIG, JACK, H.
(DECEASED)

 


READ: VSP VIOLENT CRIMES UNIT REPORTS THAT
SUBJECT WAS FOUND

MURDERED IN HIS RESTON, VA, HOME THREE
NIGHTS AGO AT 11:39 PM.

 


COD: SMALL CALIBER GUNSHOT WOUND TO THE
HEAD. SUBJECT’S HOME SECURITY SYSTEM SEEMS TO HAVE BEEN EXPERTLY
BYPASSED.

 


PASS

READ: SUBJECT URSLIG, JACK, H. IS FORMER FBI
SA

END/PAGE ONE OF ONE PAGE

 


He let the paper slipped from his fingers to
the bed sheets. He blinked, and then his old eyes were staring back
again—

—back to that day in April almost four
decades ago—
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—another one, Brigadier General
Swenson thought, roving the binoculars over the crash site. The
interminable heat beat down on his back, but by now he was numb; he
didn’t even feel it. He was looking down off the bluff…

The contact perimeter stretched for hundreds
of yards, filled with a varying a varying degree of black crash
debris. At first he thought—he hoped—this might be a false
alarm. It might be one of the YF-12 prototypes that Northrop was
developing; they were rumored to be skinned with black titanium
sheet. But when he rolled down the zoom ring for a closer angle, he
saw that the debris appeared almost chunk-like, nothing akin to any
aircraft skin he could imagine. Most of the pieces appeared to be
no larger than baseballs.

Nothing like New Mexico, he thought.
Nothing like Brazil…

Dozens of recovery vehicles surrounded the
site, while at least a hundred Air Force security men were sifting
out and removing the debris with rakes. There must have been
thousands of pieces.

No, this is different. Different from the
others. A different…race…

The debris lay strewn in a vast fan shape,
the widest end being the farthest off. The initial impact point. So
at least there was one universal invariant. The debris-line
narrowed as it approached the foot of the bluff on which Swenson
now stood.

That’s where it stopped, not fifty yards off
below.

That’s where the only intact part of the
craft had stopped.

Must’ve been huge, he realized.
Long.

In front of the plume of debris, pushed
against a wave of sand, sat what could only be the forward-most
compartment of the vehicle. Swenson couldn’t be sure from this
distance, but it appeared to be cylindrical—can-shaped—and black;
he guessed approximately ten feet high, twenty-five or thirty feet
long.

No evidence of anything that could be
likened to rivet-work, screws, or welding. No sign of any
seams.

Then—

Wait, he thought. Swenson rolled the
zoom down all the way, bringing the jagged can-shaped object to
maximum closeness.

A pattern seemed to exist on the side of
this alien fuselage. Not a marking…but something functional.

A shape.

A trapezoid.

Like a dark window, Swenson
thought.
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Disgruntled, as he always was, Garrett
walked down Connecticut Avenue, away from Benny’s Rebel Room Tavern
and his overly sarcastic friend Craig.

“No one believes me,” he spoke aloud to
himself. Not a good sign of stability. “Everyone thinks I’m some
kind of conspiracy crackpot. No girlfriend, no running water and no
phone. And no respect.”

For no apparent reason, he stopped in front
of a comic shop and found himself peering into the broad window.
Faces stared back at him: Galactus the Devourer, Superman, Doctor
Doom. Grub Girl and Buffy the Vampire Slayer. The Caped Crusader.
They all seemed to glance back at him in hilarity. But it wasn’t
the tableau of colorful comic faces that Garrett stared so intently
at.

It was his own reflection.

“Everyone I know thinks I’m a flake,” he
watched his reflection’s lips tell him. He stared a full minute
more.

“Maybe… Maybe they’re right.”

But before this moment of self-condemnation
could continue, a loud squeal burned behind him: tires screeching.
Garrett, startled, jumped at the sudden screech; he could even
smell smoking tire rubber as he was turning around to look,
expecting to witness a serious fender bender. But no collision
followed.

Garrett had time only to see a white van
stopped at the curb, the side-panel of which read JINKO’S PRINTING,
WE DELIVER! Then something clicked in Garrett’s mind…

Jinko’s… Isn’t that a—

No time remained to even finish the thought.
The van’s back doors popped open, and two suited men already on the
street grabbed Garrett, covered his mouth, and strong-armed him
into the back of the van.

 


 




CHAPTER FOUR

 


Garrett may have even lost consciousness for
a moment, thunking his head against metal when the suit-and-tie
goons threw him into the van. One of the men was
young—late-twenties—and huge—six-eight, three hundred pounds—and
Garrett didn’t see much fat. It was this man who sat on a padded
side bench and was pressing his shoe against Garrett’s chest,
pinning him to the floor.

Wow, Garrett baldly thought when his
vision cleared. He’s…big…

A second man in an equally cheap suit was
chubby, much older, and not nearly as big. Hair streaked with gray
was brushed back; the guy was going bald fast. His face looked find
of puffed and pinched, like a hamster with full cheek pouches.

It was this man who pointed a 9mm Beretta
calmly into Garrett’s face.

“Man, you guys from MasterCard don’t fool
around,” Garrett said. “Okay, we’ve got Grandpa and Herman. Who’s
driving? Lillian or would it be Eddie?”

“Shut up and listen, said the big man.

Then the man with the gun. “Are you going to
be good, Mr. Garrett?”

“You’re pointing a gun in my face,” Garrett
replied the obvious. “No, I’m going to be bad. Duh.”

“For all intents and purposes,” said the guy
with the gun, “I’m Mr. Smith, and the man who could easier fracture
your entire rib cage with his foot is Mr. Jones. Listen, and don’t
say a word.”

“Uh—” Garrett said.

That was it. Mr. “Jones’” titan-sized leg
flexed, and suddenly his foot was squeezing all the air out of
Garrett’s lungs. He could feel his rib bowing, expected to hear
them crack in another second.

Smith nodded to Jones, and the foot came
off. Garrett, pink-faced, let out a hoarse gasp, and then—

“Owwww!”

—he was grabbed by the hair, jerked up, and
plopped down on the bench seat.

“That’s just to let you know what we’re
capable of,” Smith bid. “So you’re going to sit there and say
nothing.”

Garrett wheezed, his head between his knees,
until he got his breath back. It was less bad judgment and simply
more reflex which caused Garrett to look at the behemoth Jones and
say, “Nice shoes. Bruno Magli, right? Size 12?”

Smith sputtered, then directed his
associate, “Put him back on the floor. Break some ribs this
time.”

The giant meat-hook hands were instantly
forcing Garrett back down, as Garrett wailed, “No, please! Jesus
Christ! Can’t you Air Force guys take a joke!”

Instantly, the hands let go, and Smith and
Jones were exchanging the oddest of looks.

“What, uh, makes you think we’re in the Air
Force, Mr. Garrett?” Smith asked.

Garrett laughed out loud. “Come on, the Air
Force has been using that hokey Jinko’s Printing cover for more
than three years. It’s common knowledge now, boys. Christ,
novelists are starting to put that stuff in spy novels. You need to
change those logos, like, at least every six months. And while
you’re at it, tell the FBI to lose those ridiculous H.R. Tires
signs on their Hostage Rescue Team vans. The skinheads and nazi
militias have that one printed in their damn training manuals.
Everybody under the sun knows that one.”

Smith stalled, narrow-eyed. “I’m impressed,
Mr. Garrett. You know a lot about a lot of things.”

“Great. And lose the Beretta 92s. You want
to keep your kidnap victims guessing, don’t you? Any sap with a
sliver of brain sees a 92F-model and he knows right off the bat
he’s dealing with the Military. Pack a Glock or a Sig—then
people’ll think you’re Interpol or GSG-9. Pack a .25 and they’ll
think you’re Russian GRU or the Israelis…”

“Hey, boss,” Jones said, “how’s this punk
know this kind of—”

“Shut up, Carson!” Smith shot back, and then
was instantly biting his lip.

Garrett beamed. “Hey, great! Carson, huh?
You guys are something, you know that? Real pros. You haven’t had
me in this damn Big Brother meat-box for five minutes and I already
know who you work for and one of your names.”

Smith was shaking his head, wincing.

“So what’s this all about?” Garrett went on.
“Why the shake, and why me? And what the hell are Air
Force ops doing making a daylight grab in D.C.? Usually it’s
the Field Intel Branch from the Washington Navy Yard that pulls
these capers in the district, isn’t it?”

“Hey, boss,” Carson cut in again, “how’s
this punk—”

“Would you SHUT UP!” Smith yelled back at
his man. “You’re verifying everything he says!”

“Sorry, Captain Morran—er, I mean—SHIT!”

Garrett was laughing in spite of himself.
“Man, you guys are priceless. If you’re the best shake team the Air
Force has got, then God help us. Step on your dicks any harder and
you’ll fall over.”

Smith was rubbing his temples.

“What’s the scoop, fellas?” Garrett went on.
“If I gotta miss the Teletubbies today, I damn sure have the right
to know why.”

“We’re just taking you for a little ride,”
Captain Morran aka Mr. Smith said. “That’s all.”

Garrett didn’t like the sound of that; it
was almost a cliché. “Great. I’ve always wanted to meet Jimmy
Hoffa. So how long’s it take to get to Yankee Stadium? I mean, that
is where you guys buried Hoffa, right? Under the west
bleachers, fourth tier?”

Now, even Morran spared a smile. “You’re a
real hoot, Mr. Garrett.”
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Two more days, Ellie Romesch thought.
Bring it on!

In two more days, school let out, and that
meant that Ellie Romesch—”Miss Romesch,” to her third-grade
students (though most of them pronounced it “Romp-sh”)—would be
blowing this cement pop stand called J. Exner Campbell Elementary
School and not coming back until the last day of August. Three
months of fun in the sun, at least that’s what she hoped. Sandy
Point Beach was only a thirty-five minute drive, plus she had a
week’s time-share at Ocean City second week of July. I’m going
to work on my tan, work on my body, and work on finding a man who
will actually call me back after the first time we go to bed.
Ellie had the tan and the body covered—year-round membership at the
tanning salon and some meaningful numbers to the tune of 38-24-36.
No, it was that third component of the formula that she’d never
quite gotten a grasp on. She was twenty-eight years old; she wasn’t
getting any younger, as her mother liked to remind her every
time they talked on the phone, and most of her friends from
Shepard College were all married and either had kids or were
halfway there with stomachs sticking out till next Tuesday. Ellie
wasn’t sure how she felt about the kid-thing (she taught six
roomfuls of the little buggers five days a week, nine months a
year—but…

It’d be nice to have a husband, she
sullenly thought. Until then, though: I’ve got two more days
with these crumb-snatchers, so do your job!

Her last creative assignment to her
fourth-period class was for the pupils to paint their most
interesting dream. With kids this young, of course, she needn’t
expect much, but on the other hand these pre-adolescent years could
spell a lot of a child’s future interests. This was just basic
brush-work with tempera paint on 30-grade paper. No Picassos yet
but Ellie could see that a few of her floor-monkeys were exhibiting
a genuine aesthetic interest—the unbidden urge to create.
She truly felt that this was a wonderful thing…and she supposed
that it also might mean she was a good teacher. Art, after all, was
release. Children needed to be taught to do that, to release
themselves (except in their pants, which happened on occasion,
too).

One day they would all find their inner
drives and their passions. Ellie saw herself as someone helping
them along. She was one of the directors of this intricate play
called Childhood.

She never had much trouble, nothing like the
schools in the city. Most of these kids here were from the Army
base, well-mannered, well-disciplined, not a lot of riff-raff. If
anything, a fair share of them seemed a little too
well-mannered—products, perhaps, of any overbearing home
environment.

Like Danny Vander, for example.

A good kid, bright, but lately it seemed
that something was stifling him. He brooded a lot; he seemed tired
as if he wasn’t getting enough sleep. Ellie could only guess that
Danny’s father—a high-ranking officer—ran the household like a boot
camp. An environment like that could drain a kid’s vitality
fast.

As her class painted quietly, Ellie walked
down the aisles between their desks. She stopped at Danny Vander’s
and looked down over his shoulder.

For a change, he seemed focused as he
painted his picture; he didn’t even notice that Ellie was standing
behind him.

Wow, she thought when she examined
his picture. “That’s very imaginative, Danny.”

The choppy tempera painting depicted the
outline of a houseframe; in the houseframe there was a little boy
in bed, but beside the bed stood several stick-figures. There was
something scary about the way he’d painted the figures: black
shapes with a white-slit where one would expect eyes. Outside the
houseframe he’d drawn a long black cylindrical object in the sky,
with a trapezoidal-shaped window toward the front of the
cylinder.

Spacemen, she guessed, or monsters from some
video game. “What are you going to call it?” she asked.

Danny looked up from his desk, his face is
sullen, tired. “It’s called The Stickmen.”

“That must’ve been some dream.”

“It’s a nightmare, Miss Romesch. I have it
all the time.” He sighed frustratedly. “My dad makes me go see this
special doctor. He thinks there’s something wrong with me.”

Poor kid, Ellie thought. Sounds to
me like the problem isn’t with you, it’s with your father.
She’d seen it too many times: these spit-and-polish West Point
officers forced their kids to be duplicates of themselves, had them
marching around the house like little soldiers. It was no way to
raise a kid. “Well, that’s very good work,” she said in
after-thought.

“Thank you, Miss Romesch.”

“Maybe you’d like to be an artist when you
grow up.”

Danny shrugged. “I don’t know. I think I
want to be in the Army, like my dad. I want him to be proud of
me.”

Ellie ground her teeth at the comment. “I’m
sure he’s very proud of you already, Danny. Just because
he’s in the Army doesn’t mean you have to be. You can be whatever
you want.”

Chuckie Murrett, the boy sitting right
behind, nudged Danny’s shoulder. “Hey, Danny, show Miss Romp-sh the
other one you painted. The other one’s even cooler.”

“Oh, you’ve done another painting?” Ellie
asked.

Danny nodded sullenly. “Yes, Miss
Romesch…”

“Well let’s see it. Is it from another
dream.”

“Another nightmare, Miss Romesch.”

Danny lifted up his blotter and from
beneath, he removed a second tempera painting.

“Isn’t that cool, Miss Romp-sh?” Chuckie
Murrett enthused.

This one left nothing to be interpreted.
Oranges, reds, and yellows curved up into a blossoming billow.
Danny had painted the mushroom cloud of a nuclear explosion.

“They don’t understand, Miss Romesch,” Danny
said.

But Ellie was still off-guard from the
impact of the second painting. Someone was polluting this kid’s
head in a big way. The father, she decided. It must
be. Where else could a child this age get such brutal images.
“I’m sorry, Danny. What did you say?”

“They don’t understand.”

“Who, Danny?”

“My mom and dad,” the little boy went on.
“And Dr. Harolds.”

Now the kid was really sounding weird. “What
is it they don’t understand, Danny?”

Danny glumly pointed to the painting: the
nuclear mushroom cloud. “This is going to happen,” he said.

Ellie’s face drew up in total lack of
comprehension. “What?”

“But nobody believes me, Miss Romesch. The
Stickmen aren’t really from a nightmare.” Then the little boy
gulped. “The Stickmen are real…”
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As the strange ride drew on, Garrett
fidgeted in the back of the windowless van. Obviously his kidnapers
didn’t want him to know where they were taking him—further
indication that they didn’t intend to kill him—so Garrett
discretely tried to keep time. So far, they’d been on the road for
forty minutes. Within that he considered rush-hour and the fact
that the van never seemed to accelerate to a highway speed. His gut
and his equilibrium told him they were heading north-east of the
city. If he was lucky he might later be able to come up with a
rough map radius.

“Come on, fellas. This whole thing smells
worse than Waco. If you wanted to do an e-action on me, you’d just
put prussic acid on my doorknob or aflatoxin on my postage
stamps.”

“We’re just delivery men, Mr. Garrett,”
Morran replied, his gun put away. “We don’t do things like
that.”

“Yeah, and I’m Aldrich Ames. Everybody knows
it was Air Force field ops who went undercover in Panama and
poisoned the flight-controllers and radar men at the main the night
of the invasion. You turned someone in the chow hall and put
shellfish toxin in the chile con carne, so these guys were all
either throwing up or dying when Seal Team Six came in.”

Morran was rubbing his temples again,
shaking his head.

“And let’s not forget Colonel Loa in Phan
Thiet,” Garrett added. “That was—what? 71, 72? The guy was
funneling Military Assistant Group money out of Vietnam to his
villa in the south of France. You ask me, you should have
assassinated all those corrupt sons of bitches.”

Wearied now, Morran said, “Believe me, Mr.
Garrett, our little trip today is nothing so dramatic. You wouldn’t
have come if asked, so that’s why we—”

“Abducted me,” Garrett finished. “Without my
consent and with malice and clear threats of deadly force, not to
mention torture, snatched me off the street and violated my
Constitutional right to be protected from false arrest.”

“Maybe he needs more floor time,” Carson
said.

“Yeah, and maybe you need a lobotomy,
Lurch,” Garrett replied.

“Yeah, and maybe you need—”

“Shut up!” Morran insisted. “Both of you.
You want to know where you’re going, Mr. Garrett? Let’s just say
that one of your…admirers wants to have a little talk.”

Just then the van slowed, seemed to pull up
a slight incline, and stopped. Driveway, Garrett immediately
thought. They’re taking me to a house? Morran popped the
back doors, and when he shoved Garrett out, that’s exactly what he
was looking at: a nice two story house in a quiet
upper-middle-class neighborhood. Garrett looked around as he was
escorted away from the van.

“No bag over my head?” Garrett asked. “I
thought you guys didn’t want me to know where we’re at.”

“You don’t know, Mr. Garrett,” Morran
said. “All you know is we’re about to take you into an ordinary
house.”

Garrett stopped, closed his eyes and touched
his chin. “I’m psychic, didn’t you know that? Uhhhhh, let me guess.
Bethesda, Maryland.”

Morran grabbed Garrett’s shoulder hard and
shook him. “How the hell did you know that?”

Garrett spun around and pointed. “Because it
says so on that For Sale sign right across the street, you
no-black-op non-tailing surveillance-bungling moron!”

In front of the house directly across from
them stood a sign that read: FOR SALE: LONG, FOSTER & SONS -
BETHESDA’S #1 REALTOR!

“Just get in the house, smart guy,” Carson
said with a stiff shove.

Garrett stumbled forward, and looked around
some more. Several powder-blue U.S. Government cars were parked at
the curb, and inside the home’s front bay window, he could see
several uniformed Air Force SPs glancing out.

Carson knocked with his huge fist, then
opened the door.

“Be careful with that leg-press machine,”
Garrett chided. “You might hurt yourself.”

“Inside.”

Garrett was shoved into an opulent foyer, a
nice chandelier hanging overhead. Then a white-haired butler
speechlessly pointed to a door on the right. Just then Morran
pulled Garret aside and whispered: “The Yankee Stadium flap was
dis-foe leaked to the press. It was a joint job by CIA and contract
killers with the Utica Mafia. Hoffa’s body was cremated in a slag
furnace at Sparrow’s Point.”

“Can I interview you on that?” Garrett
asked. “I’ll make ya famous.”

Morran betrayed the slightest of smiles.
“It’s been a pleasure, Mr. Garrett.” Then he opened the side door.
“Someone want to talk to you.”

Garrett stepped into large, makeshift
intensive-care unit; the door clicked shut behind him. At once he
was breathing antiseptic scents and listening to monitors beep. And
he didn’t have any idea what to think about the completely bald,
withered old man lying in the railed convalescent bed that
comprised the center of the room. His eyes were sunken pits; an
oxygen line ran into his nose.

Who the hell is he?

The old man, in spite of his ailments,
smiled, and that’s when the shocking recognition flashed.

Garrett glared. “If it isn’t the ever
amiable General Norton T. Swenson. And that chuckhead outside said
it was an admirer.”

“I am an admirer, Harlan—” Swenson’s voice
sounded ten or twenty years younger than his emaciated
appearance—”I always have been, you just never realized that. In
fact, I’ve been perusing your work.”

A crabbed hand bid a high table by the bed;
a pile of magazine lay atop it. Cover-up! The Psi-Com Journal,
The MUFON Informer, Apocalypse Countdown, The Vince Foster
Newsletter, all of which Garrett had written articles for. He
curiously eyed Swenson.

“I don’t know what this is all about but…
You’ve…looked better.”

“There’s an old saying in the Air Force,”
Swenson cheerily replied. “‘The Gravy Train always comes to an
end.’”

“But, what—”

“‘A large-cell metastasis of the right lung
with keratinizing adenocarcinoma,’ to quote my doctor. Good old
fashioned lung cancer.”

Garrett felt a grim shiver. Sure, he hated
Swenson, but now, seeing him on what clearly must be his dead-bed,
made him feel lousy. “I wouldn’t even wish that on a two-faced,
back-stabbing government cover-up trilateral commission creep like
you.”

Swenson waved a nonchalant hand. “There is
no trilateral commission, Harlan, but I guess you’re right about
the rest.”

“So you’ve been reading my stuff, huh?
Why?”

“You’re actually not a half-bad writer,
Harlan. You pose convincing arguments. Too much zeal, though, in
your style. It kicks your credibility right out the window.”

“Like you kicked my career out the
window?”

The old man’s eyes leveled. “I especially
enjoyed the article you wrote about me several years ago. In
the…what was it?”

Garrett began to simmer. “Constitution
Times. Funny how you could’ve read an article that never got
printed. The publisher’s entire warehouse burned down the day
before the issue was going to ship. Somehow I always knew you were
behind that one.”

“The things we must do sometimes,” Swenson
related, “to protect the public trust.”

Garrett released a vile laugh. “Gimme a
break! You’ve been pissing on the public trust since the day you
joined up.”

“That’s a matter of interpretation,
Harlan.”

Before Garrett could launch more objections,
a uniformed SP stuck his head in the room. He paused sternly,
looking around to see that everything’s all right. Then he ducked
back out and shut the door.

“You under house arrest—I hope? Why all the
SPs?”

“Someone broke into my house last night,”
Swenson said, “a real pro black bag job. Cross-wired my burglar
alarm. Fortunately I have an armed security guard in the house at
all times, compliments of the good old AFSS. He chased the intruder
off. But this was no typical burglar, Harlan. It was a man come to
kill me.”

“I’d never believe that a swell guy like you
has enemies.”

“This…burglar was looking for something,
Harlan. It’s my good fortune that it wasn’t here. It’s never been
here.”

Garrett wasn’t impressed. “I don’t give a
crap that someone broke in here. It looks like school’s gonna be
out for you real soon, so now’s the chance to clear your
conscience, I mean, if you have one. Why did you kick me out of the
Air Force? Why did you ruin my life?”

Swenson gave an amused snort through his air
tube. “I’ve hardly ruined your life, Harlan, and as for dismissing
you from the Air Force Data Processing Command, you know why
I did that.”

“Yeah, I tapped into a batch of files that
verified the defense department was secretly testing a genetically
manufactured flavivirus in Gambia. Hundreds of villagers died.”

Swenson drew on a pained pause, his old eyes
peering at Garrett. “Forget about that, Harlan. I’m not responsible
for every indiscretion ever perpetrated by the cells within our
government.”

“Indiscretion?” Garrett replied,
aghast. “That’s what you call it? Murdering hundreds of
people to test a weapon?”

“Sometimes evil must be battled with more of
the same,” Swenson contended. “Because of those tests we now have a
cure for a series of viral strains that the Chinese have been
processing for a decade. What’s more important, Harlan? The
security of the U.S. population or a few hundred villagers living
in the stone age?”

Garrett seethed. “I ought to pull all those
fuckin’ tubes right out of you, you old bastard.”

“Feel free to, but…please wait until after
I’ve said what I brought you to hear. It’s something I’m sure
you’ll be quite interested in.” Now Swenson coughed, his face
clenching in pain. “I know what you’ve been up to, Harlan. There’s
always been someone like you down the line. I trust the date April
18th, 1962, has some meaning to you?”

“Sure,” Garrett thought after only a
second’s thought. “The Nellis Crash in Nevada. NORAD tracked a UFO
skimming across the continent. People thought it was
extraterrestrial until the radar scans and NASA telemetric surveys
revealed it to be a bolidic meteor fragment.”

“Do you believe it?”

What a question. “I think so. A
couple of years ago I saw the Moon Dust documents on it, and I saw
the NASA charts. Is there any reason why I shouldn’t believe
it?”

“Yes, Harlan. Because I was the one
who manufactured the charts. The NASA telemetric charts and the
NORAD radar scans were phony.”

Mouth suddenly agape, Garrett stared back at
the old man.

“Harlan? Did you hear me?”

“I must be hallucinating. Are you
admitting that the military has perpetrated disinformation
in order to discredit UFO reports?”

“Yes.”

Garrett walked inanely around the room,
talking with his hands. “Let me get this straight. You’re telling
me that you generated phony documents to indicate
that the Nellis impact was a meteor fragment?”

“Yes,” Swenson repeated.

“Which means what you’re really
telling me is that it wasn’t a meteor fragment. It was
really a—”

“A vehicle of extraterrestrial manufacture,”
Swenson clarified. “Yes. I’m admitting that. I ought to know,
Harlan. I was at the crash site. There was this high bluff
overlooking the impact perimeter.” Swenson’s eyes seemed to
momentarily drift back. “It was…spectacular.”

Though Garrett’s heart began to quicken, his
expression dimmed. Holy ever- living shit. This guy’s verifying
that—

“Let’s use MJ-12 as an example, shall we?”
Swenson went on. “The mythical contingency team that was so
seriously debunked by phony documentation that even the most
zealous UFO crackpots don’t believe it existed. I was the
one who did the debunking. I provided the
documents that were eventually found to be fraudulent by experts
such as yourself. If you want to know the whole of it, I ran
disinformation for the Air Force, for more than a three dozen
sightings and crashes.”

Garrett could only continue to gape.

“I would use men like you, Harlan—men who
knew the truth and were desperately trying to prove it—by
providing the very documents which you and your ilk would
thoroughly investigate and eventually prove to be false. It’s
always worked very well.”

Finally, Garrett found his mouth again.
“Fine. I know all about disinformation. But why am I here?”

Swenson looked as though the answer were
obvious. “Because you’re the most credible UFO researcher in the
country, probably the world.”

Garrett nearly hacked up his lunch. The
compliment—from Swenson, of all people—hit him in the face like a
two-by-four. “Thanks…I think.”

“Why do you think I didn’t put you in prison
in 92?”

Garrett paused to contemplate. “So you could
continue to use me to generate your own disinformation?”

“Exactly. But now, because of your
knowledge, and your…expertise, well—that’s why I’ve brought
you here, today. You see, Harlan, and this may sound absurd but…I
need your help.”

Garrett guttered a humorless laugh.
You need my help? Right. Like Kennedy needs another
trip to Dallas.”

Swenson leaned over with some difficulty,
picked up a tiny envelope—like a stamp envelope—off the high table,
and held it protectively in his liver-spotted hand. “Four things,
Harlan. And no questions. Deal?”

“I’d be smarter making a deal with Lucifer,
but—” Garrett squinted, chewed his lip. “Why not?”

“Run the name Jack H. Urslig.”

“Why?”

Swenson held up a warning finger. “No
questions. Also, dig up whatever you can on a man named Sanders; if
you have trouble, run the designation QJ/WYN.”

“Sounds like a CIA crypt.”

“No, Sanders isn’t with the Company. He’s
the man who broke into my house last night. It’ll take some
hacking, but check the old Army CIC files. Let’s just say that the
Air Force and the CIA are not the only government branches who are
hell-bent on the suppression of truth from the populace. Just
remember, though, that CIC files all officially stop in 1979—”

“Yeah, I know,” Garrett said. “Jimmy Carter
insisted the Corp be abolished, so the Army discreetly reassigned
them under cover into the Defense Investigations Service.”

“Correct. You’re a knowledgeable man,
Harlan.”

“Of course I am,” Garrett came back.
“But listen to what you’re asking me to do. CIC files, Army
Counter-Intelligence Corp? And DIS? Come on. Even I can’t
break the passwords on databanks in that league. The best hackers
in the world can’t even get near that stuff.”

Swenson looked back with pursed lips; then
his brow rose. “Don’t let something as trivial as a
password…hamper you, Harlan. Do you receive my meaning?”

“Uh, well—”

“And let me also remind you of a little
Greek Mythology.”

“Wha—”

“They say that if you fly too close to the
sun, the heat will melt the wax that holds the feathers in your
wings.”

Now another mental two-by-four hit Garrett
right in the head. His eyes shot open and his mouth drooped. Am
I having serious auditory hallucinations, or did Swenson just do
what I think he did?

“Thirdly,” the dying general continued,
“about a week ago, someone infiltrated the Edgewood Arsenal. You’ve
heard of it?”

The confusion—and the shock—still swirled in
Garrett’s mind. After a moment, he answered: “Yeah, it’s near the
Aberdeen Proving Grounds in Maryland. Never got any press at all
until the sexual harassment thing. They store old bombs and
ordnance that’s out of date. Also a lot of binary biological
weapons that are scheduled to be destroyed as part of the latest
CBN treaty with Russia.”

“Yes, but there are also some other
things stored there, and someone broke in there last week and
stole…one of those things.” Swenson’s gaze locked into Garrett’s.
“An ADM, Harlan.”

“I take it you’re not referring to the
Arthur Daniel Midland Corporation.”

“Atomic Demolition Munition. It’s a
low-yield, defensive nuclear device, and its theft is what set
everything else about the Nellis crash into motion. Check it out.
There’s a lot about Edgewood you don’t know; there’s plenty that
even I don’t know. I’ve never been there myself, but I can
tell you, somewhere on that 20,000-acre military reservation,
there’s also an old AIC facility.”

“Well, there’s an acronym I do know,”
Garrett acknowledged. “A.I.C. Air Force Aerial Intelligence
Command—your command.”

“A long time ago—yes. As an MJ-12 member, I
ran the AIC from 1959 to 1980.”

Garrett was still having a hard time
managing all this shock and information. “All right, I follow you
so far. But you said four. Four things you were going
to tell me.”

Swenson, his hands shaking, finally passed
the minuscule wax-paper envelope to Garrett.

“I take it this isn’t the 1851 George
Washington X stamp?”

“Inside that envelope, Harlan, is a key to a
storage garage in Annapolis. U-STORE, it’s called. It’s registered
under a counterfeit name that will withstand all federal scrutiny.
In other words, if you tell anyone that I gave you this key,
you won’t be believed.”

Garrett cocked his shoulder. “No problem
there. I have a knack for people not believing me.”

“In that garage you will find a list of some
names you’re not familiar with. Pay very close attention to those
names. Do you understand?”

“Yeah, sure. Pay attention to the
names…”

Suddenly, Swenson was smiling very coyly.
“There are a few other things in that garage that you’ll find
interesting too. And if you successfully complete this task, you
can do whatever you want with those things.”

Garrett decided to set a dare. “What if I
don’t complete this task of yours? What if I run off with
this list of names and these things?”

“Then I’ll have you executed,” Swenson
calmly replied.

Garrett believe him. I guess that says it
all, he thought. But then the most obvious fact occurred to
him. “Listen, I’ve had my tail stepped on about this stuff so many
times it’s not funny. I’ve been bugged, robbed, DF’d, tailed, beat
up—a couple times I’ve almost been killed. In other words, it’s
been made pretty clear to me to lay off the subject.”

“But you won’t lay off, Harlan. You’ll never
lay off. It’s not possible for you to do that, not in a
million years, and you know it. Big Brother could cut your legs
off, and you’d still be coming after him in a wheelchair.”

He’s probably right, Garrett
considered. “Okay, I agreed to no questions. But let me ask you one
thing.”

“All right.

“Why? Why are you giving this to me?”

Swenson rubbed his chin in the thought.
“Repent ye, and ye will be saved’? I don’t really know, Harlan, but
I doubt that it’s anything so dogmatic. Doesn’t matter anyway,
really. I’ll be dead in a matter of weeks or even days. Were I more
of a man, had I more resolve and more conscience—if I were more
like you, Harlan—I might’ve done this years ago. I can’t do
anything now, though. I can’t even get out of bed.”

Swenson broke into a coughing fit, his frail
chest heaving. At this precise moment, with all he’d been told,
Garrett didn’t know which way was up, and even though he’d always
thought of Swenson as his worst enemy in the past, it pained him
now to see the bald old man in such distress. Garrett gulped,
holding the tiny envelope.

“You want me to call one of the SP’s?”

Swenson shook his head through the rest of
his coughing fit. “No, no, it comes and goes. I’m all right…but—”
His words fell off, and he…sniffed. “Harlan, I don’t mean any
offense by this but have you showered anytime recently?”

That’s just great. “My water got cut
off because I couldn’t pay the bill,” he recited, embarrassed. “I
was on my way to Nero’s Roman bath-house Y when your two Keystone
Cops hauled me off the street.”

Swenson’s brow narrowed. “You can’t pay your
water bill?”

“Or my phone bill, if you must know. But
that’s fine because if my phone’s not working then the NSA can’t
tap my calls anymore.”

“You’re broke, in other words?”

The frown seemed to stretch Garrett’s face.
“I’d call it a mere matter of temporary financial insolvency.”

“You’re broke; we can’t have that.” Swenson
pressed a buzzer by the bed. Instantly an SP popped into the room,
pistol in hand.

“Everything all right, General?”

“Yes,” Swenson said. “Get twenty thousand
dollars out of the safe and give it to Mr. Garrett.”

“Yes, sir.”

The SP vanished.

Garrett almost relieved himself in his
jeans. “Gee, thanks…Dad.”

Swenson’s face was getting pink again,
another coughing fit coming up. “This is no joke, Harlan. For what
it’s worth, I always liked you. I’ve always thought of you as
something of a wayward son.”

“Let’s not get carried away,” Garrett
said.

“I’m sorry things couldn’t have been
different.”

Garret felt oddly choked up.

“Go now, Harlan. Time is of the essence. And
good luck.”

“Thanks… I think.” Garrett, still mystified,
was about to turn and leave, not even knowing what he was leaving
to—

“And, Harlan?” Swenson stifled a cough.

Garrett turned back to him.

“Be very careful.”

 


 




CHAPTER FIVE

 


The basement was Danny’s favorite place now,
though he wasn’t sure why. It was dark and cool and quiet.
Something about the cement-and-cinder-block walls helped him feel
at ease.

He guessed that maybe the Stickmen couldn’t
talk through the cement-and-cinder-block walls. He didn’t like it
when the Stickmen talked to him. It always made his head hurt like
after the time he got hit with softball during gym class.

Down here they never talked to him.

Danny was doing another picture now, not
with paint like in Miss Romesch’s art class but just with colored
pencils. He was sitting up at his dad’s work table and had the
lights turned on. This was his favorite place to draw.

Danny liked to draw—it was his favorite
thing to do—and maybe Miss Romesch was right; maybe he should be an
artist when he grew up. One time even his mother had said that,
“With your drawing talents, Danny, you could work for an
advertizing firm when you grow up, or one of those computer
graphics companies, and you could make a lot of money.” But before
Danny could even think to say anything in response, his father had
grumbled from the couch: “Honey, Danny’s not going to be any
candyass artist, for God’s sake. That’s not a man’s
job. He’s going to be a soldier. He’s going to go to West
Point, and he’s going to go to jump school and Ranger school, and
he’s going to be a hardcore Army combat officer. Right, Danny?” and
then his dad had leaned over an patted him on the back. “Only
sissies are artists. You want to be a soldier, right?”

“Yes, Dad,” Danny replied because he knew
that if he said anything else, then his dad might start yelling
like he did a lot when he was drinking beer, and his mother would
start crying, and it would all be Danny’s fault. One time his
father had told him that once he got into high school he could try
out for the football team, but Danny had never been too good at
sports and he said he didn’t want to. Boy, was that a
mistake! Pretty soon mom and dad were shouting at each other.
“Jesus Christ, Joyce!” dad had yelled, “you’re turning the kid into
a little pansy the way you coddle him. All he does is sit around
and draw pictures when he should be out playing little league and
toughing himself up for life,” and then his mother had shouted
back, “You can’t force your son into being what he doesn’t
want to be!” “Yeah, well I’ll be goddamned if I’m going to let you
raise him to be a queer!” They’d argued some more until dad slapped
mom hard across the face. Danny hated seeing that; it must’ve been
his fault too.

He guessed it was just better to do what his
dad told him to do.

Today he’d drawn the Stickmen’s ship again,
only closer this time: the big light bar on the bottom and the
trapezoidal windows on the side. He couldn’t remember what the
inside looked like, but he knew he’d been there at least once. The
next picture was the first Stickman he’d seen, the one that had
come into his room, and the next was him getting into the ship the
night they’d shown him where it was.

I wonder what I should draw next… I
know!

Danny began to draw the gloves…
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Garrett’s car was not what many would call a
primo set of wheels: a ‘76 Chevy Malibu whose shiny candy-apple-red
lacquer had long since gone over to something like the finish and
color of house-bricks. The A/C didn’t work, the radio didn’t work,
and the windows didn’t roll down, but Garrett figured as long as
the wheels turned, then it beat taking the bus.

Before he’d set out, he’d paid his phone
bill, his water bill, his back rent plus a month in advance. He
paid his tab at Benny’s Rebel Room, and Craig had almost fainted.
Then he went home and took a shower. So far, so good…until he’d
called Jessica.

She’d changed her number.

Just playing hard to get, he thought.
She loves me.

But as for Swenson and his “assignment,
Garrett still didn’t know what to make of…ANY of it, and since it
was his nature to be suspicious—in fact, it was his job—there was
no one he knew in the world who warranted more suspicion that
General Norton Swenson. The twenty grand was a life-saver, and
Swenson’s hubbub about actually liking Garrett and even thinking of
him as a surrogate son seemed strangely sincere. But Garrett
acknowledged one possibility with no hesitation whatsoever.

This whole thing could be another
set-up. Swenson had admitted that he’d been a disinformation
officer for the A.I.C.

Maybe this is just more disinformation, and
like a sucker, I’m falling for it. I’m doing THEIR work for
them…

Whatever the case, he’d find out soon
enough.

The sun was going down by the time he’d made
it to Annapolis. Route 50 cut a great swath toward the Chesapeake
Bay, and just a few miles before the bridge, Garrett found his
destination. Talk about out of the way, he thought. He’d
almost missed the looming U-STORE sign, which was not illuminated.
The Malibu’s tie-rods shimmied as Garrett motored up a winding
service road until he eventually idled into a long deserted parking
lot. The lot was plunged in darkness, and there was no sign of a
security guard.

“Great place for a murder,” he muttered. He
turned on the dome light and slipped out the key Swenson had given
him. A standard brass disk-tumbler; the engraving read: #A-104.

Garrett got out, flicked his cigarette, then
stalked ahead with his flashlight in hand. Before him stretched
multiple rows of long connected storage units; each unit was fitted
with a garage-type door. Garrett stumbled amongst the rows for a
good twenty minutes before he found it. He had to work the key back
and forth several times before it grittily turned. Then, “Oooof!”
he exclaimed once he grabbed the handle and pulled. The door didn’t
budge. Damn it, Spock, I’m a writer, not a fuckin’ fork-lift.
Either this door’s heavier than William Howard Taft or it hasn’t
been opened in years. Several more back-bending tugs got some
play, then the rust-choked track-wheels began to grind in their
rails. Finally the door clattered open.

Garrett scanned the interior with his
flashlight.

The storage unit was empty save for a single
small black suitcase.

“Somehow, I don’t think it’s Jack the
Ripper’s medical bag…”

The damn place didn’t even have an overhead
light; Garrett’s puny flashlight would have to do. He knelt at the
case, noticed that it was scuffed, crackled, and very old.

When he flipped open the top, he pointed the
flashlight in, and—

 


««—»»

 


The sign on his desk was an impressive one;
the engraved brass plate read: “The Honorable Willard G. Farrell,
U.S. Court of Appeals.”

The job, though, wasn’t nearly as impressive
as the sign.

It was ten o’clock at night, and Judge
Farrell was still in his chambers. Taking the world of the
judiciary by storm? Balancing the scales of justice? Making the
country a better, fairer place for the citizens protected by the
Constitution?

Hardly.

Interlocutory reviews and assessments, one
right after another. The Federal Trade Commission, the National
Labor Relations Board, the Securities and Exchange Commission, plus
discretionary territorial-court-reviews for more trademark and
copyright appeals than he could shake his gavel at.

GodDAMN, this is dull, the judge
thought behind the wide, cluttered desk. Dull, yes, but the
pressure was on; it always was. If Judge Farrell made even the most
minute oversight, the case could be taken to the Supreme Court, and
those were twelve curmudgeons he definitely didn’t want
quoting him in a reversal that might go down in history.

Behind him, in the window, Washington, D.C.,
glittered below a smear of stars. Farrell hoped the sun wasn’t
rising when he finally finished up.

He was wearily rubbing his eyes when his
door opened.

“Another long day, huh, sir?” a beefy U.S.
Marshal named Willy asked. The Marshals provided security for the
building; Willy was the captain of the night watch…

“You got that right, Willy. Sometimes I
think the federal offenders do this

to me on purpose because they know I don’t
get overtime.”

Willy made a modest chuckle. He looked
around the dark office. “You’re the only one here tonight,
sir?”

“Yep. Just me and my lonesome, the judge
regretted. “My secretary and research assistants are long gone,
because they do get overtime. The GOP’s gonna cut the
federal budget, all right, and it looks like they’re starting with
my staff.”

“But look at the bright side, Your Honor.
They’ll have more to pump into the Graffiti-Artists Rehabilitation
Program.”

Farrell laughed, because there actually
was such a federal spending program.

“You look pretty tired, sir. You want me to
send one of my men across the street for coffee?”

“No, thanks, Willy. I’ve got a pot
cooking.”

“Okay. I’ll tell the lobby guard you’re
still here.”

“Thanks. With any luck I’ll be out of here
in a few more hours.”

“Goodnight, Your Honor.”

Willy left, leaving Farrell to make more
notations behind the opened legal tomes on his desk. At least the
U.S. Marshals in the building let him feel safe, not that there was
any danger in this blasé office. If he were a federal
prosecutor on RICCO case, that would be different. But there were
no Gottis or Giancanas in this building.

Judge Farrell didn’t see the shadow slide
like a pool of ink from out of the book cove. And he didn’t hear
the tiny pop! of the CZ83’s chamber-silenced .380 round.

The Honorable Willard G. Farrell was dead
before the modest bullet had time to exit his skull. The judge
slumped forward, his face landing on a sheet of review criteria
outlining the functions of the Sherman Antitrust Act.

The clandestine field operative, sometimes
known as QJ/WYN, sometimes known as John Sanders and an array of
other aliases, emerged from the shadowed book cove.

He cast a passing glance toward the window,
noticed the U.S. Capitol dressed in spotlights. Next, he removed a
small black notepad from his jacket pocket. He flipped it open to
reveal a simple list of names.

The first name on the list was URSLIG, J.,
and it had a red X through it.

QY/WYN drew another red X through the next
name: Farrell, W.

SWENSON, N. came next, and after that: UBEL,
K.

The last name on the list was GARRETT,
H.

 


 




CHAPTER SIX

 


“Don’t be nervous,” Myers said, running a
finger under his tight collar.

“Aren’t you nervous?”

“Yes.”

Lynn wore a nice dandelion-yellow business
dress, and Myers, his best charcoal-gray suit. They both stood
uneasily in the spotless, well-appointed office.

The crested plaque on the white wall behind
them read: THE OFFICE OF THE VICE PRESIDENT OF THE UNITED
STATES.

A grumpy, matronish secretary with bunned
hair and an immense bosom sat at the reception desk. She seemed
disapproving at she pretended to proofread some stenography.

She knows spooks when she sees them,
Lynn considered.

She and Myers were here for a quick
congratulatory meeting with the vice-president, pretty much just an
official pat on the back for an operation several months ago in
which they’d burned a Red Chinese double-agent at Sandia National
Laboratories, and left him no choice but to come over to them.

“Best thing about field commendations is you
never have to worry about where to

hang them,” Lynn remarked.

“Yeah,” Myers agreed. “Can you imagine how
pissed off Willie Mays would be if he was ordered not to reveal his
entry into the Hall of Fame?”

“Duty and service, that’s all we care about,
right? And the great pay.”

Myers chuckled. Awards and commendations
such at this were, of course, classified, and only existed as
indexes in some computer file or book in a safe. It seemed as silly
as the CIA’s memorial to operatives who’d died in the line of duty;
a wall in the lobby of Langley Headquarters displayed fifty-one
brass plaques that were blank.

The frumpy secretary shot up a pinched
glared when Lynn’s cell phone rang. Damn it! Who’s calling me
here, for God’s sake! Lynn quickly retrieved the phone from her
purse.

She began to whisper, “Cred 667-401—”

“Hi, honey, it’s me—”

It was Garrett.

Lynn winced, stepped back deeper into the
office. “Damn it, Harlan!” came the fierce whisper. “How did you
get my field number? It’s classified!”

Garrett’s tone over the line reeked with
calm arrogance. “I hacked it out of a discreted directory from
Arlington Hall’s intra-server net. Also got your new home number,
your new fax, and your new email. Took me all of—oh, say, two
minutes. You got a new car too, huh? And a new hopper-frequency
chip for your laptop? Screencode L-26-12?”

Instant rage made Lynn’s face feel crushed
by a vise. “You know I can never, ever take personal calls on this
line! Never, ever—”

“This is important, Lynn, I mean really
im—”

God! This is embarrassing! In front of my
boss even! “Right now I’m standing in the Old Executive Office
Building, and I’m about to meet the Vice President for God’s sake!
Call me later! On my unlisted home line that you’ve
obviously already illegally ascertained!”

Seething, Lynn turned the phone off, put it
back into her purse.

“Your crackpot ex-husband?” Myers took a
good guess.

“Unfortunately, yes.”

“So how’s our favorite paranoid, oddball
tabloid writer doing these days? Has he found Bigfoot yet?”

“Don’t know, don’t care.”

“Hell, last time I saw him, he looked
like Bigfoot. The long hair and the shaggy beard.”

“He shaved the beard. So now he just looks
like a—”

“—a paranoid, oddball tabloid writer.”

The dour secretary’s bosom seemed to heave
when she huffed at them, “The Vice President will see you now.”
Then her weasely eyes indicated the double doors across the
room.

“I thought Aunt Bee died a while back,”
Myers said in the lightest whisper.

The double doors opened as they approached,
a Secret Service agent on each knob. Lynn and Myers prepare to
enter, adjusting their collars, checking for last-second lint.
Butterflies bloomed in Lynn’s stomach; she could see the VP reading
something at his broad cherrywood desk. Here goes, she
thought.

Just as she would enter the office, her cell
phone went off again.

No, no, NO! She snapped it right up
to her ear. The secretary was scowling at her.

“I’m onto something really hot here, Lynn,”
Garrett said, “and I need your help. I want you to come to my
apartment tonight.”

“Harlan!” she said through her teeth, to
keep from screaming at him, “I just told you, I’m about to
meet—”

“Yeah, yeah, the Vice President, big deal.
He’s washed up anyway. He’ll never beat the fund-raising rap and
the tobacco-lobby contradictions. If he thinks he’s gonna be the
next president, my name’s Colin Powell.”

“Harlan!”

“But like I was saying, honey, I really need
you to—”

“There’s no way in hell I’m coming to
your—”

Garrett sighed over the line. “Promise
you’ll come or I’ll keep calling back. You and I both know you’re
not authorized to turn off your field phone.”

Homicidal images sun in her head. “I could
have you arrested for this!”

“Promise, or I’ll ring that phone every five
minutes… Pretty please?”

Lynn grit her teeth, sputtering to herself.
Myers looked at her with a raised brow, and now the Vice-President
was peering at her as if to say Is there a problem?

“All right!”

Lynn quickly put the phone back in her
purse. “I kill that kill that son of a bitch,” she breathed to
Myers.

“I’ll help you.”

She propped up a phony smile, primped her
hair, then hurriedly followed Myers into the Vice-President’s
office.

 


««—»»

 


What glowed on Garrett’s computer screen
would be gobbledegook to most but was all in a day’s illegal work
to Garrett. The prompt on the brightly lit screen read:

 


 


 


Below that: FILE COMMAND ACCESS REQUEST:

U.S.A\A.S.A.\C.I.C.\1947-1979 AND
U.S.A.\D.I.S.\1980-PRESENT

de…milnet.spec.dod.gov.

 


And below that:

 


m__ALLOCATE: ACCESS REQUEST DENIED. CAUTION:
YOU HAVE MADE AN ILLEGAL SEARCH REQUEST. INTENT TO INFILTRATE
CLASSIFIED FILES IS PUNISHABLE BY A $250,000 FINE AND A MAXIMUM OF
50 YEARS IMPRISONMENT VIA THE UNITED STATES CODE, SECTION 25, PARA.
17-36.

 


Next, a bright yellow a cursor blinked:
“Enter Prefix Password:”

 


Garrett recited aloud the words that Swenson
had spoken, “‘Don’t let something as trivial as a
password…hamper you, Harlan.’” Six clicks on the keyboard
did it. When Garret typed the word “hamper” a second menu flashed,
that read:

“Enter Ancillary Password:”

Sweat beading his forehead, he recited
further: “’They say that if you fly too close to the sun, the heat
will melt the wax that holds the feathers in your wings.’”

Six more clicks on the keyboards, as Garrett
typed ICARUS which appeared as “******”

The screen went blank for a moment, the
computer’s guts suddenly percolating. If this whole thing is a
set-up, Garrett thought, then I’ll find out soon. He
could see it all now: an insular counter-command virus had just
been filtered back into his computer. The computer would shut down,
all files destroyed, in a minute, and a few minutes after that, the
door would be kicked down by a Bureau rapid-response team.

The word “working” continued to flash on the
screen. Garrett stared uneasily, then actually covered his face
with his hands and watched between his fingers. If Swenson was
lying…

The computer beeped, then a bright
blue-and-white screen opened up. It read:

 


TOP SECRET/SPECIAL INTELLIGENCE

 


File allocation command for following
security designations:



TS

SI

SAR

TEKNA

BYMAN

ULTIMA

DINAR

 


U.S. ARMY SECURITY AGENCY

GOODFELLOW AFB/FT. GOODFELLOW, SAN ANGELO,
TEXAS

 


ENTER REQUESTED DOCUMENT INDEX AT PROMPT:
__

 


Garrett’s hands fell away from his face in
sheer bewilderment. “Un-fucking-believable,” he uttered. “Holy
ever-loving Jesus Christ in a hot-dog stand. Swenson’s for real.
This is the real friggin’ thing!”

His heart pounded, and it felt like
jubilation rather than blood which now ran through his veins.
“Let’s see… Where to start? Uh—uh…”

Just as he commenced to typing in a what was
known as a ‘roving-loop” search index…someone began knocking on the
door.

Garrett’s nerves locked up at the terminal.
Then, relieved, he thought, No, no. A rapid-response team
wouldn’t knock.

“Thank God,” he said when he answered the
door to find a very-irritated Lynn standing there.

“I ought to kill you, Harlan,” she greeted,
her face dead-pan. “I ought to shoot your rag-tag ass right here
and now.”

“You can do that later,” Garrett said,
yanking her inside, then paranoically closing and locking all of
the apartment door’s seven deadbolt locks. “Calm down. When I told
you this was important, I wasn’t joking around. You won’t believe
what I’ve got going here.”

“No, Harlan, I probably won’t—unless it’s
something illegal, in which case I probably will.”

“Well, it’s illegal, but never mind that.”
Nearly giddy, he rushed her into his work room, but then a wisp of
her perfume sidetracked him. “Wow, you smell good.”

“And you smell like cigarettes. As
usual.”

More sidetracking then, when he finally
paused to look at her. This was the first time he’d seen her in
months. The sweeping blond hair and curvaceous figure, the long,
long legs. She seemed toned, vibrant in good health and beauty.

“Wow, you look good too. You been
working out?”

“Yeah, Harlan, I’ve been working out, and
right now I could probably kick your skinny ass with one hand tied
behind my back, and you know what? That sounds like a damn good
idea.”

For a moment, Garrett’s focus snapped, and
he forgot about the dynamite keg of information he was sitting on.
He was looking at Lynn and could scarcely believe he’d once been
married to her, could scarcely believe that this beautiful woman
had once lived with him and loved.

Boy, did I screw up…

Her rage flared back at him. “Harlan, I
didn’t come all the way over to this hellhole of an apartment just
to be eyeballed by you. You said you had something important to
show me, and now I’m here. This better be good, Harlan. This
better not be more of your usual cockamamie conspiracy crackpot UFO
bullshit.”

“Uh…”

“No, Harlan. Please. Not the UFO stuff
again.”

“Well, uh…” Garrett shrugged. “You tell me.”
He pointed to the beat-up black suitcase lying on his unmade bed.
“Check out my new luggage. It ain’t Samsonite, I can tell you
that.”

He sat back down behind his computers as
Lynn peered at the case. “Harlan, if there’s a chalice in that
suitcase that you claim is the Holy Grail, I really will
kill you.”

“It’s not the Holy Grail, and it’s not a
piece of the Stinger A3 missile that shot down the Commerce
Secretary’s flight to Bosnia. It’s something better.”

Garrett got back to his inputting while
Lynn, smirking, sat down on the bed and opened the scuffed
suitcase. First, a sharp, vaguely unpleasant scent drifted up which
she guess must be rotten leather. From within the case she removed
a large cardboard box with no lettering, and then a fat folder of
papers. Documents, photographs, she thought when she flipped
open the folder.

She flipped through a short stack of 8x10
glossy photographs. He’s at it again, he’s let somebody make a
fool out of him…again. The photographs, in grainy color, seemed
to depict a “crash-site” at various distances and angles. The final
few showed a black cylindrical object—flat at one end and jaggedly
broken at the other—in a bank of desert sand. An Air Force enlisted
man stood next to it, presumably for scale. Late-50’s,
early-60’s, she guessed, judging the style of the airman’s
field fatigues. On the object’s side was a trapezoidal inlay that
appeared to be a window.

Lynn actually paused, as if considering the
potential credibility of the photographs, but then she dismissively
shook her head. And she shook her head again when she leafed
through a number of Air Force and D-O-D documents that followed the
photos.

“Harlan, this is easily explained,” she
finally responded. “The photographs are mockups, and these
documents are forgeries. Sure, they all look good, but the truth
is, these days, any practiced computer nerd with a good desktop
publishing program and a good color ODE printer could make these
documents.”

Garrett popped a brow at her from his work
desk. “You think so. Come on, Lynn. Look closely. Look at the
paper. The ciphers are on that old tractor-feed stuff. And the
documents? The paper’s an old, out-of-service semi-fabric bond.
They don’t even make stuff like that anymore; they haven’t for
decades. And look at the watermark. That’s genuine Air Force
Security Service paper.”

Lynn held one of the documents up to the
light. The watermark lurked in the paper like a crisp ghost.

“You can’t forge that watermark,
Lynn. The mark pattern alone is classified TS/SI with a FARGO-plus
suffix. Come on, Lynn.”

Lynn put the document down. “Maybe,” she
conceded.

“And the photographs? I’m an expert
on phony photographs. Believe me, I’ve seen ’em all—but I don’t
think these are mockups.”

Lynn gave the photos second, closer glance,
then the documents. Her lips pursed. She glanced over at
Garrett.

“I think you better tell me what’s going
on,” she said.

 


««—»»

 


She wants me to tell her? Garrett
thought. I’ll tell her, all right…

He indicated particular documents and
particular photographs as he explained.

First a rare photo of the
inclusionary-perimeter sign which read “Nellis Military
Reservation: Unauthorized Personnel and Trespassers Will Be
Detained Or Killed.” Then some variable-range radar charts, and
another charts that read: “NASA Telemetric Survey,
198N-2012W/18-4-62/1345ZULU.”

Next, a black-and-white photo of a large
flatbed truck driving out into the desert, followed by jeeps and
vans.

“You want the scoop?” Garrett asked her as
Lynn scrutinized each photo and document in turn. “Here’s the
scoop.”

He passed her another doc, which read:

 


TOP SECRET

SPECIAL ACCESS REQUIRED/EYES ONLY

TEKNA/BYMAN/UMBRA/SI

 


DEPARTMENT OF THE AIR FORCE

WASHINGTON DC 20330-100

 


OFFICE OF THE SECRETARY20 April 1962

 


SAF/AAIQ

 


1610 Air Force Pentagon

 


TO: THE COMMANDER AND CHIEF

 


SUBJECT: CLASSIFIED REQUEST PER MEMORANDUM
(GAO Code 701034); AFR 12-50 (CLASSIFIED) Volume II, Disposition of
Air Force Records and Material

 


(a) Identify pertinent directive concerning
crashes of air vehicles not of terrestrial origin, investigations,
wreckage/debris/dead bodies - retention, recovery, and
evaluation.

 


Dear Mr. President:

 


Per your request relative to the above
memorandum, i.e., the incident concerning the Low Frequency Radar
Array (LFRA) detection on 18 April 1962 and disposition thereof.
The most notable debris and, of particular sensitivity, all
anatomical and post-autopsied remains, have been properly
redepositioned amongst selected sites within protected districts of
the Army, Air Force, Navy, and Federal Reservations, via recent
amendments to AFR-200-1, and so ordered by the MJ-12
Directorate.

 


Attachment (TO): -U.S. Air Force Joint
Recovery Command

-NSA (Classified Control Office)



Signed,

Norton T. Swenson, Brigadier General O-6

Commander, Air Force Aerial Intelligence
Group

Fort Belvior, Virginia, MJ-12/Detachment
4



“Jesus,” Lynn muttered. “This looks
awfully—”

“Yeah, I know, and it is… Real.” Garrett
looked at her, then began:

“April 18th, 1962. Nellis Air Force Base,
Nevada. For two days NORAD, the VLA Radar Laboratory, and multiple
other radar posts tracked an object moving in erratic straight
lines across North America. Every AFB in the country was put on
Defcon Three alert. From Oneida, New York, to Eureka, Utah, over a
hundred witnesses reported very similar observations. An elongated,
low-flying object with a bright light glowing at its base.
Sometimes the object hovered, and other times it moved very
swiftly. Then, according to witnesses, it disappeared over Ohio.
Minutes later, it stopped again in Eureka, Utah. NORAD calculated
the object’s forward velocity at 18,000 miles per hour.”

He showed her several of the grainy photos
of an elongated, glowing object in the sky. Then he showed her the
aeronautical charts showing zigzag lines over a map of the United
States. A closer map, labeled Eureka, Utah, had an X on it. After
that, he unreeled the two-foot-long ribbon of paper, like a ticker
tape—a print cipher from the early ’60s.

 


…BEGIN CIPHER…18/04/62…13:45[Z]…OP STAT
ALERT STATE WHITE…VIA MAJESTIC TWELVE PROTOCOL GUIDELINES &
USAF REG 200-0-A OF 25/05/54…DECRYPT AND WAIT… … … …WAITING… … … …
WAITING… … … …DECRYPTION SUCCESSFUL…READ, DESTROY & REPORT
FOLLOWING MESSAGE…MESSAGE BODY… … … “TARGET PERIMETER
POSITIVE”…”CRASH VERIFICATION- - - - PARA-ORBITAL AIRCRAFT
NOT OF TERRESTRIAL DESIGN”… … …FURTHER STATUS FORTHCOMING… … …
END CIPHER… STOP

 


“This ‘aircraft not of terrestrial design,’”
Garrett continued with no hesitance, “landed very briefly in
Eureka. Witnesses reported a loud humming and banging sound. When
it took off again, it seemed to falter in mid-air, sort of
sputtering ahead.”

Lynn brought a finger to her chin. “Almost
as if—”

“As if it were experiencing some sort of
propulsion malfunction,” Garrett finished for her. “Project
Moondust recovery operatives were dispatched to the alleged landing
site and discovered an eight-inch-deep indentation along the
surface of a soybean field. The indentation measured 197 feet.”

Now Lynn was examining a drawing of an
elongated cylinder in the sky, and the typed words ARTIST’S
RENDITION OF OBJECT AS RELATED BY WITNESS #6. A stack of eerily
similar sketches followed, all the way up to Witness #154.

Another grainy B&W photo of the desert
came next, a large area of space littered by debris. Lynn
shuddered.

“The object falteringly left the Eureka
area,” Garrett went on, “and, according to the charts from the VLA
Radar Laboratory, exploded over the Nellis Reservation. A starburst
radar configuration was recorded on the VLA scopes.”

“This,” Lynn assumed, finding several 9x12
negative sheets of radar marks. Another cryptogram read:

The vehicle exploded violently over the
Nellis perimeter, then crashed. A second explosion blew the vehicle
into thousands of pieces. All of the vehicular debris was
recovered. So were the remains of what we presume to be four of the
vehicle’s crew.

“The vehicle’s…crew,” Lynn whispered and
shuddered again.

“Yeah,” Garrett said. “Check out the next
photo.”

She was looking at a photograph of a long
thin shape: two arms, two legs, a spinal column but no ribcage, and
a head about a foot long but only three-inches thick. It appeared
blackened with char.

“Just the bone structure?” she queried.
“This looks like some kind of bizarre skeleton.”

“Yep. Four bodies were recovered by cleared
SPs with Nellis’ 1109th Bomb Group. Skeletons. They’d all been
thoroughly burned by the explosion, no flesh remaining on any of
them. Three of the skeletons were intact. The fourth was found in
pieces. Now look at the initial examination pix.”

A series of more photos showed the elongated
skeletons lying on morgue platforms. The fourth platform lay
scattered with blackened jags and pieces.

Garret explained, “On the morning of April
20th, 1962, a B-36 Convair flew the charred skeletons and the
debris from Nellis to Andrews Air Force Base in Maryland.
Government officials, including the President, viewed the skeletons
and the debris. After that, it’s not clear what happened. One Air
Force security policeman claimed that the debris was then flown to
Wright-Patterson Air Force Base in Ohio. As for the remains of the
alien crew, there’s no record of where they were relocated to. One
AFSS pilot claims that the skeletons were later flown to Edwards
Air Force Base in California. Another AFSS pilot claims they were
flown to Carswell Air Force Base in Texas in May of the same year.
But both of these “witnesses,” according to MJ-12 documentation,
were actually ordered to report conflicting testimony. In other
words, these men were actually disinformation officers.”

As she listened, Lynn kept string at the
photographs of the skeletons. Garret creaked back in his
garage-sale work chair, lighting a cigarette. “The Nellis Case is
the most atypical incident reported. In the past, regarding,
for instance, the Roswell Case, the Kingman Case, the Del Rio Case,
and dozens of others, witnesses have reported extraordinarily
similar observations with regard to crashed vehicles and recovered
bodies.”

“What do you mean?” Lynn asked, shivering as
she set the photos down.

“You know. The vehicles have always been
reported to be ‘heel- or crescent-shaped,’ or the old cliché of
‘saucer’ shapes, ‘flying disks,’ and all that. They’re also
typically described as being about the same diameter: twenty-five
to forty feet. And even before Roswell, the bodies have
always been reported with the same extraordinary similarities:
delicate, humanoid figures, four to four-and-half feet tall, with
large, pyriformed heads, tiny mouths and improminent noses.”

“The traditional description of
science-fiction…”

“Yes,” Garrett enthused, wreathed in smoke.
“But the Nellis vehicle, and those bodies…completely
different.” He got up and showed her several more artistic
renditions based on witness accounts. “And the vehicle too. Does
that look like a flying saucer to you?”

Lynn’s eyes perused the sketches: the long
black cylinder in the sky with some sort of engine vent at the end
and a glowing line running underneath the fuselage. Windows like
dark trapezoids forward and aft.

“A ten-foot-wide cylinder, nearly two
hundred feet long,” Garrett emphasized. “No other sighting or crash
has ever reported a vehicle of this configuration. Running from
front to back, on its dorsal side, there was some kind of
illumination element. Every town this thing flew over that night
was lit up like broad daylight. The burned skeletons indicate
bodies—just as atypical. Seven-feet tall, not four, and a
hip/shoulder width about eight-inches.” Garrett felt entranced for
a moment, trying to picture them. “Can you imagine? Can you imagine
what these things looked like when they were alive?”

“What’s…this?” Lynn asked, looking at yet
another full-framed drawing. The label read: ARTIST’S RENDITION OF
OCCUPANT BASED ON SKELETAL CONFIGURATION/ CENTRAL INTELLIGENCE
PHYSIOLOGICAL SCIENCES UNIT.

“Pretty gross, huh?” Garrett commented.

Lynn gulped. The drawing was alarmingly
detailed—an anatomical estimation of what the figure probably
looked like before all its flesh was burned off. Thin sinews of
muscle and veins ran beneath it’s skin.

The head seemed more like a skin-covered
post. No mouth. No nose. Only a single slit where one would expect
to find two eyes.

“Good God,” Lynn uttered.

“One of the pieces of the fourth skeleton
appeared to be the head. But it was like no head you’d ever think
of. It was just a length of bone slightly wider than the limbs, and
it was cracked from the explosion that brought the vehicle down.
The cranial vault was the size of a marble.”

Next,, Lynn flipped to an actual photograph,
a close-up of the post-like skull. A large chip at the top revealed
the tiny, empty cranial vault. She could see the charred slit that
evidently served for eyes.

“Now, check out their hands.”

The next photo: a close up of one of the
“skeleton’s” hands.

“Interesting, huh?” Garrett posed. “Only two
fingers. What we’d think of as an index finger, and an opposable
thumb.”

Lynn seemed to blanch at the eerie close-up,
but then, finally, she offered her opinion. “This is scary stuff,
Harlan. I’ll admit that. But I’m not buying it. It’s good, sure…but
it’s still fake. And you want to know why I’m sure of that?”

Garrett thinly smiled. “Hit me.”

“For the simple reason that if this stuff
was real, there’s no way it would be sitting here in your
pig-sty apartment. If it’s real, Harlan, then that means
it’s the entire case file to an extraterrestrial contact. It
wouldn’t be sitting here in your apartment—it would be locked up in
the most secure classified document repository in the country.”

“That’s weak, hon—”

Lynn winced. “Don’t call me hon.
We’ve been divorced for years.”

“Fine…sugarplum. And the reason this case
file isn’t locked up in a repository is because it was
stolen, a long time ago.”

“Oh, by you?” Lynn chuckled. “Face
it, Harlan. You may fancy yourself as this high-tech lock-picking
black-bag operator, but the truth is…you suck.”

“Hey!”

“Come on. Every time you try something like
that, you get caught and go to jail.”

“Not every time.” Garrett bitterly
ground out his cigarette. “And besides—I’m not the one who ripped
off this stuff.”

“Then who did?”

“General Norton T. Swenson,” Garrett
said.

Lynn looked back at him with an expression
of near-hilarity. “Swenson, your nemesis? He stole this and gave it
to you?”

“Yeah. He’s dying now, but Swenson was the
Air Force’s top dog on the subject. He was an MJ-12 member—”

“Bullshit,” Lynn said quickly. “It doesn’t
exist and never did.”

“—and he oversaw all disinformation
campaigns designed to debunk public UFO theories.”

Now Lynn laughed. “And it looks like he’s
using you for the next one.”

Garrett nodded curtly, lit another
cigarette. “Maybe. That’s the first thing that crossed my mind….
But, first, tell me one thing. What do you think—and I mean
really—what do you think about what I’ve shown you?”

Lynn cast another look at the now-veritable
pile of documents and photographs on the bed. She sighed. “Like I
said before, Harlan. It all looks real good…but I still think it’s
fake. Swenson’s used all of his resources, and every new-fangled
high-end forgery technology to pull the wool over your eyes. He’s
using you for his own gain.”

“Okay, but why?” Garrett asked. “He’s dying.
He’s a withered old man bald from chemotherapy and radiation
treatment. He can’t even stand up anymore. His life’s over—so why
do this?”

“Devotion to duty,” Lynn came right back. “A
lot of people take it to their graves. It’s what they lived for,
and what they die for too.”

Garrett made another understanding nod. “I
hear you. And ordinarily, I’d agree with you. But—” Garrett raised
both brows at his ex-wife.

“But what, Harlan?”

“You still haven’t seen what else was in the
suitcase.”

“What?”

“Open the flap on the side…”

Lynn, still sitting on the unmade bed, slid
the suitcase toward her, over the piles of documents. She fumbled
with a strapped flap on the front of the case, and eventually she
removed a long folded black plastic pouch. The plastic crinkled
when she opened it.

“Still think it’s all fake?” Garrett
chided.

All the color drained out of Lynn’s face
when she withdrew a long blackened forearm bone complete with a
skeletal two-fingered hand at the end of it.

 


 




CHAPTER SEVEN

 


The window begins to glitter—the
trapezoid.

Dark swirls of light flecked with shining
pin-pricks. Then—

Danny quickly shields his eyes against the
sudden explosion of white glare. Now the window glows bright as
sunlight.

Danny is standing in front of the window.
His face feels warms from the blinding white light, and now,
somehow, he can see again. His eyes have adjusted. It’s just like
it’s been every time. Behind him, crickets trill in the darkness
and the town he lives in lies asleep under the moon. But Danny’s
face is alight from the ship’s window.

School’s out now, but he knows he didn’t do
very well. It’s hard to concentrate in class when he can’t get much
sleep. He knows his father thinks there’s something wrong with him,
he knows his father thinks he’s stupid.

But it’s not Danny’s fault.

They’re the ones who bring him out
here most every night. They’re the ones who call him out to
tell him what to do. Danny doesn’t like it…but he knows he has to
do it anyway. He’s not sure why—he just knows.

They’re the ones he’s doing it
for—

The white light slowly turned into churning
smears of red and yellow. A slim, stick-like shape moved in the
trapezoidal window.

It seemed to be waving at him.

Yes, they’re the ones.

“The Stickmen,” Danny said under his
breath.

Then the Stickmen invited him in.

 


««—»»

 


The worst part was the beeping. The drip
monitor, the heart monitor, the respiratory monitor. It was
constant, a ceaseless hell. If he died amid such noise, would he
take it with him to an afterlife? Or was this hell already?

Swenson lay in bed, though sometimes he’d
drift off into half-dreams and see himself lying on something else:
a morgue platform. The image left him coolly resolute. He’d had a
good life, and he’d done important things. He’d had his time, and
he’d made the most of it. Now his time was up. It was simple and
logical. He wasn’t afraid of death. He only wished he didn’t have
to listen to all these machines beeping.

The oxygen tube tickled his nose. Sometimes
if felt as though tiny bugs were crawling atop his bald head, or
around the inside of his pajama collar. Sometimes snakes seemed to
slither up his legs. But these sensations he welcomed; they
distracted him from the ever-growing pain. Too often the pain
seemed like some demonic entity trying to force out Swenson’s
spirit and take over his body.

You can have it, he thought.

Sleep taunted him, but he never quite got
there. Sometime later, the door opened, and Wentworth, his butler
for several decades, entered the beeping room He held a small
silver try with a glass of juice.

“Time for my late-night fix?” Swenson
joked.

“Your evening medication, General,”
Wentworth said. “And Cranapple.”

Swenson sputtered under his breath. “Shit,
Wenty, I’m going through this stuff like they’re M&M’s. You
might as well go down to Fourteenth and U and buy me some
smack.”

“Shall I pick up a whore for you too, sir?”
Wentworth chided.

“Naw, not tonight. I’d be too much for her;
she wouldn’t be able to walk for weeks.”

The butler smiled at the joke; Swenson had
been celibate since the ’70s. Wentworth set the tray down and
remained there until Swenson had taken the pills and chased them
with the juice.

“Is there anything else I can get for you,
General?”

“Naw, not unless you can find me a couple of
new lungs. You think they got ’em at Sears?”

“I’ll check the catalog posthaste, sir.”

“Good. Oh, and tell the SP to help himself
to a beer—the stuff from Kulmbach. Hell, I can’t drink it
anymore.”

The butler looked offended. “Bugger the SP,
sir. What about me? What am I? Chopped liver?”

Swenson shrugged. “Aw, sure, why not? You
can have one too.” Both men chuckled, then Wentworth bid,
“Goodnight, General.”

“Goodnight, Wenty. See you tomorrow…I
hope.”

“Oh, you will, sir. Providence has cursed me
with fluffing your pillows until the end of time.”

“Sounds good to me, Wenty.”

The butler left the room, closing the door
quietly behind him.

Yeah, Swenson thought. Maybe—just
maybe—God’ll let me hang around until Garrett’s done the
job…

 


««—»»

 


Wentworth tracked across the dim foyer with
the tray and empty glass. All levity gone. He’d miss Swenson very
much. By design—perhaps a universal one—they were both loners
brought together in a chaotic world. They didn’t fit in to the
world, and they didn’t want to. They just wanted to do what life
had ordained them to do. Swenson’s duties were complex,
problematic, and super-secret. Wentworth was just a manservant. But
that’s what he liked. The two of them were opposites who were the
same.

He set down the tray on the kitchen counter,
then mechanically washed and dried the juice glass. He looked
around the empty, silent room, and—for the first time—wiped a tears
out of his eye.

The beer, he remembered. Swenson had
half a refrigerator full, German imports he always ordered from a
distributor in Deale. Where’d the SP go? he wondered.

Come to think of it, Wentworth hadn’t seen
him in over an hour.

He went back out to the foyer, glancing
around. He checked the den and the study. He checked the
half-bathroom by the stairs, then the dining room at the front of
the house.

No sign of the SP.

“Sergeant?” Wentworth called out.

Wentworth looked down the hall, up the
stairs. He rechecked the guard office.

“Sergeant? Where are you?”

Confused, the butler went back to the
kitchen. He wouldn’t have gone outside, he considered.
The house is locked up for the night, and the alarm systems are
on. That’s when Wentworth noticed the small keypad beside the
back door. The small green light would glow constantly when the
alarm was active, and it would blink when the system was turned
off. But—

“What’s this?” he whispered.

The green light was dead altogether. It
couldn’t be a power failure; all the lights were on, and even if
they weren’t the alarm system wasn’t powered by a domestic power
line. Plus, there were back-ups.

Just as Wentworth turned, though, the heel
of his shoe seemed to slip on something.

When he looked down at the floor, he saw
blood.

For the next few seconds, reason did not
occur to him; he felt numb when he opened the utility room door.
More numbness—not shock or fear—gripped him when he saw the Air
Force SP lying dead on the floor in the slowly spreading pool of
blood.

The muffled pap which followed was
barely louder than someone snapping his fingers once. Wentworth saw
a plume of something red launch from his own forehead, then spatter
against the shiny white front of the hot-water heater. He blinked,
tried to mouth words, and collapsed, dying several moments later
right on top of the SP.

 


««—»»

 


Was it a dream? Swenson saw a great blue sky
and an endless ocean. The sun warmed his face. Was he on a boat? He
must’ve been, for where ever this place was, he could feel himself
gently rocking, as if on the sea. So beautiful, he thought
in almost a desperate wonder. He squinted into the sun, watched its
glow along the edge of the earth. Not a cloud in the sky, just
teeming perfect beauty. It astonished him that after so many
decades of life, he’d never had time to notice the simple beauty of
the sky.

Until now.

But then the sky darkened as if some cosmic
cloak had been drawn across the horizon, and when Swenson awoke and
opened his eyes he knew the vision was only a dream. Either a very
cruel one, or just the opposite. A last chance to really see
something important.

The shadow stood just inside of the door,
barely perceptible.

“You,” Swenson croaked. “I should’ve
known.”

QJ/WYN never stepped out of the shadow; it
seemed as though he were part of it. In one hand he held the small
semi-automatic pistol with the chambered sound-suppressor.

“We meet again,” came the weirdly neutral
voice.

“I knew you were insane the first time I saw
you,” Swenson said. “I should’ve had you killed.”

“Yes, you should’ve. But that would have
been a waste of time because you and I both know that your people
aren’t good enough. They never have been. They’ve never really had
what it takes—”

“To be like you?” Swenson interrupted. “Yes,
I suppose you’re right. You’re the worst kind of creature that can
exist in this business.”

“And you’re a creature right along with me,”
the visitor said. “You know why I’m here, so you might as well
talk.”

Swenson stifled a cough, managed a wizened
smile. “Anything for a buck. That’s what it’s all about these days
anyway, right? Not loyalty, not duty. Money.”

“You might be surprised.”

“I doubt it. Who are you working for now?
The Company? Freelance? Private sector?”

The operative didn’t answer the question.
“The Area November material, I want it

back.”

“I paid you for that package thirty years
ago, when you worked for me.”

“Things change in thirty years. Let’s just
say I have a new contract now, a higher bidder. These people won’t
tolerate the release of that information.”

Swenson rasped a pained cough. “Don’t you
understand what’s probably happening at Edgewood? The results could
be catastrophic.”

The shadow merely stared back with eyes of
darkness. “Where’s the material, General?”

“It’s not here. What, you think I’d keep it
here? But you were never the sharpest pencil in the box.
Don’t worry, my friend. What you’re looking for— Well, let’s just
say it’s in safe hands.”

QJ/WYN removed an ice-pick from his jacket
pocket. “CIC trained me well, General, but you’re we’ll aware of
that. There are ways to inflict pain that you have never
conceived.”

Swenson laughed outright at him. “You must
sit on your brains. I’m so full of Dilaudid and morphine you could
put a power drill through my friggin’ skull and I wouldn’t feel it.
Look at you—the big bad hit man. I’m shaking, see? I’m so scared
I’m wetting the bed. So why don’t you bend over real hard and see
if you can stick your head up your—”

Three small red spots appeared almost
simultaneously of Swenson’s chest. He jerked once, let out a
gurgling gasp.

When the shadow left the room, the eye of
Swenson’s mind was again gazing wondrously into an endless blue
sky.

Beautiful, he thought.
Beautiful. Then his heart made its final beat.

 


 




CHAPTER EIGHT

 


The information Super-fuckin’-highway
runs deep, Garrett thought. His computer screen glowed with
more official military brands.

 


U.S. ARMY PERSONNEL AGENCY

FORT BENJAMIN HARRISON, INDIANA

 


RESTRICTION CODE FOR THIS SITE:

CRYPTODINARARCO

 


 


 


WARNING: THIS IS A RESTRICTED
DATA-VAULT.

ILLEGAL OR UNAUTHORIZED VIEWING OF
RESTRICTED DATA

CAN BE PUNISHABLE BY DEATH.

 


 


“Yeah, yeah,” Garrett dismissed the warning.
Further down on the white- and powder-blue-blocked screen, he found
what he’d been looking for.

 


m__ALLOCATE/SEARCH OBJECT [NAME]——…

FIND: SEARCH OBJECT:

[SANDERS]\U.S. ARMY COUNTER-INTELLIGENCE
CORP.

 


 


**** [SEARCH OBJECT FOUND]
****

 


“Got it!” Garrett celebrated, but then his
enthusiasm deflated.

On the screen was a personnel photo of a man
in a khaki shirt with a silver 1st lieutenant’s bar at the tip of
one collar, and a gold sphinx at the tip of the other.

But the man’s face had been rubbed out in
black.

A lot of good that does…

 


OFFICIAL DELETION: PHOTO-OBJECT REDACTED FOR
REASONS

PERTAINING TO NATIONAL SECURITY

 


“What do you expect, Harlan?” Lynn said,
standing behind him. She was intently watching the screen over his
shoulder. “You’re in real deep here. You’re waltzing around in some
highly restricted data channels.”

“Shit,” Garrett sputtered, lighting another
cigarette. “Well, looks like we’re never going to know what he
looks like, but at least we know who he is now.”

“So what’s the big deal with him anyway?”
Lynn inquired.

“His name’s John Sanders,” Garrett began.
“He was a field operative for the Army’s Counter-Intelligence
Corp—among other things, an assassin. This guy was pulling jobs all
over the world—stuff even the CIA wouldn’t sanction. Laos, Burma,
Guatemala. In 1970, this guy went deep cover all the way up to Dong
Hoi in North Vietnam, staked out a command post for a week, barely
moving a muscle, and assassinated Ho Chi Minh’s
second-highest-ranking ground-forces commander. In ‘72 he
car-bombed the East German MfS liaison for KGB’s Joint Reports and
Research Unit. Sanders was the guy next in line to try to kill
Castro before the NSC threw in the towel.”

“That stuff was ages ago,” Lynn pointed out.
“The guy’s got to be pretty old by now.”

“His D.O.B.’s redacted too, but based on the
mission dates in some of these files, he’s probably in his
late-fifties. He may be the most successful assassin the good old
U.S. of A. has ever produced, and he’s obviously not over-the-hill
yet because he’s already scratched two people just this week.”

“All right,” Lynn said. “Go on.”

“When CIC was disbanded by the Carter
Administration, Sanders flew the coop, to work on his own. He was a
hire-out, or a “K” as your people call it. Now he’s killing again,
and it all relates to the Nellis Crash. It all has something to do
with the Edgewood Arsenal. Someone stole an old defensive nuclear
device from Edgewood last week, and for some reason that theft was
a warning sign to—”

“General Norton Swenson, the same man who
slapped you with the bad conduct discharge from the Air Force.”

Garrett nodded. “That’s right. He ran the
Air Force Aerial Intelligence Command for nearly thirty years. He
reported directly to the President about any sighting or crash that
was deemed to be authentic. And there are some other people who fit
into the mix.

A former FBI agent named Urslig, a former
Army officer named Farrell who used to work with the Judge Advocate
General’s office and went on to be an influential federal judge.
Both Urslig and Farrell have been murdered within the past few
days. Those names were on a list in the suitcase.”

“And you’re sure this runaway spook named
Sanders made the hits?”

“Of course. That’s the sole reason Swenson
warned me about him.”

Lynn frowned sharply when she took another
look at Garrett’s computer screen. “Harlan, how on earth did you
get access to these databanks? This is super-sensitive stuff.”

“Let’s just say a little bird gave me the
passwords.” Garrett smiled cunningly. “This is incredible, Lynn. I
can get into anything with these. DOD, Justice, CIA, and
every classified data warehouse in the military. You’d need a TS/SI
clearance with an SAR access plus the full load of
compartmentalized National Security suffixes to get into these
banks. There probably aren’t twenty people in the country with
these passwords.”

“Great, Harlan. And you can brag all about
it to your buddies on the cell block, when they put you in federal
prison for a hundred years. They could even execute you for this if
they wanted to.”

Garrett sluffed it off with a wave of hand.
“They change the primary password every forty-eight hours, and it’s
blinded. There’s no way I can get caught.”

“That’s what the Walker spies said,” Lynn
reminded him “And, anyway, what possible connection can there be
between the Nellis Case and Edgewood Arsenal? The Nellis Case is
strictly Air Force, but Edgewood is an Army facility.”

“I don’t know the connection, but I think I
found some clues. There’s one more name on the list, Kenneth Ubel.
He’s an Army redeposition officer. I can’t imagine what he’d have
to do with this, but…care to guess where he works?”

“The Edgewood Arsenal?”

“Right. And I found something else.” Garrett
raised a finger. “Watch.”

Garrett tapped rapidly on his keyboard while
Lynn continued to watch raptly over his shoulder.

“Check this one out.”

Lynn squinted at the next block that popped
up on the screen.

 


File allocation command for following
security designations:



TS

SI

SAR

TEKNA

BYMAN

ULTIMA

DINAR

 


INTERAGENCY GROUP ACTIVITY

 


BACK-PROCESSING BRANCH

 


SPECIAL ACCESS REQUIRED

 


FREE ROAM SEARCH OBJECT

 


**** [U.S. ARMY MUNITIONS COMMAND/EDGEWOOD
ARSN.] ****

 


SEARCH OBJECT FOUND

DEPARTMENT 4 SPECIAL CONTINGENCY GROUP

RECORDS AND PROCESSING UNIT, FORT BELVOIR,
VIRGINIA

 


 


PRIMARY SEARCH GROUP: “Abductions, Reports
of”

SECONDARY SEARCH GROUP: “MUNCOM, Edgewood
Arsenal, Maryland” TERTIARY SEARCH GROUP: “Vander, Daniel, D.O.B.
25 May 1990.”

 


Several seconds later, an image box loaded a
picture of a young boy with fox-brown hair, smiling as if for a
class yearbook photo.

“The optical computer pulled this kid’s name
up when I programmed a free-roam search through Aerial Intelligence
Command, using Edgewood as the find topic,” Garrett specified from
his aura of cigarette smoke. “The boy’s name is Danny Vander, eight
years old. Just a typical American elementary school kid like a
million others…or so we might think. You know what this is, Lynn?
It’s a certified abduction report.”

Lynn’s expression drooped through a pause.
“I take it you’re using the word ‘abduction’ in reference to—”

“Yeah, an abduction by an extraterrestrial
species.”

Lynn fell silent, frustrated.

Garrett looked up at her. “But that’s not
all—actually, it’s just the beginning.”

“How so?”

“Danny’s father is Brigadier General Anthony
Vander…who just happens to be the post commander of the Edgewood
Arsenal.”

 


««—»»

 


Danny had always liked Dr. Harolds; he was a
nice man, and always seemed to understand. He never looked at him
funny the way Danny’s father did. It was just everything else that
Danny didn’t like. This building, this place. This
stuffy waiting room and the sign outside that read BASE MENTAL
HYGIENE UNIT. No, Danny had never liked the sound of that. It was
so Army.

This was a place for people who weren’t
right in the head.

Dr. Harolds was young, like Miss Romesch at
school. He always had a smile and always wore the neat long white
doctor’s coat over his Army shirt, with his captain’s bars on the
lapel.

“Here we go,” Dr. Harolds said. He had his
hand on Danny’s shoulder as he showed him out of the office into
the waiting room. Danny sat down in one of the hard plastic chairs.
Dr. Harolds got down on one knee and smiled at him.

“So what do you think, Danny?” the doctor
asked. “I’d say we had a pretty good session today, didn’t we?”

“Yes, Dr. Harolds.”

“Are you feeling better?”

“Yes.”

“We’ll try some new medication for the
headaches. I know you didn’t like that last stuff, but you’ll like
this new stuff a lot better. It won’t upset your stomach or make
you tired. It’ll be ready later this afternoon; they’ll deliver it
out to the house, okay?”

Danny nodded dejectedly.

“And I’ll see you next week.” Dr. Harolds
looked at his watch. “Looks like your father’s a little late—”

“He’s always late,” Danny said.

Dr. Harolds nodded. “Yeah, I know, but
that’s because he’s the base commander. That’s a pretty important
job, and it means he’s got lots of stuff to do. But I’m sure he’ll
be around any minute to pick you up. And remember, any time you’re
not feeling good or want to talk, just tell your mom or dad to call
me, okay?”

“Yes, Dr. Harolds.”

“Good.” The doctor patted Danny on the back.
“See you next time.”

“‘Bye…”

When Dr. Harolds went back to his office,
Danny looked uncomfortably around. The same magazines seemed to
always be sitting in the wicker basket, and the glare of the sun
through the windows always seemed to shine in his eyes at the same
angle. And there was always that same poster on the wall: MEET THE
CHALLENGE…BE THE ARMY!

At least he was alone this time. Most times
when he had to wait for his father to pick him up, the were other
people in the room, waiting to see Dr. Harolds. Mostly men in their
fatigues. They always looked unhappy or mad about something. Or
sometimes there’d by other kids here waiting with their mothers,
and some of these kids looked pretty messed up.

Danny supposed he had a lot to be grateful
for, even if—

Suddenly his face twisted up and his head
hurt so bad he doubled over in the seat. It was another headache
coming on, and it felt like a real bad one. He hated the pain, but
what he hated even more than that were the things he saw.

It was the Stickmen.

This was how they reminded him—

 


—of what they want, what they need. He still
doesn’t understand, but somehow that doesn’t seem important—

—and he’s standing on the hill again,
standing in front of the churning red and yellow light from the
window—

—then the light turns bright white in less
than a second, and he hears that funny ticking sound, and then a
thread-thin line of white light begins to form along the ship’s
black hull right next to the trapezoidal window—

—the line draws down from top to bottom, and
that’s when the doorway opens, and the Stickman inside comes out
and waves at him with his weird long two-fingered hand—

—and—

 


Just as he thought his head would break
open, the pain—and the visions—stop. Puff-faced, sweating, Danny
sat back upright in the waiting room seat and let out a long
breath. He had just enough time to wipe the tears from his eyes
when the door clicked open and his father walked in.

General Vander seemed to be repressing a
frown from the opened doorway.

“Come on, Danny,” he said. “Time to go
home.”

 


««—»»

 


“Am I going to get brain damage from all
those metal-detectors and x-ray machines?” Garrett asked.

“Don’t worry about it, Harlan,” Lynn
replied. “You already are brain damaged, so what difference
does it make?”

Lynn dressed smartly as usual, a nice
business dress, conservative high heels. Garrett dressed sloppily.
As usual. Threadbare jeans, beaten sneakers, and a black t-shirt
that read IT WAS THE 2ND FLOOR OF THE DAL-TEX BUILDING.

“Or maybe I’m the brain-damaged one,”
Lynn continued. “I must be out of my mind bringing you here.”

“Here” was the West-Southwest Spoke of an
infamous fifty-six year old building in Arlington County called the
Pentagon. Garrett had always dreamed of getting a gander inside
this five-sided, five-story nexus of global military supremacy but,
until today, such an opportunity seemed as likely as Manson getting
invited to Roman Polanski’s house for dinner.

“Wow, this is great!” Garrett exclaimed,
toting along the suitcase he’d retrieved from the storage unit. He
looked to and fro down the long concourse, a gleam in his eyes like
a kid in Toys-R-Us. Garrett eyeballed each passing door sign in
wonderment: NATIONAL INTELLIGENCE COUNCIL, OFFICE OF IMAGERY
ANALYSIS, SPECIAL ASSISTANT FOR CONGRESSIONAL AFFAIRS

“Oh, man, this is so cool…” He shot
an enthused gaze at her. “Hey, is there really a giant shopping
mall here?”

“Yes,” Lynn groaned.

“Can we go, can we go?”

“It’s for employees only.”

Garrett seemed disappointed. “Is there
really a hot-dog stand in the center court called Ground Zero?”

“Yes,” Lynn groaned.

“Can we go, please? Can we go?” Garrett was
nearly jumping up and down.

“This is the Pentagon, Harlan,” Lynn
snapped. “Not Disneyland. We’re not here for lunch. And I still
can’t believe I let you talk me into this.”

Garrett calmed down, let the excitement of
being here lower back to reality. “Well I still can’t
believe you let me talk you into spending the night at my
apartment. It’s a start.”

“Yeah, it’s a start , all right. And by the
way, how was the couch?”

“Lonely.”

“Good. And just because I’m a pushover
doesn’t mean Myers is.”

Garrett shook his head. “Don’t worry, I’d
never ask him to spend the night—”

Lynn’s annoyance couldn’t be more obvious.
“Would you be serious for just one minute? Myers is a good man and
a good friend, but he’s also a senior case director and a former
chief-of-outpost. He’s got field guidelines, Harlan, and I don’t
have to mention that he’s not exactly your greatest fan.”

“I agree,” Garrett admitted. “He won’t
believe me. But I’ll bet my subscription to Conspiracy
Illustrated that he believes you.”

“You better hope he does,” Lynn warned.
“Because if Myers loses his professional respect for me because of
you…”

“Relax,” Garrett insisted. “Women. Jesus.”
Just then a large window display caught his eye, and the fancy
stenciled lettering: THE MAXWELL TAYLOR GIFT SHOP. Garrett stopped
in his tracks. “Lynn, Lynn! Can we go in? I want that Pentagon
ashtray! Pleeeeease?”

Lynn offered him the bleakest of stares.
“Harlan, you’re damn lucky I had to check my gun in at the
admissions desk.”

 


««—»»

 


Garrett’s faddist wonder did not abate as
his very stolid ex-wife took him up the personnel elevator to the
fifth floor. Next she took him into a rather drab office whose
rather drab door read:

 


DEFENSE INTELLIGENCE AGENCY

PENTAGON LIAISON BRANCH

 


Senior Case Director Myers had
not-very-enthusiastically attended Garrett’s wedding to Lynn; that
was the only time Garrett had met the man, and it was Garrett’s
good fortune that looks couldn’t kill. To Myers, Garrett was a
conspiracy kook at the least and probably an anarchist at the
worst. Jesus, Garrett thought now, seeing the man again for
the first time in years. If he was bald, he’d look just like the
Chief on Get Smart.

But Garrett minded his manners when he
received the otherwise impossible opportunity to make his pitch.
Lynn kept to a corner while Myers sat poker-faced behind his desk,
listening to Garrett’s extraordinary claims. During his clipped
discourse, Garrett showed the director the most convincing of the
documents, the photographs, and the ciphers, and at the end of his
first segment, Garrett felt pretty proud of himself. All in all, it
was a great presentation.

“Well?” Garrett bid after a long silence.
“What do you think so far?”

Myers’ emotionless face finally tightened
into something that could be called a human expression.

A negative human expression.

“What do I think?” Myers answered. “I think
this pile of paper here is more useless than a picnic basket full
of gorilla shit. That’s what I think. Don’t you know
counterfeiting government documents is a federal crime? Don’t you
know that trying to pass them off as genuine to an officer of a
government agency can land you in prison for fifty years?
Look, Garrett, I know you’re a nut-bar, I know you’re rebellious
anti-Constitutional flake, and I know you’re a criminal…but even I
couldn’t imagine that you could be this stupid.”

Garrett shuffled in place. “Gee, I guess you
didn’t like my presentation, huh?”

Myers pushed away from his desk in disdain.
“You conspiracy nut-bars are all the same. When you can’t prove
anything, you make the shit up to support your own ridiculous
beliefs because you’ve got nothing real to do with your
lives. Your whole world becomes a sewer full of your own bullshit.
Jesus Christ, you idiots think the Apollo moon landings were staged
and Kennedy was killed by an Oswald imposture planted by the
CIA.”

“Actually,” Garrett elucidated, “the
imposture, William Seymour, was planted by Army intel, not CIA,
while the real Oswald was in Russia, and Kennedy was actually
killed by shooters in the Corsican Mafia recruited for Santos
Trafficante by the Marseille heroin syndicate…but that’s beside the
point. Look, sir, these documents aren’t fake. This brand of
photographic paper isn’t even made any more, and look at the
watermarks, look at the typographical protocol, look at the
ciphers. Christ, check the signatures with your graphology
unit.”

Myers was wincing so harshly he could’ve
just bitten into a lemon. “This shit is fake, Garrett, and
you’re the one who manufactured it. You and your nut-bar
cronies. And, Lynn—” Now Myers’ glared shot to the corner. “You
must have some serious flaws in your power of judgment,
to actually bring this idiot here. Frankly, I’m astonished
that you haven’t been able to see right through this two-bit
ploy.”

Stoop-shouldered, Lynn sighed. “Sure, boss,
I can imagine how this appears to you, given Harlan’s…escapades in
the past. But I don’t think my judgment is faulty. I don’t think
the documents and photos are fakes. And, yes, Harlan is a bit loopy
sometimes, but I do know him. I was married to him—God knows
why—and one thing I can attest to beyond all doubt is that he’s not
a liar. And I think that you won’t be so quick to dismiss him once
you hear, and see, the rest.”

Myers looked momentarily flabbergasted. “You
mean…there’s more?”

“Plenty more, sir,” Garret hastened to
answer. “The Nellis business is just Part One. Ready for Part
Two?”

Myers simmered where he sat. “If this isn’t
good, and I mean real good, I’m going to have you booked and
charged. And, Lynn? I’ll make sure you never get on a promotion
list again. Business is business, and our jobs are very sensitive.
Just because you and I are friends doesn’t mean I won’t transfer
you to our field office in Wainwright, Alaska.”

Then Lynn did the strangest thing. “This
is good, boss. If I didn’t think so, then I never would’ve
brought him here in a million years.”

Garrett felt inclined to smack himself in
the ear. Did I hear her right? Did she just express some
confidence in me? Somebody pinch me.

“All right, Garrett,” Myers gruffly
consented. “You’ve got five minutes to convince me why I shouldn’t
have you imprisoned.”

Garrett rubbed his hands together, sweaty as
they were. “Everything I’ve just explained to you about the Nellis
crash in 1962 is directly related to several things that are
happening right now. The DIA processes and analyzes intelligence
for all of the military branches, so I’m quite certain you know
about the atomic demolition device that was stolen several days ago
from the U.S. Army Munitions and Redepositions Command in Edgewood,
Maryland.”

Myers pounded his fists on the desk, then
stood up and shouted, “That’s hot off a restricted CID file! It’s
an official EEi report that’s classified crypto/citadel! There’s
no way you can possibly know about it!”

Garrett stepped back as if he’d just had a
trumpet blown in his face. “Um-hmm, and I couldn’t possibly know
about the murder of a former JAG officer named Farrell, either, or
the murder of former FBI agent name Jack Urslig.”

“GodDAMN it!” Myer blew right up. “You’ve
infiltrated a national security database!”

“Actually, several national security
databases,” Garrett corrected.

Myers’ face was turning red as he reached
for the phone. “The Marines are carrying your ass to jail RIGHT
NOW!”

“Forget about that for now,” Lynn calmly
implored. “There’s something serious going on here, and I think it
bears some investigation. Harlan didn’t actually hack into
any databases. He was given the entry codes, he was
following a lead under the directions of an Air Force general.”

All at once, Myers’ rage siphoned out of him
like a balloon deflating. Suddenly he looked perplexed. “An Air
Force general? Not Norton T. Swenson.”

“Hey, how’d you know?” Garrett asked in
surprise.

“Fuck.” Myers sat back down, his ass
dropping into the seat like a dropped bag of cement. All at once he
looked flustered, even troubled.

“What gives?” Garrett asked.

“About fifteen minutes ago, I got a
classified FYI telex from the Interagency Branch.”

“Yeah?”

“Last night General Norton T. Swenson was
murdered in his home in Bethesda.”

“Oh no,” Garrett groaned. His spirit seemed
to plummet.

“And the thing that bugged me most about
it,” Myers went on, “is that…those two other names you just
mentioned?”

“Judge Farrell and Urslig, the FBI agent?”
Lynn said.

Myers rubbed his face. “Yeah. They were both
killed by the same m.o. as Swenson. Unforced entry, small-caliber
handgun fired through a chambered silencer, elaborate security
systems overridden.”

Garrett couldn’t have been more morose at
the news. Swenson was already dying, and he knew Sanders was
gunning for him. But—

For some reason, Garrett didn’t expect
this.

“Come on, boss,” Lynn edged. “How about
giving this some consideration. I hate to say it, but Harlan isn’t
always a total nut-bar.”

Thanks, baby, Garrett thought.
“You’ve got nothing to lose,” he addressed Myers. “If I screw up?
Hey, it’s just me, the nut-bar. Nothing can lead back to you
or Lynn.”

Myers, very reluctantly, looked back up at
Garrett. “What do you want?”

“All I’m asking is for a simple cred pass,
sir,” Garrett tried to make it sound nonchalant. “Give me a phony
government ID that’ll get me onto Edgewood.”

Myers pawed his gut as if he had an ulcer.
“I couldn’t possibly—”

“Oh, give me a break. You guys print out
phony ID faster than Dark Horse Comics prints out copies of
Buffy. I’m not asking you to for the key to Ellsberg’s
office. Just call up the boys in the print shop and have ’em make
me something that’ll stand up past a Class IV cred check.”

Myers’ face creased; he squirmed in his
seat. “You’re a private citizen, for God’s

sake. I can’t just—”

Garrett rolled his eyes. “Oh, and you’re
telling me that the Defense Intelligence Agency has never
contracted private citizens for shadowed intel operations? What
about the plumbers you hired to case the new Russian Embassy?”

Myers frowned. “How the hell did you find
out about—”

 


“They were private citizens who you
set up with phony State Department ID’s so they could properly
blueprint the Embassy’s domestic water lines which you later traced
with milliwave surveillance sensors, and the whole job came out of
your shadow-op budget. And let’s not forget about that
private ambulance crew you hired to contradict the testimony
of the paramedics who first saw the White House Counsel’s body at
Fort Marcy Park.”

Myers abruptly pointed a finger at Garrett.
“That wasn’t us, damn it.”

“Hey, Big Brother by any other name is still
Big Brother, right?”

“List it as a statutory inquest and send
me,” Lynn suggested. “I’m official, in case anything goes
wrong.”

“That’s even more out of the question,”
Myers said. “With a freelance hitter out there? I can’t risk one of
my most valuable operatives on something that’s probably just a
wild goose chase.”

“All the more reason to give me that cred
pass,” Garrett reminded. “If I get killed, you’ve got nothing to
worry about. And if I get caught, do what you Big Brother guys do
best. Disavow all knowledge and discredit the source. Plausible
denial and all that good shit.”

Myers hesitated with more pained looks. His
eyes scanned the piles of documents and photos lain across his
desk. Then he shook his head. “It’s just too risky. This evidence
just isn’t strong enough to justify something like this.”

“I thought you’d say that.” Garrett winked
at his ex-wife. “Lynn? Why don’t you show your dutiful boss the
rest of the evidence.”

Lynn placed the suitcase on Myers’ desk,
withdrew the black plastic bag, and after unwrapping it removed the
charred alien forearm.

Its two black fingers pointed right into
Myers’ face.

 


««—»»

 


In the underground parking lot, Garrett
leaned on the fender of his dented Malibu, grinning down at the new
leather ID wallet in his hand. Lynn stood aside with her arms
crossed.

“You look like a kid at Christmas who just
got a bag of Beanie Babies,” she observed.

Garrett continued to look in awe at the
opened wallet. On the left side was the ever-familiar crested
silver badge, and on the right was a federal photo ID card
identifying “Richard Odenton” as a Special Agent with the Federal
Bureau of Investigation. All it had taken was a quick haircut in
the Pentagon’s mezzanine barber shop and a quickly borrowed shirt
and tie from the Ident Section’s wardrobe unit.

“This is cooler than cool,” Garrett said,
still grinning at his new ID. “I always wanted to be in the FBI.
And I like the name—Richard Odenton. Has a nice black bag kind of
ring to it, don’t you think? Good work on the driver’s license, car
registration, and Social Security card, too. Christ, even phony
license plates.” As an added treat, he’d also been given a cellular
field phone with all the latest scrambling filters and a pager with
a GPS direction-finding frequency. Man, I’m set! Garrett
thought in a rush of excitement.

“Congratulations, Special Agent Odenton,”
Lynn joked. “It figures Myers would give you Bureau ID.
They’re in enough trouble as it is, so if you screw up—”

“—then it’ll just look like a typical day in
the FBI. Hey, let’s assault a cult compound full of explosives,
ammunition, flammable material, and children, and forget to
bring a fire truck.”

Lynn frowned at the comment’s poor taste.
“Come on.”

The Malibu’s twenty-year-plus bench seat
springs groaned when they got in. Garrett drove out of the lot. As
they drove up the exit ramp into daylight, Lynn kept glancing over
at him.

“What?” Garrett asked. “I got a tick on my
neck?”

Lynn sighed, opened her mouth to say
something, but then declined.

“Come on,” Garrett insisted. “What are you
looking at? You’re making me paranoid.”

“You were born paranoid, Harlan.” Then she
shrugged and just said. “Don’t take this out of context but…you’re
actually a pretty decent looking guy with your hair cut short.”

“Oh yeah?” Garrett exclaimed. “So when do
you want to do lunch?”

“Never. I was simply making an objective
observation.”

“And a damn perceptive one if I must say.
And that geezer Myers said he doubted your sense of judgment.
Ha!”

“This is no joke, Harlan,” she reminded.
“You better be damn careful flashing that ID; you could get
yourself made real easy. You’ve got no experience as a field
agent.”

“No, but I did read Strasberg’s book on
acting. Relax, I can play the spook game.”

Lynn didn’t seem so sure. “I’d feel a lot
better if I went with you. At least I’d be around to make sure you
don’t step on your dick and make a complete asshole out of
yourself.”

Garrett winced behind the wheel. “Please,
Lynn. Foul language doesn’t become you.”

“Yeah, well you’ll hear plenty more if you
fuck up.” Lynn noticed he’d taken the Shirley Highway exit. “Where
are you going? Shouldn’t we got back to your place and plan this
out.”

“I’ve already planned it out,” Garrett told
her, lighting a cigarette. “Up here.” He pointed to his head and
grinned with the cigarette crimped between his teeth. “I’ll be
going into the field, and in the meantime, you’ll be doing the
follow-up here.”

“Follow up on what?

Garrett pulled to a stop around a plushly
shrubbed service court. The long signed loomed just ahead of
them:

 


GEORGETOWN UNIVERSITY MEDICAL CENTER.

 


Lynn squinted. “Harlan, what the hell are we
doing—”

He tapped her shoulder. “Oh, and before you
go, I need your piece.”

“My what?”

“You know, your gun.”

Lynn gaped at him, then chortled a low
laugh. “Yeah, right. You expect me to give you my
government-register service weapon?”

“Lynn, you’re the one who just told me I
better not fuck up. How credible will I be impersonating an
FBI agent if I don’t have a gun? You guys carry SIG-226s just like
the Bureau, so hand it over.”

Lynn just stared at him.

“Come on, Lynn. No one’ll believe I’m Bureau
unless there’s a piece printing against my jacket. I’ll be arrested
in two seconds.”

Lynn sighed long and hard. “I can’t believe
the things I let you bamboozle me with. It’s almost like we’re
still married.”

Garrett’s brow did a jig. “We can be,
hon. All you gotta do is nullify that absurd divorce, and we—”

“Harlan, don’t even say it.” She reluctantly
handed her pistol over to him. “There. You happy
now…killer?”

Garrett hefted the attractive black gun in
his hand. “I like it!”

“I’ve got more, Harlan. Just remember that.”
Her blond hair tossed when she turned her head and looked back at
the sign. “And would you please tell me what we’re doing at
Georgetown Hospital?”

Garrett hastily scribbled something on the
back of an old credit card receipt. “This is a friend of mine, just
say you know me, and get on with the workup.”

Lynn took the slip of paper, but still
looked cruxed. “A workup? On what?”

Garrett reached into the back seat, pulled
the black plastic bag from the suitcase. “A workup on this,” he
elaborated, setting the parcel right into her lap.

 


««—»»

 


Garrett knew that in order to effectively
masquerade as a special agent of the F.B.I., he’d have to wear a
decent suit. He also knew that he didn’t own a decent suit
and hadn’t in years. Hence, the quick stop at Joseph Abboud Ltd.
and another poke into Swenson’s charitable contribution. Garrett
didn’t have to spend $1100 on a suit but— An agent’s
gotta look good, he reasoned. Might as well look REAL good.
What the hell, right?

It made sense to him.

When he was set and ready to go, he and the
Malibu were heading out of the city. Up Route 50 to the Beltway,
then change off onto 95 North; that would get him to Edgewood.

Every so often, he’d catch a forced glimpse
of himself in the rearview, and wink at himself, smiling in
self-satisfaction.

“Special Agent Richard Odenton… You know, I
like the sound of that.” Another wink, then, and he couldn’t
help the next observation. “It’s tough being this
good-looking, but I guess it’s just a burden I’m going to have to
bear.”

Just then, however, even before he crossed
the District’s official boundary, one last very essential priority
occurred to him.

He was running low on cigarettes.

He stopped at a traffic light, then roved
his gaze to the right. The high GAS’N GO flagged him. Garrett
pulled in and parked. But just as he was about to get out of the
car—

He couldn’t believe what he was seeing.

Some tall skinny twitchy kid with pimples
and tufts of frizzy black hair sticking out of his head in
stalklike braids was walking briskly toward the convenience store’s
entrance. The kid couldn’t have been more than seventeen, and he
was a dead give-away; he was wearing a long tacky black raincoat in
spite of the heat. Garrett wasn’t surprised to see the kid whip
open the coat and check the small pistol stuck in his belt. Then he
pulled open the door and strode in into the store.

Garrett was waylaid as his eyes registered
the sight. “You’ve gotta be shitting me,” he said aloud to
himself. “Don’t kids today have any brains at all?”

Evidently, this one didn’t.

I really shouldn’t do this, he
thought. No, I’m not going to. I’m NOT. That would be
crazy… Then he made some further considerations. Oh the
other hand, that punk could be killing people in there any
minute…

Garrett frowned and whipped out his own
pistol—Lynn’s pistol actually—then got out of the car.

Dumb, dumb, dumb, he was thinking.
The little bell on the door jingled when he entered,
and—Fuck, he observed. The were several customers in the
store, more people to get killed if shooting started,
and—fuck! he thought again. There was a woman scanning the
diary products toward the rear, and she had a baby slung to her in
a harness.

The punk kid stood just before the register;
he was bending over a waist-high magazine rack, pretending to be
interested in the variety of tabloids. Garrett winced, in spite of
the situation’s gravity: one of the tabloids—The National
Reporter—Garrett had freelanced for several years ago.

The kid was obviously working up his
nerve.

“Hey, son,” said the old duffer at the
register. “You wanna read that crap, you gotta buy it. This ain’t a
library.”

The kid stood up, glaring. “Yeah, well it
ain’t a bank either, you old fuck, but I’m gonna make a
withdrawal.” When the kid had stood up straight, he was pointing
the gun right at the old man’s belly.

The woman in the back screamed, dropping a
bottle of Gatorade. The baby started bawling. The other customers
started yelling, ducking for cover.

Garrett, his own gun drawn, managed to slip
around the potato chip aisle and creep up from behind. “Federal
agent!” he shouted. “Drop the gun and put your hands in the
air!”

Garrett was impressed by how well he done
it. But the punk just stood there, as if calculating.

“Hands up!” Garrett repeated. “Drop the gun!
Do NOT turn around!”

The kid turned around very quickly.

Garrett winced again. Now the two of them
were facing each other, guns aimed. Christ, I can’t shoot this
guy! I’m carrying a phony FBI badge and a handgun registered to
someone else!

“The fun’s over, Pimples,” Garrett said.

The kid grinned, his dredlocks shaking. “No
it isn’t, it just started. Drop your piece.”

“No, you drop your piece,
crank-head,” Garrett replied. “What’s that you got there anyway? A
Taurus .22? Gimme a break, buddy. Your gun’s bottom-heavy, has no
sights, has no recoil compensation, and is notoriously inaccurate.
If you pop caps at me, you’ll probably miss, and even if you hit me
with that pea-shooter, I guarantee I’ll

have three 9mm Q-Loads in your face before I
go down. So go on. Show all these

people here how stupid you are.”

The kid stared Garrett down. “Son of a bitch
fuckin’ federal pig.”

You’d be surprised, Garrett though.
“Your move, Pimples. You can die right here or you can drop the
gun. Use the brains that God gave you. If you drop the gun, you’ll
go to joovie hall because you’re a minor, and you’ll probably be
back on the street in thirty days playing Bad Guy again. Think
about it. Drop the gun…or leave in a body bag. It’s your
choice.”

Garrett cocked his pistol.

The kid tremored, gritting his teeth. His
eyes focused to pinpoints of hate. Then he cursed under his breath
and dropped the gun. He slowly put up his hands.

Garrett let out a long, allaying breath,
wondering just how close he’d come to wetting his slacks. The
customers and the clerk began to applaud, and the woman with the
squalling baby kissed him. “You saved our lives!” she blubbered.
“All in a day’s work, ma’am,” Garrett said.

A few minutes later, the metro cruiser
arrived. Now came the really hard part. Garrett tried to
seem as casual as possible when he flashed his badge and ID card to
the muscle-bound cop who entered. A second cop took the kid away in
cuffs.

“Special Agent Odenton, FBI,” Garrett said.
“I scoped the rock-head checking his piece outside, then followed
him in and took him down.”

The big cop looked impressed as well as
grateful. “That kid’s Spaz Coleman. We’ve been trying to nab him
for a year. He’s knocked over eight convenience stores since
November. Good work, Agent Odenton.”

“Piece of cake,” Garrett feigned.

The second cop came back inside, laughing.
“Hey, FBI, you’ll love this! The kid pissed his pants when you drew
down on him!”

“Tell him to send his dry cleaning bill to
the J. Edgar Hoover Building,” Garrett said back. “Look, I know
this is technically my collar but I’m in transit to an urgent
case—kidnapping and interstate flight. How about we make a deal?
You guys take the paperwork, and you can have the collar. Is that
cool? I’m really in a hurry.”

“Sure, no problem. Thanks!”

“My pleasure. Later, guys. Be careful out
there.” The customers applauded again as Garrett left the
store.

I guess there really is a God, he
thought once the shock wore off and he realized how he could just
as easily have been killed. He got out of D.C. fast, heading for
the highway. It took a while to calm down.

Only then did it occur to him that he’d
forgotten the one thing he’d stopped at the store for:
cigarettes.

 


««—»»

 


Danny’s sneakers scuffed up dust as he
wandered alone in the field behind the officers housing blocks. He
kicked at rocks and old tin cans, kicked at dandelions and watched
their ghostly puffs of fuzz explode and blow away.

The summer sun beamed down on him. A few
hundred yards up ahead he could see the baseball field where the
Boys Club leagues played, then the picnic grounds with its rows of
tables and brick grills. Beyond that stretched the forest. There
was no one in sight for as far as he could see.

It’s just me out here, he thought.
Alone.

Danny didn’t generally like to be alone, but
today being alone felt good. His mom and dad had been arguing again
back at the house. About me, Danny knew. “Why can’t he be
like other kids—normal kids?” his father had thundered from
the family room. Danny had been down in the basement, working on
some new drawings. He could easily hear them upstairs; their voices
carried right down through the heat vent.

“Because you’re so goddamn repressive, he’ll
never be normal!” his mother yelled back.

“Oh, that’s right! Blame it on me, pass the
buck like you always do! He’s your kid too, you know! He should be
out playing ball, roughing it up, getting a taste of life, but all
he does instead is hide in the basement drawing all that junk
because you encourage him to! Jesus Christ, if you didn’t
coddle him so damn much, maybe he’d be like regular kids!”

“Yes, Tony, he’d be out there ‘roughing it
up’ just like a good little soldier, huh?”

“For God’s sake! He’s got to learn about
life sometime! It’s not all cookies and milk and mommy tucking him
in at night! It’s no wonder he’s so weird, doing all those weirdo
drawings and talking about goddamn spacemen and spaceships and all
that shit! Jesus Christ, it’s no wonder we have to take him to a
shrink!”

And on and on.

By now Danny had learned to block it out but
sometimes it was real hard. He’d slipped out through the basement
door because his head had started to hurt again and he had to get
away from all the yelling. He felt bad about the whole thing,
because it must be all his fault.

But if that were true…then it must be the
Stickmen’s fault too. Why are they doing this to me? he
wondered.

A sudden breeze gusted, knocking down the
summer heat and mussing his hair. He wandered further, over the low
rolling hills before the forest. A dragonfly buzzed by; several
sparrows pecked at the grass just ahead of him, paying him no
mind.

Yes, sometimes Danny liked to be alone. No
one yelling. No one to bother him and make him feel bad. No
people.

And no Stickmen.

He stopped at a patch of bare dirt. He knelt
down. He picked up a thin stick and began to draw a picture in the
bare spot.

Tall and thin. Only two fingers on each hand
and two toes on each foot. No ears, no mouth, no nose.

Just a line where the eyes should be.

“Stick…men, stick…men, stick…men,” he
whispered to himself as he wielded the branch.

It didn’t take him long.

In a very short while, he’d drawn several of
the Stickmen, and also the front of their ship with that weird
trapezoidal window on the side.

Danny stood back up and gazed down at the
dirt sketch.

“The Stickmen…”

Another sudden cool breeze swept up,
ruffling his hair.

They’ll be coming soon, he thought
and turned and walked back home. They’re coming tonight…

 


 




CHAPTER NINE

 


Lynn still felt at odds about a lot of this,
even with the battered suitcase full of evidence swinging at the
end of her arm right this moment. She knew it was Harlan, of
course, the walking catastrophe, the living human lightning rod for
all things gone afoul.

She also knew that the world wasn’t fair
quite a bit of the time, and maybe—just maybe—Harlan had spend a
little more time at the bad end of the stick than was
reasonable.

And thinking about it now, she had to
consider that perhaps their marriage hadn’t worked because of that.
Harlan Garrett was arrogant, opinionated, and…arrogant. He firmly
believed in some of the most ludicrous things, and did not respond
well to disagreement.

But he was also a pretty decent guy when one
got down to it.

And not a bad lover, she
admitted.

But no man could have confidence in a
marriage and in love if he didn’t have confidence in himself. Bad
luck had batted Harlan out of the park too many times—mostly
through his own doing, yes—but in truth, he was always doing what
he believed was right.

Perhaps that’s why the marriage had soured
all too quickly. Deep down Harlan couldn’t be the man he really was
because ill fortune wouldn’t allow it. Hence he never felt good
enough about himself to be the kind of man Lynn needed to spend the
rest of her life with.

Poor Harlan.

And now…this.

She took the elevator to the hospital’s
basement, then found herself staring at a badly placed
directory.

PHLEBOTOMY, HISTOLOGY, ONCOLOGY, ENDOSCOPY,
KARIOLOGY, the incomprehensible signs read. CYTOPLASMOLOGIC
STEREOTERIC-AURISCOPY.

Jesus! she thought.

Then, finally, she found it: PATHOLOGY.

The long corridor extended, seeming much
longer than it could have been. Her high heels echoed to the point
that it began to get on her nerves. At last she found the door that
Harlan directed her to: OFFICE OF THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA MEDICAL
EXAMINER. Lynn opened the door

In the anteroom, she felt hemmed in by file
cabinets, bookshelves, and computers. On a cork bulletin board,
ragged notes were pinned: SEND BENSON-CASE BRAIN SLICES TO HOPKINS
ASAP. FED-EX FLECTHERSON SKIN TO McCRONE LABS. LUNCH AT PETE’S
PASTA PALACE FOR CONROY’S RETIREMENT ON WEDNESDAY.

Upon noticing no staff in the anteroom, Lynn
proceeded further, through another door, and soon found herself
standing in something that more resembled a high school biology
lab: long black-topped counters, sinks, Bunsen burners, shelving
full of bottled chemicals and preparations. A periodic chart hung
on the wall; mounted on the wall opposite was a light-case for
pinning up and reading x-rays. Noise from a commercial burbled from
a small television set on a shelf of reference books, and then Lynn
noticed a thirtyish woman with red hair and a white lab coat
jotting down notes at a cluttered desk.

Lynn opened up her ID wallet. “Excuse me.
I’m Agent Darnell of the Defense Intelligence Agency. I’m looking
for the deputy M.E., a Dr. Truini.”

The attractive red-head swiveled around on
her chair and looked up. “I’m Dr. Truini.” She eyed Lynn’s
identification, confounded. “The Defense Intelligence Agency? This
is the D.C. morgue. What on earth could the Defense Intelligence
Agency want with me?”

“Um, a man named Harlan Garrett sent me, he
said that you were a friend of his and that you might—”

“Harlan!” The doctor groaned, her face
crimping up at the mere name. “That crackpot no-account
chain-smoking government-conspiracy hippie-looking eight ball?
He sent you here?”

Lynn paused, to stifle the impulse to laugh.
She’s definitely got him down right, she thought. “He
doesn’t look like a hippie anymore; he cut his hair, and yes,
doctor, he’s the person who gave me your name and told me to get in
touch with you.”

Suddenly the woman was peering, her lips
parted in thought. “Wait a minute. What did you say your name
was?”

“Agent Darnell?”

“And your first name is…Lynn?”

“That’s right.”

The doctor, at once, slapped her knees hard.
“Oh my God this is too funny! You’re Harlan’s wife!”

“Ex-wife,” Lynn hastily
corrected.

“I’m Jessica!” the woman exclaimed, still
practically having a fit over the coincidence.

That’s when Lynn got it. “You’re—oh! And
you’re his girlfriend, right?”

“Ex-girlfriend,” Jessica hastily
corrected. “I dumped the poor son of a bitch a few days ago. Just
couldn’t put up with the you-know-what.”

“I definitely know where you’re coming from,
believe me.”

“He’s not a bad guy really, but he’s just
so—well, I don’t need to tell you. You were married to him for five
years.”

“Five years too many,” Lynn said.

“This is unreal, isn’t it?” But then
Jessica’s eyes reverted back to their original puzzlement. “What’s
this about? I don’t understand.”

“Well, let me put it this way,” Lynn
answered. “Something rather peculiar has come up.”

“Something that has to do with Harlan?”

“That’s right.”

“Oh, God,” Jessica bloomed. “I’ll bet this
is going to be a doozy. Let me guess. He got himself into trouble
with you guys, and you need me to testify against him.”

“No, nothing like that.”

“Oh…so then he’s not in jail again.”

“Uh, no.” Lynn stalled. “Let’s just say that
I have some…urgent business of a…classified nature that someone of
your technical expertise could probably help us with. But it’s
completely off-the-record, you understand. It’s more along the
lines of a favor.”

“Well, I dumped the dopy bastard pretty
hard; I guess it won’t kill me to do him a favor.”

“It’s not just for Harlan,” Lynn added.
“You’ll also be doing your government a favor.”

Jessica pinched her chin. “Wow. Peculiar is
right. Okay, I’ll do whatever I can. What have you got?”

“First, this.” Lynn placed a piece of paper
on the desk. “Before I show it to you, uh, I need you to sign this
form.”

What is it?”

“It’s no big deal, really. It’s a Federal
Secrecy Oath. It means that you’re swearing under the provisions of
the National Security Classified Secrets Act that you won’t tell
anyone about what I’m going to show you or tell you, under penalty
of law, provided by the United States Code. Violation of the oath
constitutes a serious federal crime that carries a maximum sentence
of life imprisonment and a $1,000,000 fine.”

Jessica’s mouth fell open. “Oh, is
that all?”
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God, what a long-ass drive through the
boonies, Harlan thought when he finally discovered the Post
entrance. And the sign made no bones about the kind of post this
was.

 


 


WELCOME TO THE EDGEWOOD ARSENAL

HOME OF THE U.S. ARMY MUNITIONS COMMAND

 


WARNING: THIS IS A RESTRICTED MILITARY
RESERVATION

TRESPASSERS WILL BE FIRED UPON VIA U.C.M.J.
USE-OF-DEADLY-FORCE GUIDELINES

 


Oh yeah, that’s what I call some
welcome. Garrett pulled the Malibu up the ‘40s-style gatehouse.
The giant STOP sign made it quite clear what he should do.

A buzz-cut young MP in khakis came out of
the gatehouse, his hand on his holstered sidearm.

“Hi, Sarge,” Garrett said.

“Identify yourself and state your
business.”

Friendly chap. Garrett passed him his
badge and ID, which the MP scrutinized. “I’ve got an appointment to
see a Major Shaw,” he explained. Along with the ID, Myers had used
his own “official” channels to make the appointment and had a cover
crew standing by in case any verification calls were made.

“Wait here,” the MP ordered. He went back to
the gatehouse where another solider manned a set of video screens.
Garrett could see the first MP on the phone; after a few moments he
came back out.

“Step out of the car,” he ordered.

Garrett’s gut sunk. Stay cool! “Look,
sergeant, if there’s some problem…”

The MP opened Garrett’s door. “Un-cleared
vehicles aren’t allowed on the base,” he informed as stonily as
possible.

This made sense to Garrett: even an
authorized visitor could have had explosives planted in his car
without his knowledge. But—

Garrett got out, frowning. “What, I have to
walk? It’s ninety degrees and ninety-percent humidity!” But just as
he’d voiced the complaint, another MP pulled up in a brand-new
dresden-blue Buick Skylark. “Here’s a vehicle at your
disposal.”

All right! It’s my lucky day! Garrett
celebrated. A car with air-conditioning!

“Your appointment with Major Shaw is
confirmed. “54th Battalion HQ, Building 4128.” Only now did the MP
show any trace of human emotion at all. He glanced at Garrett’s
ancient rust-flecked Malibu sitting next to the shiny new
Buick.

“I guess the FBI doesn’t pay much,” the MP
observed.

“No, they don’t,” Garrett said, sliding
happily into the Buick. “Have a good day…Smiley.”

Then Garrett was driving through the
check-point, onto the biggest ammo dump in the U.S. military.
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In the Security Liaison Office, Garrett
found Major Shaw to be quite a bit more congenial that the pit-bull
MP at the gate. Shaw was lean and wiry, with short brown hair and a
mustache, but not the dead-serious hardcore Army face Garrett
expected. He wore a black armband with bold white letters—ASA
CID—which Garrett instantly translated to Army Security Agency,
Criminal Investigations Division. Shaw, in other words, was the
post’s chief law-enforcement officer for any crimes involving
classified material or information, and here, in his plainly
painted office, he was briefing Garrett on the very controlled
device that had been stolen just a few days ago from this very
controlled facility.

“ADM,” the major recited. “Atomic demolition
munition. They were developed in the ‘50s; production ceased in the
late-’60s due to technological advancements. There are three
yield-types of this portable weapon system: Small, Medium, and
Heavy. What was stolen here was a Small. We call them SADMs. It had
a selectable yield of 0.5 to 1.5 kilotons.”

“The so-called ‘back-pack nuke,’” Garrett
acknowledged.

“Yes, sir, but that’s just typical liberal
misinformation. Even a Small ADM weighs 300 lbs. Try carrying
that in a backpack. The liberal press called them backpack
nukes because the timer-fuses and firing devices
could fit in a field pack. They want people to think that these
things can be toted around like someone’s box lunch, but that’s the
liberal press for you, huh? They want to print garbage in order to
scare the public into voting for candidates who want to cut the
defense budget.”

Gee, Garrett thought. I wonder if
this guy’s a Republican. “How do they work?”

“An ADM is nothing more than a simple
target-driver device. There’s really not that much to them with
regards to moving parts or sophistication. All the weight is in the
lead shielding, to protect the ignition and transport techs from
the radiation output. The

way it works is a conventional PETN charge
explodes and rams a small wedge of uranium into a larger uranium
pit, resulting in a crude nuclear detonation. Just think of
smacking two pieces of a fissionable material together real hard.
Small, cheap, efficient, easy to operate.”

Sounds like he’s talking about a
Veg-A-Matic, Garrett thought.

Shaw went on, “ADMs were the cheapest way to
take out big bridges, tank parks, and commo centers in NATO, back
when the Soviet threat was still raging.” “In other words, a
‘scorched-earth’ device,” Garrett observed.

“Yes, sir. That’s exactly right. Say there
was a war in Europe, and the Russians overran us. ADMs would be the
quickest and most efficient means to destroy our own material to
keep it out of enemy hands. We moved them all here when the Warsaw
Pact dissolved. And if you ask me, we ought to move them right back
there because it’s only a matter of time before Boris Yeltsin’s
liver pops and he goes down for the dirt nap, and then we’ve got
the Cold War all over again. The same threat only worse.”

Here’s one guy Al Gore can’t count
on for a vote. “And somebody stole one of these things,”
Garrett said.

“Yes, sir. One pit housing and one firing
assembly.”

The works, Garrett thought. “But this
is a low-yield device. It’s not the kind of thing that could wipe
out a city, is it?”

“No, just a city block. The safe distance
perimeter is a little over a thousand yards. It may not pack much
of a punch as far as modern nuclear weaponry goes, but if you
popped this off during rush hour in New York City, thousands would
die. Pop it off next to the Sears Tower, the Tower comes down. It’s
actually a perfect weapon for—”

“A terrorist group,” Garrett finished.
“They’d love to get their hands on something like this. Or one of
those right-wing militia groups. It would make a hell of a
statement, and they wouldn’t need two tons of fertilizer and diesel
fuel to do it.”

“And they don’t need a conspicuous vehicle,
either,” Shaw added. “An S-A-D-M will fit in the smallest car
trunk, a garbage can, a newspaper vending machine. And detonation
is simple. There aren’t any special codes or permissive-action
links required to set it off. Takes about two minutes to arm, then
you just set the timer and walk away. ASA’s got me full-time on the
theft. Their forensic team from Fort Gillem has been striking out
right and left.”

“Striking out?” Garrett questioned. Fort
Gillem, he knew, was the headquarters for the Army’s CDIC, their
version of the FBI’s forensic unit, and damn near just as skilled.
“You mean with their evidence findings?”

“That’s right, sir. It was raining on the
night in question. The perp somehow managed to get through a
bi-layered, 1500-volt electric fence.”

“Bolt-cutters?” Garrett presumed.

“No way. We’re not talking your average
back-yard fence here, It’s heat-treated wire made of sub-carbundum
steel alloy. Bolt-cutters wouldn’t do it; besides, the fencing
actually looked more like it had been pulled, or spanned, apart.
Probably a power-spreader or hydraulic retractors.”

Garrett fingered his chin, contemplating,
trying to picture it. “Okay, the fence—the perp or perps somehow
busted through the fence without getting electrocuted. What
next?”

“Next? He busted three milspec-grade
security padlocks on the storage vault’s door. That’s the real
kicker. Padlocks like this? You can put a 20mm round through them
and they won’t open. But this guy? He broke those locks like they
were plastic toys. Popped the bolt housings right off the tempered
shackles.”

“In other words, it wasn’t a crowbar that
did the job on the locks.”

“Impossible,” Shaw asserted. “For a piece of
work like that? Again, it had to be some model of hydraulic
retractors to be able to do it. You tell me how somebody got a
diesel-powered spreading tool like that into the compound without
any of the sentries hearing it.”

Garrett nodded, still calculating. “All
right, fine, but as impossible as it seems, the perp did it, and
then he wheeled the ADM off the compound, right?”

“That’s the weird thing, or I should say
one of the weird things,” Major Shaw divulged. “The device
wasn’t wheeled off, nor was it dragged off. It was raining,
and the depot perimeter, deliberately, is bare dirt. If the perp
had wheeled the ADM off on a hand truck, or even dragged it off,
there would’ve been wheelmarks or grooves in the mud. But there
weren’t. There were only footprints, a single set, leading in and
out.”

Garrett jacked an immediate brow. “Then the
perp must be a body-builder and then some. Even the strongest man
would have a hell of a time carrying off a 300-lb. bomb on
foot.”

“You’re telling me,” Shaw agreed. “But
that’s not even the weirdest part. The Army’s forensic crew,
particularly our latent-cast techs, are probably as good as yours,
probably as any evidence-analysis outfit in the world.”

Latent-cast techs, Garrett thought.
“Raining. Mud. Footprints.”

“You got it, sir. This was an ideal
crime scene as far as residual evidence is concerned. The
perpetrator left perfect latent tracks leading in and out of
the depot. But you know what our techs found, Agent Odenton?”

“I’m almost afraid to ask,” Garrett
replied.

“They found a shoe-sole pattern traced to a
U.S. manufacturer of tennis shoes called Stompers. You want to know
what else?”

Garrett fixed his gaze on the major.

“The shoe size was six-and-a-half,” Shaw
finished.

Garrett was floored by this shocking bit of
information. “Six-and-a-half,” he muttered. “Jesus Christ. That’s
the size of a kid’s shoe…”

 


 




CHAPTER TEN

 


A dream—

But all of life was a dream.

His legal name was Sanders, though he would
use a multitude of aliases throughout his career. And he would be
known, within the darkest warrens of clandestine operations, under
just as many “crypts”: SR/POINTER, TP/STOLE, MH/CHAOS. His last
cryptonym, a rover, was the one that had stuck: QJ/WYN.

In the dream he’d killed children because
children in Southeast Asia were just as deadly as the Vietminh and
the Vietcong. He chopped them down from about fifty yards with an
antique German MG-42 machine gun, part of the Waffen SS inventory
that had been granted to Stalin after World War II. The Soviets
used this old yet ever-reliable weaponry to discreetly arm the
Communist insurgents in Vietnam once Ho Chi Minh had buried the
French at Dienbienphu. Arms for might.

But this wasn’t Vietnam, this was Laos,
1961. Sanders’ unit hadn’t needed to wait eight more years for
Nixon’s secret authorization of bombing and incursions past the
Laotian border. Sanders got his orders from the CIA’s Directorate
of East Asian Operations. Back then, he was young and patriotic,
and his orders were his mission. Kennedy and MacNamara refused to
increase military aid, so it was Sanders’ job to find that aid
somewhere else. By keeping the Laotian heroin routes open clear to
Saigon, the Company’s ten-percent gross bought a lot of guns and
ammunition for the ARVNs.

Stopping the threat of global Communism was
more important than a few handfuls of peasant kids, many of whom
were sappers for the VC anyway. Sanders had seen it too many times.
Besides, processing the kids as refugees would be too risky. Too
many questions would be asked, and too many answered.

In war, people died. Children died.
It wasn’t Sanders’ fault the world was so flawed.

The stream of bullets, fired in deft
six-round bursts, had torn the line of children apart along with
their three adult teachers. No men were in the village; they were
all off in the field now, helping the Vietcong hide. When the
gunsmoke cleared, most of the children lay dead, exploded like
little bags of blood. But a few still twitched with life.

That’s when Sanders ordered in the rest of
his team, to execute the wounded and burn the village down,
and—

—and when he awoke, he was almost forty
years older. Chiefly nocturnal, he slept during the day. He lay
awake now in the motel bed registered under a false name that was
untraceable. Two hours of sleep twice a day was all his practiced
metabolism needed, even after all these decades.

And after all these decades, the principles
of life hadn’t really changed. When something threatened to
obstruct or taint those principles, men had to die.

Sometimes children too.
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Garrett had finally found a pack of
cigarettes in the post PX, but he scarcely felt the nicotine’s
savory kick when he took the first drag. A kid’s shoe, he
thought over and over again. A kid’s sneaker print…

As the sun baked down on his back, Garrett
sat smoking on the butt of the cement planter wall that rung around
the Edgewood Arsenal’s Redepositions Battalion: a series of cheap
but gleaming Quonset huts situated on the post’s western edge. No
hardware was stored here, just processing and location files,
hundreds of thousands of them, no doubt.

Garrett was waiting for the man in charge of
all that paper.

He looked at the personnel photo from the
files that Swenson had given him. A surprisingly young guy, with
beaming eyes and a hearty smile. A chief warrant
officer-grade-three.

Obviously Swenson had been passing the
protectorate torch down to younger men as the old MJ-12 members
died off from natural and not-so-natural causes. Garrett wondered
how many other such torches had been passed.

Just as Garrett ground out his third
cigarette under his shoe, the man he was looking for walked briskly
out of the building, heading for the parking lot.

Garrett walked up from behind.

“Are you Chief Warrant Officer Ubel?”

Ubel turned, flagged at once by Garrett’s
civilian clothes. “That’s right, unless I just got demoted and
nobody told me. Who’re you?”

“Did you know that Urslig, Farrell, and
General Swenson are dead?” Garrett asked.

Ubel’s face blanked. “Sorry, sir. I’ve never
heard of the people you’re referring to.”

“You sure about that? They were all murdered
within the last several days. They were executed.”

Ubel kept up the necessary method-act of
non-confirmation. “Sorry, sir. You must be mistaking me for someone
else. I don’t know anybody by those names.”

“Well maybe here’s a name you
do know. Icarus.”

Ubel faltered. “Really, I’ve do no idea what
you’re—”

Garrett grabbed Ubel’s arm. “Let me tell you
something, Mr. Ubel. Back in Washington, I’ve got a friend of mine
analyzing something. It’s something that my dear friend General
Swenson gave me. You want to know what that something
is?”

Ubel stared, the color in his face
fading.

“It’s part of an alien skeleton that was
recovered in April, 1962, near Nellis Air Force Base,” Garrett
finished.

Ubel rubbed his face, the anxiety starting
to gnaw at him. “Come on. We better go someplace secure to
talk.”
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“So you’re the guy Swenson sent?”

“Yeah,” Garrett answered, lighting a
cigarette.

“But you’re not military. What, FBI, like
Urslig?”

“Don’t ask,” Garrett said, spewing smoke.
What could he say? I’m a tabloid writer. I write for kook
magazines.

Garrett sat in the passenger side of Ubel’s
car, an olive-green Army sedan. Ubel had driven them out of the
base’s duty sectors, quite a ways, and had parked on a remote dirt
road, at the top of an incline near the woods. The sun began to
recede at last, orange molten light dripping behind the trees.

“Swenson knew that you’d need help now that
Urslig and Farrell are out of the picture,” Garrett explained.

“Then you must know about Sanders too,” Ubel
speculated.

“The bastard didn’t even have the courtesy
to let the cancer take Swenson. But I only know part of the story.
Didn’t Sanders used to be part of the group?”

Ubel was staring blankly out into the trees.
“Something like that. The group was originally made up of several
MJ-12 men.”

“But as they died off, Swenson recruited
replacements,” Garrett reckoned.

“Right. Farrell, for instance, the judge.
And Jack Urslig,” Ubel verified. “I was a replacement too. The guy
before me, believe it or not, was a former chairman of the National
Security Council. Swenson handpicked the replacements.”

“So what happened with Sanders?” Garrett
queried. “Why’d he go renegade? Did he go nuts?”

“No, nothing like that. And he didn’t go
renegade. He was an original member too, sort of the security
officer. He simply switched sides, and we don’t even know who the
other side is.”

“A rogue cell?”

“Probably. Probably some isolated CIA
circle.”

Great, Garrett thought in
frustration. That’s just what I need.

Ubel looked over. “So you have the whole
package, I take it?”

“Yeah. Swenson’s instructions implied that
you would explain the pieces that don’t fit. It has something to do
with Swenson himself, doesn’t it? And a kid, a military dependent
named Danny Vander who claims he’s been abducted.”

“You’ve done your homework. Swenson and
Danny Vander have one very crucial thing in common.”

Garrett’s brow creased. He couldn’t even
guess.

“Swenson was abducted too,” Ubel said in the
driest tone.

Garrett felt like a flower pot had just been
dropped on his head. “You’re kidding me. Abducted?”

“By a vehicle very similar to the one that
blew up over Nellis Air Force Base in 1962.”

Garrett’s eyes went wide as slot-machine
slugs. He was speechless at this jolt of information.

“It was me, Swenson, Farrell, and Sanders,”
Ubel continued. He spoke in a dread monotone, as if confessing to
murder. “Sanders was our cover-man. Farrell was the most highly
decorated officer in JAG, heading for a job with the feds on the
U.S. Appellate Court, and rumored to be an eventual Supreme Court
appointee.”

“In other words, a judge with some serious
influence.”

“Exactly. Plus there was another guy, a
general at Arlington Hall—”

“Army Intelligence,” Garrett recognized.

Ubel nodded the affirmative. “When he died
of old age, that’s when Urslig came into the picture later. Swenson
recruited him, because as an FBI agent he could monitor any Justice
Department moves against us. It was our own private little
shadow-group. Swenson built the whole thing from scratch, and now I
guess you’re wondering why.”

Garrett could only keep staring,
incredulous. “You got that right.”

“Because when Swenson was abducted shortly
after the Nellis Crash, the aliens…told him some things.”
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Danny was tired of drawing, but he stayed
down in the basement just the same. By now his parents had stopped
yelling at each other but that didn’t mean it was okay to go back
upstairs. His mother would be real quiet, and his father would be
too. It was his father’s silence that bothered Danny the most. Just
the look in his eyes was as bad as him yelling. So Danny decided to
stay down here until someone called him up for dinner.

But it wasn’t long before—

No, please!

—before his face began to feel hot and then
his head felt like someone was squeezing it with a giant pair of
pliers.

No…

The headache came back. Suddenly he was
holding his head, tears oozing from his eyes. The pain was bad—it
always was—but somehow the worst parts were the memories, because
the headaches always made him remember—

 


—and he remembers again. It feels so real,
though, sometimes he doesn’t know if he’s actually remembering or
if it’s really happening again.

He’s standing inside the ship now, in a tall
thin hallway of light. He’s following one of the Stickmen down the
hall, and the hall is humming. The Stickman is taking him by the
hand, Danny’s five-fingered hand clasped inside of the
Stickman’s two-fingered hand. On the left and right he sees
the trapezoid windows and he thinks Wow! because he knows
it’s dark outside now but the windows make it look like daylight
and he can see things in great detail. He sees a four-leaf clover
in the grass, he can see several tree frogs climbing up a muddy
branch in the creek behind the baseball field, he can see ants in
the grass.

When he looks up, he can see the moon and
all the craters and peaks. The harder he looks at it, the closer it
seems to get, until he can even sees flag and pieces of equipment
that astronauts have left up there.

He can see satellites orbiting the
earth.

He’s never afraid of the Stickmen, not here,
not when he’s with them. The Stickmen are nice to him, and they
seem to know about the bad things in Danny’s life. They know about
his father and mother, and they know how bad he feels sometimes.
They seem to be sorry for something.

The light inside the hallway would be
blinding, but Danny can see just fine. The ship is long and thin;
it’s like a white tunnel. Every so often he passes an object
mounted on the curved wall that looks like controls for something,
with blinking multi-colored lights like slits.

The further the Stickman leads Danny through
the ship, the louder the humming gets, but even though the humming
is loud, he starts to hear things in it.

Things that sound like words.

Words in his head.

When he gets to what he guesses is the back
of the ship, the bright light dies down. Now he’s in a darker room
tinged with reds and yellows, and he can see that several other
Stickmen are there too.

Then the first Stickman turns around and
leans over to face Danny.

He sees the Stickman’s face real close now,
but it’s not really a face at all. More like a stub of pale-pink
flesh. No ears, mouth, or nose, either. Only a single slit for
eyes.

The slit blinks.

Danny isn’t afraid at all when the Stickman
begins to talk and begins to tell him what to do—

 


—and then—

 


—and then the headache was gone, and Danny
felt fine. He leaned up from where he’d been laying his head
against the work table.

He remembered what the Stickmen had told
him.

They told him exactly what to do and exactly
where to go. He’d need the glove again, of course, the glove they’d
given him the first time they’d come.

Well, it was sort of a glove. It only
had two fingers in it, so it didn’t fit right, but—

“Danny!” his mother’s voice suddenly called
down from upstairs. “Dinner’s ready! “Be right there, Mom!”

Danny got up off the work bench stool and
went up the basement steps. He hoped they were having something
good tonight, like fish sticks or cheese dogs.

“Don’t forget to turn off the light.”

Oh, yeah, he thought. I always
forget that.

At the top of the landing, Danny switched
off the basement lights.

Then darkness fell on everything down below:
the stacks of old moving boxes, the sheet-covered piece of
furniture mom didn’t like any more, and all the other old basement
stuff.

The darkness fell on a couple of other
things, too, that Danny had hidden well behind the moving boxes: a
green canvas sack and an olive-drab box about the size of a
portable television set.

Embossed letters on the box read:

 


CONTENTS: ONE (1) (S-)A-D-M:

(SMALL) ATOMIC DEMOLITION MUNITION

 


 




CHAPTER ELEVEN

 


Each job required a select wardrobe, so to
speak. Right now, Sanders wore Army BDUs with the rank of full-bird
colonel, and had phony TDY orders in case he was stopped. Getting
onto the post had been uneventful; he’d simply driven on in the
HUM-V with U.S. Army plates and ID stickers from Fort Meade,
Maryland. The orders had been called in and passed.

How many men have I killed? came the
sudden and peculiar thought. Peculiar because it was honestly the
first time the question had ever occurred to him.

The question pricked at him for several
moments. He didn’t quite know why, and then he thought of old women
on their death bed trying to remember the tally of lovers in their
lives. Eventually, though, Sanders realized that his death
tally, by now, was probably incalculable.

Hundreds, he knew. That was fine.

Death was relative anyway.

In his lap lay the pieces of the black
Barrett M82A2 semi-automatic sniper rifle. In his rather qualified
opinion, it was the best in the business, pure and simple. In his
time, Sanders had used them all: the H&Ks, the
Steyr-Mannlichers, the Marine M40 variants. But this put them all
to shame. It was the only long-range sniper rifle that fired
absolutely flat every time.

Zero lift and fall at half a mile.

Made in Murfreesboro, Tennessee, the long
ugly weapon housed a fat eleven-round snap-clip and chambered a
specialized .50-caliber semi-jacketed round loaded with more RDX
explosive propellent than filled a typical Mark IV hand grenade.
The Bausch & Lomb scope only made death more of a certainty.
The sodium paste sealed in the projectile’s flattened tip would
explode upon impact. With a weapon like this, Sanders could
definitely reach out and touch someone.

He assembled the weapon in a matter of
moments, then inserted the magazine, and jacked back the charging
handle with a loud, metallic CLACK!

Sanders shouldered the weapon; when he did
so, the twenty-six-pound rifle became an integral part of his
anatomy, an extra arm. He brought his cheek to the right side of
the stock, lined up his sight, then began to rove the target
area.

He flicked off the manual safety on the
other side of the receiver, then began to lay the reticle’s
crosshairs on the primary target’s head.

This was one kill Sanders definitely needed
to add to his tally, this writer named Harlan Garrett.

 


««—»»

 


Ubel bummed one of Garrett’s cigarettes. “I
quit a couple of years ago…but I guess now is a decent time to
start up again.”

Garret lit the guy’s smoke for him. “You
were saying?”

“It was some osmotic or telepathic mode that
they used to communicate to Swenson. They didn’t have voices, not
like we have; it was more like a sound they projected into his
head. It was almost as if they’d selectively jimmied his memory; he
knew he’d been abducted, but he could never remember how. And for a
short time after the abduction, they maintained some kind of mental
contact with him. It brought on incredible headaches, but he was
certain they were communicating with him, gicing him vital
information. That’s why they abducted him in the first place. To
tell him.”

“To tell him what?” Garrett asked.

“The first thing they told him was that the
first ship crashed because of a wavelength flux. It’s some kind of
gauss-matter propulsion system that’s not compatible with the
earth’s EM field. That first vehicle stayed past the flux margin,
so their fuel elements lost power—”

Garrett had read about the theories in
numerous physics books. “—causing an overload of some sort of
buffer system. I’ve know all about the gauss-matter hypotheses. It
would be like yanking nuclear fuel rods out of a graphite
absorption block. The eventual result would be an explosion.”

“That’s the way Swenson figured it, and we
all agreed. It was the only thing that made sense. But when they
abducted the General, they also told him that they’d be returning
sometime in the future, and that if we interfered with that return,
some very cataclysmic things could happen. So that’s why we formed
our own group. Swenson jinked all the paperwork, and lied to eight
Presidents. He didn’t trust the government to take him seriously,
and neither did we.”

Garrett didn’t quite get it. “What do you
mean? He jinked what paperwork?”

“General Swenson never reported his own
abduction,” Ubel revealed. “Not to the members of his own Aerial
Intelligence Command, not to anyone else in the government or
Defense Department, and after that he produced counterfeit
records that claimed the Nellis bodies were transferred to
Wright-Patterson Air Force Base, Hanger 1166, part of the Air Force
Foreign Technology Division. Unfortunately, not too long ago, our
good friend Sanders went over, with everything he knew. He didn’t
know everything, mind you, but he knew enough. He blew the whistle
on us to someone at NSC or maybe even the executive branch, so now
he’s working for them. Why? Because no one but Swenson, Urslig, and
I ever knew where the Nellis skeletons are actually being
stored.”

The answer bloomed in Garret’s mind like an
ugly hot-house flower. “It’s here, right? Swenson said as much.
You’ve got those skeletons hidden somewhere on this post, haven’t
you?”

“Um-hmm. And right now, no one in the world
knows that except for you, me, and Sanders.” Ubel looked right at
Garrett. “But only I know exactly where.”

“I see.”

“That’s how Swenson wanted it. Only one guy
in the group could ever know the exact location of the bodies. Me.
Because I’m assigned here, I have the greatest control. The
Edgewood Reservation occupies more land that most major cities.
They could dig out here for years and never find it. They could
tear up every building, warehouse, and vault on this post and
never find the spot.”

Garrett rubbed a hand across his five
o’clock shadow. “It’s in your best interest to tell me, you know
that. The rest of the group is dead—you’re the only one left. You
don’t have to know how to clone sheep to figure out that you’re on
Sanders’ list too. Only he won’t kill you—not until you give him
the information. And I have a pretty good feeling that a guy like
Sanders has some foolproof ways of making people talk. You’re next,
Mr. Ubel. I can guarantee it.”

“I know that,” Ubel said. “But I’m not sure
what to do. How do I know I can trust you?”

“For God’s sake, man. You trusted Swenson,
didn’t you? Swenson sent me to find you.”

“Or so you say.”

Garrett grit his teeth in frustration.
“What? I’m making it up to trick you? I stole the files and
that arm from Swenson? Then why would I come here?”

“To get the location from me,” Ubel
said.

“All right.” Garrett pulled back his jacket,
showing the 9mm Sig pistol stuck in his pants. “If I was working
for the other side, I’d have this gun to your head right now,
right? I’d be shooting your kneecaps off to give up the exact
location.”

Ubel eyed Garrett behind a hint of fear.

Garrett removed the pistol and cocked it.
“Isn’t that what I’d be doing? First your kneecaps, then your
elbows, then your hips and your shins?”

“Uh, yeah. I guess you would.”

Garrett handed the pistol to Ubel. “So if
you can’t trust me, buddy, you can’t trust
anyone.”

Ubel hefted Garrett’s gun, looked at it. “I
guess you’ve made your point.” Then he relaxed in the driver’s
seat. “Area November, Depot 12,” he revealed. “It’s not on the base
grid map, it never has been. I’ve got the directions and the lock
combinations stashed back at my barracks. There’re also some
documents stashed behind the refrigerator. So if I don’t make
it—you’ve got to go to my place and get the stuff.”

“Area November, Depot 12,” Garrett recited,
relieved. “But what about the kid, Danny Vander? That’s another
part that I can’t figure. Is he the one who stole the ADM?”

“We have to assume so. There’s no other
explanation.”

“But how is that possible? The ADM weighs
three or four times more than he does. He’s just a little kid.”

“He’s a little kid being aided and abetted
by extraterrestrial lifeforms,” Ubel reminded.” He returned
Garrett’s pistol. “In case I get waxed, you have to do everything
you can to ensure that the kid is allowed to do what he sets out to
do. Even if it means killing Army personnel. If Danny Vander is not
allowed to set off that ADM at exactly the right time, then…
Christ, I don’t know what will happen. Who knows what those
things might do in retaliation?”

Now Garret’s confusion crested. “You’re
asking me to help somebody set off a nuclear
weapon?”

“That’s right,” Ubel affirmed. “This isn’t
Dr. Strangelove. That ADM only has a yield of half a kiloton. The
safe-distance demarcation is only 2000 meters, and the depot is
underground. There isn’t even any fallout, it’s so low-yield. We
have to get that kid to Depot 12 on time. And the time is
tonight.”

Garrett nearly spat out his cigarette.
“Tonight!”

“Yep. Tonight.”

“But why?” Garrett insisted. “Why to we have
to ensure the detonation of an ADM? What the hell is so damned
important about blowing up a bunch of skeletons?”

Ubel’s face was beginning to shadow in the
early dusk. “Well, see, that’s the catch,” he said. “They’re
not skeletons.”

 


««—»»

 


The actual morgue suite wasn’t quite what
Lynn expected. High fluorescent fixtures veiled her in flat white
light. Plain white-tile walls, a drain in the floor, and only one
autopsy table. A rush of sudden fumes in the air chafed her sinuses
and watered her eyes.

“The fixation fluids are tough if you’re not
used to them,” Jessica said, getting into her autopsy greens. “But
don’t worry, in a few minutes the fumes will kill enough brain
receptors that you won’t notice it anymore.”

“What!”

Jessica rolled her eyes. “It’s a
joke. I was joking.”

“Oh.”

Behind her stood a flank of stainless-steel
cabinets, and some shelves full of equipment. A pan scale depended
from the ceiling directly over the table, like an odd hanging
flowerpot. Some other sort of apparatus was mounted on the ceiling
too, folded up on hinged, pivoting arms. Lynn couldn’t imagine what
it was.

Jessica snapped on a pair of latex gloves,
then lay the subject of her exam in the middle of the guttered,
rulered, height-adjustable table. She turned on a small tape
recorder.

“The post-mortal subject is approximately
twenty-six inches long. It appears to be the forearm pronation of
a—”

Jessica stopped; she looks blanched,
overwhelmed. It was if the reality of what she was doing had
assailed her after the fact. She turned to Lynn, afret. “Look, I’m
sorry, but this is too much! I don’t think this thing is fake
and—Jesus!—if it’s not fake then-then-then it must be
real!”

“Calm down, Jessica,” Lynn said. “Get a
grip. You’re a doctor; it’s a doctor’s job to be objective. Relax,
will you?”

Jessica glared back. “I’m doing a post on
the skeletal structure of an alien arm, and you’re telling
me to relax? Look, I’m just the assistant around here. My idea of a
big day is indexing toe tags and looking at cell-smears in a
microscope. I’m not qualified for this!”

“You’re a trained pathologist,” Lynn
reminded her. “You’re perfectly qualified. All we need is a prelim
exam recitation.”

But Jessica’s professional self-esteem
seemed to run right down into the drain in the floor. She kept
shooting appalled glances at the bones on the table. “This is
crazy! That thing on the table is not from a human
being! Shouldn’t somebody in the government be doing this?”

Oh, boy. This woman’s going ape-shit on
me, and she’s asking all the wrong questions. “That
would defeat the purpose,” she admitted. “We’re trying to
conceal this from the government.”

“Why?” Jessica nearly wailed.

“Because at this point we don’t know which
government branches can be trusted, all right? We need your help on
this. Harlan needs your help.”

“Harlan!” the woman exclaimed. “That
crackpot hippie loser is the last person I’m going to stick
my neck out for!”

Smart move, Lynn, Lynn thought. Then
she just yelled: “Stop acting like a stupid red-headed insecure
bimbo and do your job!”

The rant gave Jessica the jolt she needed.
“You’re right, you’re right. I’m a professional.”

“Yes, you are. Now get a grip on yourself
and continue. This is a historic occasion, and remember—you’re part
of it.”

Jessica rubbed her gloved hands together,
nodding. She took several deep breaths, then returned her
attentions to the morgue slab. “The post object appears to be the
forearm pronation of a…non-terrestrial being, severed at what we
would think of as the styloid process, or the elbow. An extremity
is attached, via something akin to a pair of carpel-like pisiformic
and lunate bones. The extremitic process appears to be possessed of
one three-jointed opposable thumb and one long four-jointed
finger.”

That’s better. But now Lynn, after
all of her lecturing, got a bit of a jolt herself, when she took
her as yet closest look at the skeletal arm.

The charred-black forearm and twin,
pincer-like fingers.

Not from this world.

The reality of the image brought a sudden
sensation of ice-water filling her gut, and snakes were swimming in
the ice-water.

Good God. Harlan really did it this
time…

Jessica was gingerly fixing down the charred
forearm bone in a double-vise mounted on the side of the morgue
platform. Then, with a long course file, she ground several bone
particles off the bone, letting the grindings fall into a tin she
held below the vise.

“What are you doing?” Lynn asked.

“You want a geochronologic analysis, don’t
you?”

“A…what?”

“A carbon-date. Don’t you want to know how
old this thing is?”

Lynn hadn’t even thought of that. “Good
idea. Go for it. But doesn’t that take a long time?”

“Sure, it involves a series of sophisticated
cosmogenic and chemical analyses whose results are then processed
together: a Libby Test, a radioisotope scan, a Marcellin Treatment.
It takes about a month for all the labs to get the tests back. What
I’m doing now is the first stage—a sample collection and carbon-14
scale. I put the filings in the mass-photo-spectrometer for an
isotopic scale read-out. A high-temp element burns the filings into
a gas phase, then the spectrometer will give us a percentile carbon
makeup.”

Wow, I guess she really does know
what she’s doing. “How long does that take?”

“About five minutes.”

Jessica put the scrapings into a
thimble-sized crucible. Then she walked over to one of the machines
on the shelves and lowered the thimble into a cylindrical opening,
over which she closed a hatch. She flicked a switch and suddenly a
hissing drone could be heard. Lynn watched, fascinated.

Five minutes later, a printer spat out a
single sheet of paper, and when Jessica looked at it, she said,
“Holy shit…”

“What?”

Jessica walked back to the exam table,
turned the recorder back on. “A preliminary carbon-14 index of the
post subject proved negative, which indicates that either the
testing equipment is defective…or that the post subject lacks
elemental carbon.”

“Holy shit,” Lynn repeated the doctor’s
remark. It had always been her understanding that all living things
were molecularly based on carbon…

From under the exam table, Jessica pulled up
a hand-held orbital saw. “I am now going to cut the post subject at
the center of the radial/ulnar process,” she told Lynn and the tape
recorder, “in order to inspect the marrow fissure and take a
culture and histological sample.”

Lynn grit her teeth and winced when Jessica
pulled the saw’s trigger-like power button. The saw whined like a
dentist’s drill. But then the whine turned to a shriek when Jessica
bore the blade down against the alien bone. Black dust flew up as
the saw began to cut a groove into the bone. A trace of the
faintest smoke rose, and so did a vaguely unpleasant smell, like
wire-insulation burning. Then—

“JESUS!” Jessica yelled over the saw’s
irritating shriek. Lynn flinched at the start. The saw’s motor
wound down when Jessica released the trigger.

“I don’t believe this!” Jessica loudly
complained. She held up the saw. The blade was smoking.

Lynn could clearly see that all of the
blade’s teeth had worn off.

“These saws can cut through cinderblocks and
concrete like butter!” Jessica exclaimed. “But I only got—” With a
magnifying glass, she looked at the groove she’d cut on the bone.
“Jesus! Looks like about a millimeter before the blade wore
out!”

“Barely a scratch,” Lynn observed.

“Yeah. Barely.” Disgruntled, Jessica
reclaimed some semblance of composure and spoke again toward the
tape recorder. “The, uh…the bone structure of the post subject
resisted my attempt to cut it after less than one millimeter. The
saw’s diamond-bit blade…has been worn smooth…”

Next, almost vengefully, Jessica reached
upward and hauled down the odd apparatus mounted on the ceiling.
Its spring-hinged arms extended, and there seemed to be cables
running through them. At the end was a white cone with a
handle.

“I am now going to attempt to sever the
radial/ulnar structure with the suite’s surgical laser,” Jessica
announced to the recorder. She grabbed the handle and wended the
cone to the charred bone, and when she pushed a button on the side,
there was a sound like a hiss from a leaking inner tube. Lynn
noticed the tiniest thread of black smoke rise when the laser’s
emission-tip touched the bone. Jessica held it down for at least a
minute, then grimaced, depowered the laser, and swung it aside.

“Shit!”

“Anything?” Lynn asked.

Jessica sniped her answer into the tape
recorder. “My attempt to cut the post subject with the laser has
failed. The emission beam seems to only have scratched the surface
of the bone process, maybe only a few more microns than the
saw.”

That’s some bone, Lynn said.

Jessica turned away, simmering. She snapped
off her gloves and threw them across the room.

“This is impossible!”

“Calm down—”

“That’s a carbon-dioxide laser! It’ll cut
through tempered titanium for Christ’s sake! It’ll cut
anything! I give up!”

But during Jessica’s tirade, Lynn was
staring wide-eyed past her shoulder. Her mouth fell open but no
words came out.

“What’s wrong?” Jessica asked.

Lynn slowly pointed to the morgue slab. When
Jessica turned around and saw what she was pointing at, her mouth
fell open too. They were both looking at the bone on the table.

It wasn’t a bone anymore.

It was now covered with skin—wet, shiny,
pale-pinkish skin—under which muscle fibers and veins could clearly
be seen.

 


 




CHAPTER TWELVE

 


“What do you mean, they’re not skeletons?”
Garrett hotly asked. He was getting agitated. “I saw the forearm,
Swenson gave it to me. It was charred bone. It was
part of a goddamn skeleton.”

“Not quite,” Ubel countered. “These beings
do have a skeletal structure that essentially serves the same
purpose as any skeletal structure, and that’s part of what you
saw—that forearm and hand.”

Garrett shook his head, brushing his hair
back in frustration. “But you just got done saying it’s
not a skeleton!”

“It’s not.”

Garrett slumped in the car and lit another
cigarette.

“I guess this is a little confusing, huh?”
Ubel went on.

“Oh?”

“It’ll be easier for you to understand if I
put it this way. The bones aren’t just bones.”

Garrett grinned sarcastically. “Oh, that
clears it all up. Stupid me.”

“What I mean is—”

Those were the last words that Ubel would
ever speak.

At that instant, Garrett had leaned over to
flick his cigarette out the window, and after that—chaos. Myriad
things seemed to take place in the same fraction of a second. A
loud thwack-BOOM! cracked from a distance. The driver’s-side
window exploded, and suddenly tiny bits of glass were blowing
around the inside of the car, stinging Garrett’s face. The car
rocked on its springs. Instinct grabbed Garrett’s nerves; he ducked
down into the footwell, his face is peppered with blood. When he
looked up—

Holy shit…

—he saw Ubel slumped and obviously dead in
the driver’s seat. The hole in the warrant officer’s chest—centered
just to the left, perfectly over the heart—looked big enough to
admit a fist. Blood freely eddied out of the ragged hole as Ubel’s
body teitched a few times via autonomic nerves, then fell still.
Smoke wafted up from the hole, and within, Garrett could see
strands of veins emptying, lungs hanging, bone shards sticking out
sharp as needles.

Oh fuck oh fuck oh fuck!

Garrett’s heart seemed to palpitate; fear
was running through his veins right along with his blood. Then,
when he considered the angle at which Ubel had been shot, it
occurred to him: The bullet hit him at the exact same second I
leaned over to flick my cigarette…

The bullet was meant for me.

Garrett, still hunkered down in the
footwell, glanced around uselessly. If he shoved Ubel’s body out
the door and tried to drive the car away, his back and head would
be exposed to the rifle fire.

Oh fuck oh fuck oh fuck!

Garrett knew he didn’t have much time to
think—or live, for that matter. But the car was parked on an
incline, atop a low hill. Garrett reached up and put the car into
neutral.

Go go go! Garrett screamed in his
mind as the Army sedan began to roll down the grassy incline.

Thwack-BOOM!

Another round socked into the car, then
another. The car rocked back and forth at the impact…but kept
rolling downward.

Garret jostled along with the vehicle’s
suspension. Gravity pulled the car along until it began to pick up
considerable speed. Still jammed down into the footwell, Garrett
braced himself for the inevitability and then—

Garrett clacked his teeth closed and shut
his eyes when the car’s front end collided solidly into a stout
tree at the bottom of the hill.

More glass shook out of the windshield,
raining down on him. More ear-pounding thwacks resounded as
more bullets hit the car. Well what are you going to do,
moron! Garrett frantically shouted at himself. You just
gonna sit here? DO something!

Then—

Thwack-BOOM!

The next hit lifted the vehicle several
inches off the ground. Garrett drew his pistol and quickly crawled
over Ubel’s bloodied body. Keeping his head down, he popped open
the driver’s door and shimmied himself out of the car onto the
ground.

On his belly now, he crawled several feet
through some thorny brambles. At one point his hand landed in a
rotten possum carcass…but he was too scared to notice. Eventually
he managed to duck behind the same fat elm tree that the car had
smashed into. Where is he? Why did he stop shooting? he
thought in panic.

Thwack-BOOM!

A moment after the giveaway sound, the was a
CRACK! as a large chunk of the tree he stood behind blew
away. Garrett’s face, only inches away, could feel the odd and
scary concussion of the impact. The hundred-foot tree actually
shook, and a cloud of fresh splinters exploded where Garrett’s head
had been only a split-second previously. He could smell sap
burning. The gouge in the tree looked as big as a duckpin ball.

What the fuck has he got up there?
Garret thought, frenzied. A goddamn howitzer?

He shot his arm out, aiming Lynn’s black
pistol at the puff of smoke he glimpsed a good three hundred yards
up the hillock. Try some of this, dickhead he thought, and
squeezed the trigger. He squeezed real hard.

Nothing happened.

“JESUS!” He pulled the gun back, fumbled
with its incomprehensible switches. Where’s the fuckin’ safety
on this thing! His fingers desperately pushed things until he
heard a click. Then he aimed again and fired.

The gun jumped in his hand as he squeezed
off three successive rounds. Then he ducked back behind the tree,
sputtering at the futility and the distance.

I might as well be shooting rubber bands
at the guy, he realized.
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Sanders held his mark. Waiting was the
sniper’s ultimate discipline. Cheek to composite stock, he merely
waited, motionless as a figure carved in stone. He waited and
watched. Frankly, he was disappointed with himself: he’d already
missed with several shots.

That wasn’t like him.

But the target’s good luck was always the
sniper’s most exciting challenge.

Bright green leaves on low-hanging branches
obscured the target lane; this, however, was inconsequential to
him. He kept the scope’s thread-fine cross-hairs on the tree.
Eventually, he knew, Harlan Garrett’s head and a slice of his upper
body would appear to take some more feeble pistol shots up the
hill. The charcoal-grey suit jacket showed up well behind the
wreckage of the car and the background of green leaves.

Sanders took a full breath, then let half of
it out. This was how snipers breathed, in calculated, dead-slow
snatches.

Got him, he thought.

As predicted, Garrett appeared again from
behind the tree. Before the man could even finish aiming his
pistol, Sanders had already depressed the rifle’s sear-pinned
trigger and sent a sodium-tipped .50-caliber round into the matrix
as a velocity of 2,700 feet per second.

Yeah, got him, he thought again when
he saw Garrett’s head explode like a ripe melon in the
cross-hairs.

The sight was spectacular.

Garrett’s body fell to the ground behind the
tree.

Gun smoke hung as a vaporous wraith; the
aftermath was always eerily silent and scented with cordite.
Sanders liked the ethereal sensation. He stalked down the hill,
just along the inside of the wood line. His gloved hands gripped
the rifle at a loose order arms position. He took his time, so not
to make undo noise, stepping as quietly as possible over the
underbrush. Several minutes later, he made it to Ubel’s sedan,
which was punched full of holes. Luminescent-green antifreeze
dribbled from the crushed grill.

Letting Ubel get away was part of Sander’s
plan; given the circumstances of what was going to happen later
tonight, he shouldn’t be hard to find.

And the kid would be a cinch.

He stepped around the wrecked car, proceeded
toward the tree. Garrett’s decapitated body lay belly-down at the
foot of the tree…but already Sanders knew that something was
wrong.

Garrett was wearing a dark-gray suit jacket
and slacks.

Not khaki slacks, Sander thought.

With the massive gun barrel, he poked at the
headless body and flipped it over onto its back.

Damn it…

When the jacket fell open, it clearly was
not Garrett’s body wearing it. Just above the gaping chest wound
Ubel’s black plastic nametag was all too plain.

Sanders knelt down, took some cover, and
scanned the perimeter with his binoculars. Harlan Garrett was
nowhere to be seen.
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Garrett’s ploy had worked, but he also knew
it was a false relief. He’d managed to run out of the other side of
the woods, and as luck would have it, his exit had brought him to a
post road, and more luck: he’d been able to hitch a ride back to
the main sector of the base.

He took some time to calm down from the
trauma of almost being killed, and then to wash up in the small,
hot wooden billet the Army had provided for him.

Get a grip, get a grip, he kept
thinking, washing speckles of Ubel’s blood off his face before the
bathroom mirror. His hand shook as he combed his hair; his teeth
chattered in the aftermath of shock.

“I’m alive now,” he whispered to his
reflection, “but I won’t be for long if I don’t get my ass out of
here.” That much was for certain.

Men like Sanders didn’t simply give up when
they failed to “dispatch” an “assignment.” Garrett knew it wouldn’t
be long before the man known as QJ/WYN was back on the hunt.

He had no idea how much Sanders knew, so it
made the most sense to assume the worst. Sanders probably has
access to the same information as me, probably more, Garrett
woefully concluded. He probably knows where I have to go, so he
could be waiting for me…

Garrett doubted that Sanders would miss if
he got a second chance.

He was just about to slip out the back of
the billet when the cell phone Myers had given him rang.

“That you, Lynn?” he asked.

Lynn’s voice sounded harried over the line.
“Harlan, something crazy happened here—”

“Did you talk to Jessica?”

“Yes, and—”

“Is she going to do the workup?”

“We’ve already done it, Harlan,
and-and-and—”

“Calm down,” Garrett said. “What’s going
on?”

A fuzzy pause, then Lynn said: “You’re not
going to believe this…”

Garrett sighed. “Believe me, Lynn, right now
my power of belief is strong.”

Another pause. “The…arm, Harlan…the forearm
bone—”

Garrett shrunk at the memory of Ubel’s last
words. Sanders’ bullet never gave the man a chance to finish his
explanation. “I know there’s something screwed up about it,” he
said. “A guy here at the post—one of Swenson’s men—told me that it
wasn’t really a bone. But I got no idea what he meant.”

“Well I do know what he meant,
Harlan. It’s not a bone, not anymore.”

What the hell did that mean? “Explain,”
Garret said, his patience quickly dwindling.

Lynn’s voice rushed in its obvious distress.
“Jessica tried to cut the bone with a surgical laser, and—”

 


 




CHAPTER THIRTEEN

 


It was many minutes in which Jessica sat
beside the prep table in a numbed daze, her face flat and drained
in the impossibility of what she’d witnessed on her own autopsy
platform. If anything, she looked as though she’d been run over by
a truck and then propped up limply in the chair, to stare
incomprehensibly at the wall.

Lynn suffered a similar reaction but at
least maintained her jolted astonishment enough to actually stand
on her feet and talk into her cell phone.

Garrett was still on the line, and he still
didn’t fully fathom what she was trying to relate to him. Lynn, on
the other hand, couldn’t fathom how she would relate it to
him without sounding completely and utterly insane.

“What, Lynn?” Garrett insisted over the
line. “What’s the problem?”

Lynn unconsciously pressed the phone to her
ear to the point of discomfort. “The arm, Harlan—the forearm bone.
It…regenerated.”

“What?” Garrett barked.

“It regenerated, and it’s—shit, I don’t know
how to say this…”

`”Just say it!”

“It regenerated, and it’s still alive.”

The following pause was so long that Lynn
feared the connection may have terminated. “Harlan?” she asked.
“Harlan, are you there?”

Eventually his familiar voice returned.
“What are you talking about? It was a bone recovered from a crash
site. It was charred black by fire. Lynn, it can’t
still be alive! It’s been a dead, dried up bone since
19-fucking-62, and it’s been wrapped up in a plastic bag since
then! Any cellular material that might have remained on the forearm
after the crash was burned off by the fire! “

Lynn understood Garrett’s inability to fully
perceive the situation. Nevertheless, out of her own
self-doubt, she glanced back over to the autopsy table to take one
more look at the “post subject.”

In only the handful of minutes since Jessica
had tried to cut it with the laser, the “bone” had not only grown
skin and a veil of underlying muscle fiber, it had since then
fattened with more flesh. Tendons and muscle fibers had grown
considerably more prominent beneath the shiny, pale-pink skin.

“Did you hear me, Lynn?” Garrett continued
to prod over the line. “It can’t still be alive!”

When he’d said this, Lynn was looking
squarely at the bizarre multi-jointed two-fingered hand which
extended from the wrist.

The fingers were clenching, extending,
freely opening and closing right there on the exam table.

“Yes, Harlan,” she told him. “Yes, it
can…”
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Regenerated. Still alive.

Impossible, was Garrett’s first
reaction, but then that was the basic reaction, the expected
one. A reaction born of the same linear-thinking, methodized,
objectified, and utterly demythologized modern society that Garrett
often felt he existed to rebel against. His life’s work was
focused, in fact, on the exact opposite of the social
machinery that spurred him to reject Lynn’s claims as “impossible.”
Garrett believed for the life of him a great many things that most
people would condemn as impossible, and he’d seen impossible
things.

Nothing’s impossible, he remembered
after a few self-reflecting moments. He couldn’t let himself fall
into the same sensibility that blinded the world. Just because I
don’t understand something…that doesn’t mean it can’t be.

There was no reason for Lynn to lie, was
there? And Garrett knew her, had loved her and lived with
her and been married to her. The distress—the sheer and total
astonishment—in her voice had been real. Garrett didn’t doubt it
for one second.

Something happened at the morgue that I
don’t understand. He calmed himself with the open logic which
now forged all of his most passionate endeavors. He believed most
fervently that science could explain everything, but he also
believed that there were many aspects of science that he and rest
of humanity could not yet comprehend and that some of those
aspects, in spite of the magnitude of the human mind’s complexity,
would simply never be understood.

That was what Garrett believed.
That was the creed by which he lived, and that was
the reason he’d rejected so many “normal” opportunities to instead
live like a pauper and be laughed at, ridiculed, and stripped of
all credibility by nearly everyone he ever met.

Dead bones didn’t come back to life—but dead
alien bones?

That was all Garrett needed to get his act
back in gear. In the senseless minutes that had just ticked by,
everything made sense again.

He chain-smoked, squinting at the base’s
black and white street signs as full-dark descended into the sky.
A fuckin’ map might be a little help, he complained to
himself. He hadn’t realized the Edgewood Arsenal was so vast, with
so many different quadrants. There were administrative areas,
maintenance areas, training and supply areas—all which existed to
support the post’s one and only function: to properly and securely
store weapons and explosives that the Army needed to keep in its
inventory. Right now, however, Garrett slowly cruised this sleek,
shiny Buick through the base’s residential section.

Jesus, this place is like a rat’s
maze, he thought, and flicked another butt out the window.

The base phone book, of course, had been of
no use: anyone with a high-grade security clearance on this base
wouldn’t be listed; in some cases, even their names were
classified. So when he’d left the visitor’s billets, and changing
from his blood-speckled shirt to a clean one, Garrett had driven
straight to the post’s personnel office and, after having
identified himself as Special Agent Richard Odenton, had been given
the domiciliary address of Warrant Officer Kenneth Ubel, whose
undiscovered body, Garrett knew, remained off in the woods still
wearing Garrett’s fine Joseph Abboud Ltd. suit jacket. “I just need
to talk to him real quick about a classified matter,” Garrett had
explained, badge and ID wallet in hand. “Major Shaw at the ASA
office knows about it. Feel free to call him for verification.” The
sergeant at the duty desk hadn’t bothered, and had quickly given
Garrett exactly what he needed: Ubel’s barracks address.

Area November, he remembered what
Ubel had told him. Depot 12. Ubel’s heart had been blown out
before he’d had time to relate the actual directions, but Garrett
also remembered what else he’d been told: “I’ve got the directions
and the lock combinations stashed back at my barracks…”

The term “barracks,” though, in the modern
Armed Forces, had stuck in spite of its antiquation. Garrett
pictured 1950’s-type Quonset huts, from which G.I.s would rush at
morning roll call to trample into formation. What he found instead
were rows of buildings that more resembled clean, modest
condos—officers’ quarters. Garrett wished his own place was
so nice.

It’s gotta be around here somewhere,
he reasoned, still squinting. He’d found the right road but still
had to idle down to the right building. For a moment, he stopped on
the dark, paved road, pulled out the piece of scrap paper on which
he’d scribbled down Ubel’s address: General Maxwell Taylor Avenue,
Building 4128, Unit 313.

There it is! Garrett rejoiced,
slowing up at the three-story building marked 4128. He pulled over
to the curb and got out of the car.

It’s in there somewhere, he thought,
meaning the directions to the crucial location Ubel had referenced.
He gazed up at the sedate apartment building identical to every
other building along the street. Area November, Depot
12.

The end of the secret, or at least one step
closer to it. After he secured the location of the whatever this
Depot 12 was, he still had to find Danny Vander and make sure he
got there too, and along with all of that, there was still a rising
flux of complications: the ADM and its proper assembly, the timing
mechanism, and just getting the damn thing and all its three
hundred pounds transported to the site.

Just take it a step at a time,
Garrett reminded himself, against the mudslide of details.

And there was always Sanders to worry about.
Garrett didn’t even want to think about how to deal with
that…

The street stood quiet, distant crickets
trilling, and the air was cooling down. Softly lit windows glowed
in the identical Army prefab apartment buildings before him. He
tried to appear as normal as possible as he approached Building
4128, entered the side stairwell, and hiked up to the third floor.
Halfway down the corridor, he found Room 313, Ubel’s room.

I guess I don’t need to knock,
Garrett thought in the poorest taste. He didn’t waste time testing
the doorknob to see if it might be unlocked; Ubel, given his post
and occupational specialty that required a highly compartmentalized
security clearance, wasn’t the kind of guy to forget to lock his
front door when he left his apartment.

No big deal.

Garrett didn’t have the key, of course, but
he had something better: his set of HPC lock-picks and assorted
tension wrenches. If there was one thing he’d learned during the
course of his eccentric profession it was the quick and effective
circumvention of the inconvenience of locks. For years he’d studied
the brands, the model numbers, function types and
pin-configurations. It was second nature now, and at the very
least, Garrett was one of a very low number of people who didn’t
have conniptions when he locked his keys in his car.

A certain tactic of appearances was
involved. You walk up like you owned the placed, all the while, as
you approached the door in question, you scrutinized the lock for
its make and model. Garrett did exactly that as he approached the
door to #313, his mind already working out the details: Shlage,
Primus model 1116 from the ‘82-’88 series. Upper deadbolts were
almost always the same pin-configuration as the lock on the knob.
Left-side locks generally worked clockwise, right-side counter
clockwise. The flange set told him both locks were top pin-sets.
Eleven pins in each set, he assessed.

He made these calculations in a matter of
seconds, as he was walking toward the door. The worst thing to do
was react if anyone else stepped into the hall: a man with
lock-picks looked the same as a man with a key if he held the pick
and tension wrench properly. Just walk up and do it, like it’s
your own apartment…

Without having to look at the lock-pick
wallet, Garrett’s fingers slipped out his #4 “hook” and a
6-millimeter tension wrench. He applied both into the keyway
heavier deadbolt, gently raked with pins with an upward stroke
while simultaneously holding the pins in place with the wrench,
exerting just the right amount of pressure with his thumb.

Come on, you—

But before he could finish the thought, the
bolt slid open after only one stroke against the pins.

The lock on the door knob opened just as
easily. Garrett had managed to tease open both locks in the same
amount of time as it would have taken with the actual key.

Tell me I’m not good, he
congratulated himself. But—

Something flagged his senses, and then he
sniffed and knew something wasn’t right. Then, when his fingers
closed around the brass-plated knob—

Warm, he noticed at once.

The metal doorknob felt unduly warm, almost
hot to the touch.

He didn’t need to open the door to verify
his suspicions, but he did anyway. He twisted the knob and pushed,
and when the door swung slowly open, he was looking into a room
walled by sheets of flame. A billow of black smoke rolled out, and
the scene within was strangely silent. No crackling, hissing of
gasses evaporating out of the sheet-rock. He stood in a momentary
shock, surveying the room made of traceries of flame. The scene was
almost delicate somehow, almost beauteous.

Fuckin’-A! he thought, and turned and
ran.

“Fire! Fire!” he yelled as his feet rocketed
him down the hall and toward the stairs. The act of arson, clearly
set by Sanders, had obviously been set very recently, and Garrett,
even in his panic, was adept enough to give that some thought.
Careening around the metal banister in the exit stairwell, he
yanked the red fire alarm, and then tramped down the stairs.
Seconds later, he was out of the building.

The alarm bell grated into the formerly
quiet night. Residents began to wander out of all the surrounding
buildings, and from Ubel’s building, residents poured.

Thank freakin’ God, Garrett thought.
When he’d discovered the fire, and pulled the alarm, it looked like
he’d done it in time for everyone to get out. Sanders must have
set it very recently, maybe only minutes ago, he considered. He
could hear the sirens from several fire trucks as he was getting
back into the Buick, driving away.

Yeah, he thought, his tires
squealing. Sanders must’ve known I was coming here. It’s almost
like he was waiting for me, waiting till I got here before
he set the blaze, probably with some remote-controlled pyrotechnic
device.

But why?

If he knew I was coming to Ubel’s, why
didn’t he stake the place out and just kill me? Or—

Garrett’s eyes widened as he accelerated
away from the apartments.

—he needs me alive.

Two fire trucks screamed by in the opposite
direction.

Sanders must not know where Depot 12 is, and
he thinks I do.

This was not an exuberant realization.
Garrett didn’t know where the hidden depot was either…but a trained
assassin thought he did.

Garrett errantly lit a cigarette, every gear
of his mind running full-tilt.

If Sanders knew I was going to Ubel’s
apartment…he’s gotta also know where I’m going next…
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“Are you all right?” Lynn asked.

Jessica looked up numbly from the seat she’d
remained in for quite a while since the…forearm bone
had…regenerated… She squinted at Lynn. “Are you?”

“Fuck no,” Lynn replied in some very out of
character profanity. But if any occasion warranted indecorous
language, it had to be this occasion. The two women, both
Garrett’s ex-lovers, sipped hot coffee and stared speechless for
extended snatches of time. But neither of them dared to let a
glance drift over to the top of the shining stainless steel
examination table…where it still writhed.

“I actually feel bad now,” Lynn muttered,
leaning against the counter which housed an autoclave, a hi/lo
baumanometer set, and a Ritter 800V automatic-cycle sterilizer. She
barely felt the near-scalding coffee in her mouth.

“Feel bad about what?” Jessica muttered
back.

“You know. For the whole time we were
married I give him a hard time every damn day about the things he
believed in. I called him a crackpot and a nut and a tabloid weirdo
with no connection to reality.”

“Me too.”

“And look where it all ends—”

“A fuckin’ alien arm on my morgue slab,
regrowing skin before our eyes,” Jessica admitted. “I never
would’ve believed it in a trillion years.”

“Me either.” Lynn wished she could pinch
herself, or prick her skin with a safety pin, and simply wake up to
discover it was all a macabre dream, and she almost expected that:
to wake up in her own bed, in a world with no evidence whatsoever
of extraterrestrial visitations.

But she’d been here for hours now. She
hadn’t woken up, and she wouldn’t.

This is real…

“What the hell are we gonna do now?” Jessica
asked.

“Good question, and I sure as hell don’t
know the answer,” Lynn admitted. “But there’s no point in hanging
around here all night.”

“Yeah…so…”

Where do we go now? Lynn finished the
obvious next question. Where do we go with…an alien arm? So
she voiced the only fair suggestion: “Your place or mine?”

Jessica made a face. “You know, I really
don’t want that thing in my apartment. I mean, Christ, I’d
have to put it in the damn refrigerator. You want something like
that in your fridge?”

Lynn winced; it didn’t take her long to get
the point. She simply could not envision herself opening the door
of her shiny white Kenmore and seeing a two-fingered
extraterrestrial forearm stuck in between the Sunny Delight and the
Fat Free Kraft Miracle Whip.

Not in my fridge, no way.

“Hey, wait a minute,” Jessica perked up.
“Why don’t we go to—”

But Lynn had gotten the idea at the same
time. She grinned. “Harlan’s apartment—excellent. Come on.”

Jessica stood up, then paused. She and Lynn
stared at each other through a shared sub-verbal dread.

“I know,” Lynn admitted. “One of us is
actually going to have to pick that thing up and put it back in the
bag.”

Then they both glanced back at the morgue
table. The arm’s runneled, veiny pink skin glistened harshly under
the exam lights.

“I think you should do it,” Jessica spoke
up. “After all, you used to be Harlan’s wife.”

Lynn gaped. You’re ballsy little tramp,
aren’t you? “What’s that got to do with anything?” she wasted
no time in objecting.

“Well…”

“Besides, you’re the medical
examiner��”

“Assistant medical examiner,” Jessica
corrected.

“Fine. Assistant medical examiner.
“Which makes you a thousand times more qualified than me
to…relocate…post mortal…evidence.”

“My ass!”

Jesus, Lynn thought. “All right,
we’ll do this the fair way, okay?” She plucked a quarter out of her
purse.

“Fair enough,” Jessica groan her
consent.

“Call it—”

“Heads!”

Lynn watched the silver coin twirl up, then
down, clinking to the floor. It spun there for a moment as both
Lynn and Jessica urgently leaned over, squinting.

The quarter fell over, head-side up.

Fuck! Lynn thought.

Jessica released a relieving sigh. “Like I
said, fair enough.”

I’m am REALLY beginning to dislike
her. Lynn bit the loser’s bullet, turned, faced the table. And
there it was, lying before her.

The arm.

Lynn could hear her teeth slowly grinding as
she stepped forward, her eyes narrowed to squinting slits. She
reached out, as if to grab a bag of stinky, leaking garbage, and
very slowly, she lowered her hand to the table and—

YUCK!

—let her fingers close around the arm, at
about the midpoint.

It felt like raw chicken skin wrapped around
a broom handle. It felt…squishy, warm, and in even more distaste,
she could feel the veins—fat as earthworms—beneath the welt-pink
skin. Then—

“Oh my God!” Lynn squealed.

“What?”

Lynn, her own arm fully extended, was
staring at the queer, two-fingered hand. “The fingers are
moving!”

“No way! That’s impossible!” Jessica
insisted.

“Yeah, and it’s impossible for a bone that’s
been sitting in a fucking briefcase for thirty years to grow skin,
but this thing did it!”

“Yeah, but that’s a lot more explainable,
Lynn. Something caused some minor cellular regrowth of the skin,
probably just some genetic regenerative effect. But there’s no way
the fingers can move because that kind of movement requires a
synaptic command from the brain. And there’s no brain.”

Infuriated, Lynn turned and shook the arm at
Jessica. “Yeah?”

Jessica’s face twisted up in disgust when
she looked more closely. The two long, multi-jointed fingers—no
thicker than a pencil—began to minutely move.

“Gross,” Jessica acknowledged. “But it’s
probably reflexive death-response. It happens here i the morgue all
the time. Decaying nerves can cause the digits to move slightly. I
guarantee you, the skin growing back on that thing is just an
autonomic fluke. A couple of hours now, it’ll be dead again. So
come on, put the damn thing back in the bag and let’s get out of
here.”

But before Lynn could do that…the two
fingers began to flex rapidly back and forth.

Lynn and Jessica screamed simultaneously,
then Lynn dropped the arm, where it slapped to the floor.

“Jesus Christ!” Jessica blared, jerking
back.

They both looked down in shock, staring at
the arm on the floor.

No, Lynn thought. No way in
hell…

The index finger continued to move,
extending, lowering, and pulling back. The finger, in other words,
was dragging the arm across the floor, several inches per motion.
At this rate, the arm might be able to traverse the floor in a
matter of minutes.

Lynn sighed after the initial shock. She
watched the arm move for a few more seconds, then frowned back to
Jessica. “That doesn’t look like any fucking reflexive
death-response to me.”
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The neighborhood itself didn’t appear
“military” at all. It was not regimented, nor uniform. Instead, it
looked like typical middle-class suburbia in Anywhere, U.S.A.

But Garrett doubted that he looked as
typical himself, not with scuffed shoes and a long tear in his
expensive slacks, his suit jacket long gone since it had served as
Ubel’s shroud. He kept Lynn’s pistol stuffed in the back of his
belt.

I’m not scared, he suddenly realized.
I should be scared, shouldn’t I? Sanders was out there
somewhere; he predicted correctly that Garrett would go to Ubel’s,
so it wasn’t a brain-storm to predict he’d be coming here too. At
least Garrett had had the presence of mind not to drive up to the
house: a sniper would be expecting that first and foremost. That’s
why Garrett had parked, not several houses away but several
blocks away. It was far more tactical to walk in, far less
chance of being seen.

He was lucky at least in that the
street-lights were widely spaced, which left him with ample shadows
to use for make-shift cover. And when he got to the back of the
proper block, he chanced it, and cut through someone’s back yard,
keeping his fingers crossed that no dogs—or people—would spot him.
He crept as quietly as he could, half-feeling his way through the
darkened yard, wary of things to trip over. At one point, though,
he nearly screamed when a raccoon scuttled across his path, looking
up with faint orange glints. In the distance he could still hear
the sirens of fire trucks responding to the Sanders’ handiwork at
Ubel’s apartment building. Garrett prayed that no one had burned up
and that it hadn’t spread to other buildings.

But Garrett himself had been smoked out—that
was for sure.

That’s what had him worried.

In a minute, the rear of the house in
question emerged into view; he could see lights on in the windows.
The back sliding doors were closed but the floor-length drapes
still drawn open. Good, they’re not in bed. Garrett got down
on one knee, hunkered behind the picket fence which outlined the
back yard. He kept his eyes on the sliding doors, vigilant for
movement.

He checked his watch—ten p.m. now. He
continued to watch for signs of life for the next ten minutes, but
none were forthcoming.

Shit. Maybe he’s been here already. Maybe
he’s killed everyone.

This was a reasonable speculation,
considering Sanders’ previous moves. And even if the assassin
had killed everyone inside, even though the bulk of his
mission would be completed, there was still one more person he had
to take down.

Me, Garrett knew.

Sanders was probably not given to leaving
loose ends.

Now Garrett realized only two bare choices.
He could stalk up to the windows and peep in, visually scan the
interior of the first floor—but if he did that, and a neighbor saw
him and called the MPs?

I’d never be able to talk my way out of
it, he realized. Phony ID or not. I’d be in the stockade and
that would be that.

The second choice?

Walk up to the front door and knock.

He fidgeted, his knee dampening in the
grass. Fuck it, he resolved. Just grow a pair and do
it.

He got up and immediately walked around to
the front of the house. If no one answered the door, he’d need his
picks again, but he hoped he was just being paranoid. I’d say
I’ve got reason being paranoid. A hit man tried to kill me
today. Garrett figured that if he was wrong, his life might
easily end right now. Sanders would have already established a
secluded firing position, probably some huge long-range infrared or
Starlight scope. He’d just be waiting for me, invisible, up in
some tree half a mile away, Garrett knew with a growing dread
in his belly. Knowing I’ll be coming to this house. All he’s
gotta do is sit there and wait for me to walk right up to the front
door…

Garrett walked right up to the front door.
He even stood there for a protracted moment under the bright porch
light, waiting for the rifle slug.

It never came.

Okay, let’s do this.

He already knew this was the right house
from the base residential map he got at the admin center, but a
glance over the mailbox reassured him:

GEN. ANTHONY VANDER

I was wrong about the house being
staked, Garrett thought. Now it’s time to see if I’m wrong
about everything else.

His finger pressed the door buzzer, and
suddenly he felt sure: They’re dead. Sanders has already been
here and killed everyone…

Then the door opened, rather abruptly, and
Garrett was being scowled at by a tall, testy man in Army dress
slacks and a summer-weight shirt pulled out. General stars on the
shirt’s epaulets.

It was a good thing looks couldn’t kill.

“Who the hell are you are? What do you want?
What are you doing ringing my bell at this hour?”

Jesus. “General Vander,” Garrett
bumbled, whipping out his phony ID case. “I’m sorry to disturb you
at this hour but I’m here on a very urgent matter. I’m Special
Agent Richard Odenton with the F.B.I. and—”

“Bullshit!” the general barked back. “The
F.B.I.’s got no business on a military reservation! I’m calling the
MPs!”

Shit! “Please, sir, wait!” Garrett
blabbered, just as the door slammed in his face. “Your son’s life
is in grave danger!” he shouted.

Garrett’s shout echoed down the street.
After a moment’s pause…the door clicked back open and Garrett was
re-faced by a very solemn General Vander.

“My son?” the man said. “Why on earth
would—”

“I know it sounds incredible, sir, but it’s
true. A former Army field operative named John Sanders is under
orders to kill Danny—and me too—and he’s out there, somewhere,
right now. Sir, you’ve got to let me in, let me explain. If
you call your security people on me, then they’ll toss me in the
base jail, and then it’ll be too late. Sanders is coming for Danny
tonight, and he’ll kill anyone who gets in his way, including you
and your wife.”

Vander’s eyes leveled on Garrett. “Come
inside.”

I’m in, Garrett realized, not quite
believing it. But that was the easy part, now that he thought about
it. Everything had happened so fast, every consequence compounding.
Now Garrett was standing right in the middle of his “plan,” and he
didn’t have a clue as to what to do next.

It’s sink or swim time, he reminded
himself. You better be right.

“I don’t know what any of this is about,”
Vander said sternly, closing the front. “I’ll give you five minutes
to explain, and if you can’t do that to my satisfaction, then your
ass is in my stockade door—”

But Vander’s words stopped as if
guillotined, because after he’d closed the door and turned back
around—

Garrett was pointing his gun in Vander’s
face.

“I should’ve known this was bullshit,” the
general said.

“Yeah?” Garrett countered. “You? The
king of bullshit?” Now it was time to play his card. “I know
damn well you’re not General Anthony Vander. You’re John Sanders, a
government murderer. Oh, and nice shooting in the woods today. You
killed the wrong guy, didn’t you, Mr. Big Bad Sniper?”

“You’re absolutely out of your mind! I’m the
commanding officer of this post!”

“Oh, really? Then who’s the S-2 of the
intelligence battalion?”

“Which one? The 2/37th or the 1/81st, you
asshole!”

Garrett paused, chewed his lip in a sinking
dread. “The psychiatrist that Danny’s been seeing—what’s his
name?”

“Captain William Harolds,” the man snapped,
then added, “you asshole! I’m General Anthony Vander, not this-this
Sanders! Now put that gun down before you get yourself into
even more trouble!”

Hmm, Garrett thought. This could be
looking better. “But, of course, you would’ve seen the same files I
have, including the initial abduction report that was processed by
NSA after Danny began undergoing therapy. So you would already know
Harolds’ name.”

“Drop that gun right now! You don’t know
what you’re doing! You’re making an idiot of yourself!”

You know…maybe he’s right. But,
still, Garrett remained convinced. “Sanders doesn’t know where the
depot is—if he did, he would’ve killed me from a remote location
when I was walking up to the front door. When that didn’t
happen—that’s when I knew he’d—or I should say you—would
have no other option but to masquerade as General Vander. Your
personnel photo has long been officially deleted, so you knew there
was no way I could know what you look like.”

“You’re a nut. You’re some halfwit pinko
terrorist or one of those militia morons, thinks kidnaping a
general is an act of protest.” Vander stared back with a look of
granite. “Well then I guess you’re just going to have to shoot me,
because right now I’m calling the base MPs.”

This, Garrett knew, was the last straw.
If he calls them, he wondered, what should I do? Shit in
my pants and run away, or just turn myself in?

Garrett looked straight back at the man. “Go
ahead, General. Give ’em a buzz. Shit, I’ll bet they’d be
out here in less than a minute.” Garrett noticed a phone on a stand
by the stairs. He depressed the intercom button and stepped back,
keeping the gun trained. “Call the MPs. Right now. Tell them you’ve
got a halfwit pinko terrorist in your house pointing a gun in your
face.”

Silence. Then—

“Goddamn you, Garret,” Sander muttered.

Garrett felt instantly showered by relief.
Looks like God’s still on my side. He nudged the gun
forward. “Hands in the air. I mean it.”

“Listen, you don’t realize the—”

BAM!

Garrett squeezed off one round over Sander’s
head. A hole socked into the ceiling, and a puff of white dust
descended.

“Hands in the air,” Garrett repeated. “I’m
not fucking round here. I’ll kill you. And if you even take one
step toward me and try to pull some fancy Army disarm—I’ll kill
you.”

“I don’t think you have the guts to kill,
Garrett. You’re just a no-account writer with a bunch of ideals…but
when it comes times to actually fight for what you believe…you go
yellow. You don’t have the belly to kill anyone.”

Garrett was no crack shot; he knew that. So
he lowered his bead from Sanders’ face to his heart, the wider
vital target area.

“But,” Sanders interrupted, “I’ll
accommodate you. After all, you were smart enough to pick my next
move.”

“You’re fucking-A right.”

Sanders raised his hands.

“Good boy, good killer,” Garrett said. “Now
turn around, grab the wall, and spread ’em. If you even blink, you
get a nine-millimeter enema.”

Again, Sanders, obliged. Garrett jammed the
gun to the small of Sanders’ back and immediately noticed the small
weapon printing in the back pocket. He snatched it out, put it in
his own pocket, then quickly patted the man down and found no other
weapons.

“All right, turn back around. And start
talking. Was I right about Ubel?”

“Yeah,” Sanders admitted through his
decidedly normal looking face. If anything, he didn’t look
like an assassin. “Earlier, in the woods, you were my
intended target.”

“Your contract has me on it,
right?”

“Oh, yes. I needed you dead and out of the
way so I could take that punk Ubel alive. I needed him
alive.”

“Don’t blame me,” Garrett chided.
“You’re the one who’s the lousy shot. Christ, I thought you
were good.”

Sanders, in spite of his predicament, seemed
almost offended. “I’m probably one of top five covert snipers in
the world.”

Garrett laughed. “Yeah? Well today you
couldn’t hit an elephant’s ass with

with a bass fiddle, could you?”

“You moved, for your goddamn
cigarettes.”

“Even bad guys have bad days, huh?”
Speaking of cigarettes, I could sure as hell use one right
now. “Whoever your bosses are, I hope they’re not paying you
than minimum wage because, buddy, you suck. Talk about
fucking up a wet job. Not only do you miss your target, you kill
the only guy on the post who knows where the depot is. Get a job
Jack In The Box, man. It’s hard to fuck up flipping a burger. Hey,
how about a large order of those curly fries?”

Sanders glared at him.

“Oh, sure, you could’ve taken the chance
that Danny would have some previous knowledge of the depot’s
whereabouts, but that would’ve been a big chance, wouldn’t
it? The aliens have been trance-channeling into his mind at will.
But they’d be stupid to give him that information until the very
last minute. So I was your only hope, right?”

“Right,” Sanders admitted.

“You knew I’d go back to Ubel’s apartment
for any sensitive information he might have had there, so instead
of waiting for me there and killing me, you burn the place down,
essentially flushing me out to the last place I had to go.
Here.”

“Right again…”

“And you were betting that Ubel had told me
where Area November was before your lousy marksmanship blew his
heart out,” Garrett rambled on. He’d come this far, against
considerable odds. He at least deserved to know that he was right.
“But you wanna know something, chief? He didn’t. I don’t know where
the fuckin’ place is, either. The only one who’ll know is Danny—”
Garrett took a half second peek at his watch—”in a couple of hours.
And you know what else I’m betting on? I’m betting that you haven’t
killed him yet. If you killed him, sure, you’d screw up everything
that’ supposed to happen tonight. But you want more than that,
don’t you?”

Sanders sighed, uncomfortable now from
holding his hands up for so long. “I have to recover the Area
November material too.”

“Then you’d kill the kid, after he
took you there.”

“Come on, I’d never kill a kid, for God’s
sake.”

“Yeah, and John Holmes never got laid. Gimme
a break. You’re caught, you’re caput. Why bother lying now?”

“The kid’s upstairs,” Sanders informed.
“He’s all right. I didn’t hurt him, I just gagged him and cuffed
his hand to his bed-frame.”

“But what about General Vander and his wife?
You shoot them in the head like you did Swenson and the
others?”

Sanders smirked. “There was no reason to
kill them, and they weren’t on the list. They’re upstairs too,
alive. I knocked them out with amobarbital and tied them up. Don’t
believe me, go check.”

“Oh, I’m going to check, all right,” Garrett
said, “and don’t worry. I know you’re planning to make a
move on me. So don’t try any of that hand-to-hand hitman Chuck
Norris jujitsu crap. You’re keeping your fucking hands up,
and you’re walk ten feet ahead of me. Any funny
business—shit, if I even think you’re going to pull a move
on me—I’ll put half this clip into your spine.”

Sanders’ glare didn’t waver.

Garrett waved the gun. “Up the stairs,
killer. Nice and slow.”

Sanders moved out, hands still up. Garrett
gave him a good lead as he followed him up the stairs.

“Hey, tell me something. How did Danny
manage to infiltrate a high-security redeposition perimeter and
walk out with a bomb that weighs more than Hulk Hogan.”

“I don’t know,” Sanders said, just ahead of
him on the stairs. “Some kind of alien influence, I guess. I was
hoping you could tell me.”

“Danny didn’t tell you himself? You didn’t
try to force it out of him?”

“The truth? Yeah, I tried to force it out of
him. I told him I’d drive a stake in his father’s chest and cut his
mother’s head off if he didn’t tell me. Like I told you, I didn’t
hurt the parents but I threatened to, and that’s the fastest way in
the world to get a kid talking. But…it was just like you said. He
didn’t know. He honestly didn’t know.”

This didn’t surprise Garrett. Swenson had
been abducted too, yet didn’t remember how. A retrograde amnesic
effect—common amongst abductees. And selectively maintained
communication—the headaches Swenson had told Ubel about—were
brought on during some kind of trance-channel or telelalia. Maybe
the aliens were even inducing telethesia—out-of-body
experiences.

Time would tell, and there wasn’t much of
that left.

“Next question,” Garrett asked. “Who do you
work for?”

Sanders actually laughed. “Don’t let that
gun make you too cocky, Garrett. Guys like me, we die before we
give up our contractors.”

“It’s a rogue cell in NSA, isn’t it? Or
maybe the Joint Chiefs or the DoD?”

Sanders chuckled. “You’re floggin’ a dead
horse, pal.”

“MJ-12?”

“Forget it. I ain’t talkin’. In The Nam, I
was tortured by the NVA; these guys were hardcore interrogators,
trained by the Soviets; I fully expected to die and didn’t care,
’cos it was my damn job. The thin red line, you know, like in the
French Foreign Legion? If those sick communist bastards couldn’t
make me talk—believe me. Neither can a non-hacking liberal skinny
milquetoast computer-geek tabloid writer like you.”

Garrett frowned long and hard, but he
supposed the man had a legitimate point, and he even supposed he
was asking too many questions, providing a distraction that Sanders
could use to his advantage.

But Garrett couldn’t help it.

“Well, consider this non-hacking liberal
skinny milquetoast computer-geek tabloid writer an inquiring mind
who wants to know. Why’d you sell out?”

Sanders didn’t pause one iota in his reply.
“For twenty-five years I served my country like a waiter, and I
never even got a nickel tip,” Sanders answered via the oldest
motive in the world for treachery. “I took my skills to the highest
bidder. When I was in The Nam, when I was in the French Congo and
Algeria and Iran, I thought I was doing the right thing. I was
wrong. I’d watch guys like Swenson get pig-shit rich and walk
around with more medals on their chest than Marshall Fuckin’
Zhukof, and all I got was tortured with glass needles and
restricted hazard pay, which back then was about $300 per month. If
you’re gonna get fucked for that many years, kid, sooner or later
you want a kiss to go along with it. And then the press schmucks
like you come around and make us all look like baby-killers, and
then one day it smacks home. What the fuck am I doing this for? So
I turned. Yeah, I sold out. Services rendered to the highest
bidder. You know what that is? It’s the American way.”

“Sounds more like treason to me,” Garrett
remarked.

“What the hell do you know? You don’t know
shit till you’re in the bush for sixty days, and shit’s
growing on you, and you gotta take out a long-range target
with one shot ’cos if you don’t, the Army’s gonna lose a thousand
grunts in a counter-offensive. And if you miss, if you have to take
two shots, you get scoped in two seconds and in less time
than it takes you to scratch your crotch-rot, you’ve got 80mm
mortar shells coming down on your head, and if you’re lucky—and if
you’re good—you get out of there, but you’re wearing your spotter’s
guts for a shirt. Then you gotta wait another week or two in the
bush to get picked up. You eat snakes and millipedes and drink
creek water that smells like old piss in the meantime.”

Garrett didn’t pretend to make judgments. He
hadn’t been there, hadn’t witnessed the horrors. On the other hand,
though, he would not permit himself to sympathize with a
remorseless murderer.

They were on the second-floor landing now,
and Garrett could see a door open just around the top of the
banister. A light was on. Sander walked slowly ahead of him, then
stopped. Suddenly his shoulders slumped.

“GodDAMN!”

Garrett carefully approached from behind.
Careful, he warned himself. Perhaps this was the
distraction, Sanders getting ready to make a move by surprise.

“What is it?” Garrett asked, keeping his
distance.

“The fuckin’ kid is gone!” Sanders
yelled.

Garrett’s eyes widened. He looked into the
room, around Sanders’ stance.

Danny’s bedroom.

A kid’s small desk, small chair, Luke
Skywalker and Iron Giant posters on the wall. But Garrett didn’t
really need to inspect the room to get what Sanders was saying.

Along the bottom of the bed, he noticed one
ring of a pair of handcuffs clasped to the bedframe. Half of the
second ring dangled from the short links of chain.

You gotta be shitting me…

The hinged hasp of the second ring lay on
the floor. Broken off.

“That’s impossible!” Sanders asserted.
“Those are Peerless detention-grade handcuffs! They can’t be
broken!”

“Yeah, well it looks to me like Danny broke
’em like they were plastic,” Garrett observed, and somehow—even
though it confused him—it didn’t surprise him. “We’re talking about
an eight-year-old kid who infiltrated an electrified security fence
and broke open three of the Army’s best padlocks.”

Sanders, for the first time, actually seemed
upset, clenching his fists against the sides of his legs. “What?
The fuckin’ aliens helped him? The fuckin’ aliens snuck into the
house and broke him out?”

“I don’t know for sure, but it kind of looks
that way,” Garrett replied, and, indeed, it did. By now, nothing
could really shock him, nothing was “impossible.” And that’s when
he realized the best part of all—

“You lose,” Garrett said. “Danny’s out of
here, and I’ll bet he’s already got the ADM to the depot. He’s
gonna set it off, just the aliens told him, and just like they told
Swenson. The thing you’re trying to prevent is going to happen…and
there’s nothing you can do about it.”

“Bullshit. He’s just a little kid. There’re
several steps in setting off an ADM. You gotta put the whole thing
together, you gotta wire it right, you gotta prime a blasting cap.
A little kid can’t do that!”

“A little kid can’t bust padlocks and break
out of handcuffs, either. But he did it. There’s no other
explanation. Danny’s been getting help all along. You and me? We’re
both outclassed.” Garrett grinned. “But at least my name isn’t mud
when all this shit is over with. You? You failed. Utterly
and totally. Swenson’s vindicated, and you’re just a busted
over-the-hill hitman who couldn’t successfully complete his
mission.”

Sanders nodded slowly. “Yeah, but the kid
still dies, doesn’t he? When he sets off that bomb, he’ll be
sitting in the middle of a five-million-degree fireball. I’ll bet
that bugs the shit out of you. ’cos there’s nothing you can
do about that.” .

At once, Garrett felt trampled; Sanders was
right. Whatever was supposed to happen tonight would happen.
And however important that event might be, an innocent little kid
was going to die.

“Let’s make a deal,” Sanders offered. “You
hit it on the head. I botched this mission big time. I’ll never
work again. There’ll be a contract out on me in less than
twenty-four hours.”

“Oh, don’t worry,” Garrett said. “You’ll be
perfectly safe—in prison. Which is where you’re going after I turn
you in. I’ve got the gun, remember? You’re a murdered. Murderers
belong in the slam.”

“Don’t be an idiot,” Sanders came back.
“Like you just said, I failed. I’m a marked man but I still have
the contacts to get out of the country. Let me go, and I give you a
million bucks in about twelve hours.”

“Oh?”

“That’s probably about how long it’ll take
us to drive to the airport and fly to the Cayman Islands. I’ve got
a numbered account there under an encrypted name. Let’s go. Don’t
be stupid. Be rich.”

Garrett guttered laughter. “I can’t take a
gun on a plane. The second I lose this gun, you’ll kill me
with your bare hands.”

“Trust me,” Sanders said through the
thinnest smile. “I’m not quite the bad guy you think I am. I’ll cut
you in if you let me go.”

“I’d rather suck the Devil’s dick than make
a deal with you,” Garrett eloquently replied.

“I’ll give you something else, too,” Sanders
added. “Something more than the money.”

“Yeah? What?”

“What you want more than anything.” Sanders
voice seemed tonorous suddenly, weighty with promise. “You have any
idea how many restricted documents I’ve seen in my career?”

Garrett paused in contemplation.
Probably…a lot.

“Did you know that John F. Kennedy okay’d
the murder of the President of South Vietnam as well as six
in-progress assassination operations against Castro after
Bay of Pigs? Did you know that MK-ULTRA program is still
going on? Did you know that the CIA has been flying twenty billion
dollar’s worth of cocaine into Mena Airport in Nell, Arkansas,
every year since the mid-’70s, and that four successive presidents
have authorized it for black-funding?”

Garrett stared.

“In 1995, Boris Yeltsin secretly sold three
nuclear-powered submarines to the Iraqis; in 1996 we sunk all three
of them with an orbiting rail-gun that no one knows about. And
here’s on for ya, Garrett. The Aurora spy plane exists—we have five
of them at a secret base fifty miles northwest of Delta, Utah. But
they’re not really even spy planes; they’re long-range stealth
bombers that can fly 15,000 miles without refueling, and we’ve also
got nuclear ram-jets that max out at Mach 7. And that’s just the
tip of the iceberg, Garrett. Get it?”

Garrett felt smothered by the impact of
Sanders’ words. “What is it—exactly—that you’re saying?”

Veins beat at Sanders’ temples when he
yelled, “Half of the stuff you conspiracy assholes have been
writing about is true!”

Sanders shout seemed to echo as if in a
cavern. “And you’ve got proof?”

“I’ve got a safe-deposit box in a George
Town bank full of proof,” Sanders answered. “What of you
think a guy like me does to protect himself? Over the years of my
career, whenever I’ve had the opportunity to copy a restricted
document, what do you think I did?”

“Copied it,” Garrett said.

“That’s right. And by now I’ve got a stack
of the things. I’ll give them to you—and money—if you let me
go. The next article you write will headline every newspaper in the
world. You’d be the king of the hill. You’ll go down in history as
the guy who busted it all open.”

Garrett felt lost in his thoughts. Sanders
was verifying his life’s work, and the truth behind it.

That truth needed to be revealed.

Sanders’ face grew more intense. “And this
Nellis business? You think this Nellis crash is all there is?”

“No, I don’t. I think there are dozens of
authentic instances of extraterrestrial contact on this planet,”
Garrett replied.

“Not dozens, pal. Try hundreds.
Roswell was real, and so was Kingman and Kecksburg. The first time
the U.S. military officially recovered a crashed extraterrestrial
vehicle was in Glenrock, Wyoming, in 1919. I’ve got copies of the
field photographs and the recovery docs, even the official report
to the president and the secretary of war. There’s stuff that you
can’t even imagine. And I’ll give it to ya, with money.” Sanders
eyed him severely. “Think about it, pal. Everything you’ve ever
wanted—in your whole life—I’ll give you. But you gotta agree
to the deal.”

Garrett stood flabbergasted; already he was
dreaming. The money was nothing, but the data? And it made
perfect sense that someone in Sanders’ position, for all these
years, would have seen so much, and it made just as much sense that
he would’ve duplicated some of it, as a safeguard to himself.

The words echoed back in Garrett’s head:
Half of the stuff you conspiracy assholes have been writing
about is true…

This was Garrett’s own chance, wasn’t
it?

But—

There was one thing that this sudden rush of
greed had caused him to forget.

The kid… The kid’s going to die unless I
find him…

Garrett pushed it all away, regained his
senses. He had no idea where Depot 12 was, and neither did
Sanders.

“Maybe Danny’s father knows where the depot
is,” he suggested.

Sanders’ face drew into a web of creases.
“What is wrong with you. Forget the depot! Forget the damn
kid! You can’t save him anyway! The stuff I’ll give you will make
you famous!”

“Shut up,” Garrett said. “There’s no deal.
The only thing you’d give me is a garrote.”

“I’m serious, man!” Sanders nearly bellowed.
“I swear!”

“Shut up, Garrett repeated, though he was
fidgeting a bit. “Where’d you tie up General Vander and his
wife?”

“Oh, for God’s sake! We don’t have time for
this bullshit!”

Garrett stiffened his stance, aimed the
pistol at Sanders’ forehead. “Which room? Vander might know how to
get to the depot, and I’m not gonna sit back and let some little
kid fry because of a pipe dream. Tell me which room Danny’s father
is in…or I’ll blow you away right here.”

Sanders’ posture and verve seemed to
deflate, a popped raft. “I told you, I knocked him and his wife out
with amobarbital.”

“Then we’ll wake ’em up!” Garrett barked.
“Where are they?”

Sanders shrugged and pointed. “Master
bedroom. Right in there.”

Garrett moved for the door but then caught
his wits. “You,” he said. “Lead the way. I can’t believe I almost
turned my back on a trained assassin.”

Sanders winked at him. “And it’s probably a
good thing you didn’t.”

Sanders walked to the other end of the
upstairs hall, Garret following. Ubel had said that no one knew the
depot’s location but certainly there was a chance that General
Vander, the post’s commander, might know or at least have some
inkling. Garrett’s heart pumped up a few beats in the meager
hope.

“In here,” Sanders said, and opened the door
at the end of the hall. Garrett glanced past Sanders, into the lit
bedroom. Just a normal middle-class bedroom, nice drapes, nice
decor. And Sanders had indeed done as he’d said: he’d tied General
and Mrs. Vander up quite securely.

But it wasn’t like they were going
anywhere.

Garrett’s belly flinched at the sight. The
plush beige bedspread was half red with blood. Long streaks of more
blood drooled down the back wall in long thin lines of scarlet
going brown.

Oh, no, Garrett thought. Holy
shit…. And then he was one spasm short of throwing up.

General Vander lay stiff as a sprawled
scarecrow, the center of his t-shirt an explosion of blood. What
looked like a broken-off wooden chair leg had been driven into his
chest, nailing him to the bed.

Mrs. Vander had fared ever worse. Her body
lay decapitated beside her husband, and her pale head stared back
at Garrett, propped up neatly on a bedpost.

“Go ahead,” Sanders said. “Ask General
Vander if he know where Depot 12 is.”

Finally, Garrett’s face turned up, and he
growled, “You evil murderous piece of shit motherfuck—”

Sanders sprang forward, falling onto Garrett
like brick wall collapsing, his “move” finally made, and Sanders
had expertly made it at just the proper moment as Garrett was
trying to filter his revulsion. Sanders had Garret’s throat in one
hand—instantly squeezing off the air supply—and the other hand on
the gun, which he twisted out of Garrett’s hand as effortlessly as
taking a rattle away from a baby. Suddenly, all of Sanders’ hard
frame and toned muscles seemed to lay atop Garrett as if to flatten
him. The hand snapped off his throat; Garrett shrieked in air.

Then Lynn’s gun was pressed hard to
Garrett’s forehead.

Sanders’ steely eyes glared down, and his
voice flow like some black fluid. “If I wasn’t in a hurry, I’d take
you down slow. I’d do a real job on you—an all-nighter—like I did
to all them VC gook teenagers in the Central Sector. I’d cut off a
piece at a time and cauterize each wound with a blow torch. I’d
flame your face half off like I did to those SDECE schmucks in the
French Congo, and I’d pull your cock off with a pair of vise-grips.
Then I stick lock needles into your kidneys and liver. Real slow.”
Sanders smiled ever so faintly. “Consider yourself fortunate that
I’m in a hurry.”

“Go ahead and shoot me, dickhead,” Garrett
croaked. “And by the way, your mother give lousy head. What
do you think?”

Sanders’ face reddened, tightening. The
barrel of Lynn’s gun pressed harder against Garrett’s forehead as
his finger tightened against the trigger.

And tightened—

And tightened—

“What’s the matter, Ally McBeal?” Garrett
asked. “Big strong tough-guy killer like you isn’t strong enough to
squeeze that measly little trigger?”

Sanders’ grit his teeth, and his finger
whitened from the forces it was exerting against the trigger.

He couldn’t fire the gun.

“What the fuck did you—”

“I told you downstairs, I knew you’d make a
move on me,” Garrett said, grinning up. “So when we were coming up
the steps, I took the clip out of the gun. Even a dick-for-brains
ex-Army moron like you knows that a semi-automatic pistol won’t
fire with the clip removed even when there’s a round in the
chamber.”

Appalled, Sanders leaned up and gaped at the
pistol’s butt. The ammo clip was gone.

“Now look down, at the approximate location
of your navel,” Garrett said.

Sanders, very slowly, did so. And saw his
own pistol, which Garrett had taken off him earlier, firmly
clenched now in Garrett’s hand. The small-caliber barrel was half
an inch away from Sanders’ belly.

“Good job, punk. I’m impressed.”

“And isn’t it a bummer that a guy like you,
who’s killed hundred of people, is gona buy the farm from a
non-hacking liberal skinny milquetoast computer-geek tabloid writer
like me?” Garrett posed.

Sanders chuckled right down into his face.
“You ain’t got the nuts to kill me.”

BAM!

Sanders howled as the first round popped
into his abdomen. He rolled over, and—

BAM!

Garrett put the second round between
Sanders’ eyes.

“Say what?” Garrett asked the corpse
when he got up off the floor and dusted himself off. “I don’t have
the what?”

 


 




CHAPTER FIFTEEN

 


Past midnight now. The warped moon hung low,
as if sitting atop the treeline, a sickly dark-yellow glow. The
air—still warm and sticky even at this time of night—seemed to
throb back and forth in its faint yet somehow deafening chorus of
crickets. peepers, and nightbirds.

Danny Vander’s sneakered feet took him over
another low, weedy hill. The mon followed him along the trees. The
harsh Maryland summer had brought a lengthy drought, browning the
post’s vast grasslands, sucking life from plants and flowers. The
parched weeds crunched beneath each of Danny’s steps. Several
times, owls hooted at him from high trees, and every so often, he
felt a creepy, silent whir above his head: bats.

By now, as he marched on, Danny thought he
must be going crazy. Why else would he be seeing a psychiatrist?
Why else would he feel like everything around him was breaking up
into hundreds of pieces like a pop bottle dropped on the pavement?
Between his anguish at home during the day, and the Stickmen at
night, sometimes Danny wished he could just die.

Steady tears kept his cheeks wet. What had
happened just a little while ago seemed like a terrible nightmare.
But this nightmare, he knew, was real.

That terrible man who’d come into the
house….

And what he’d done to Danny’s parents while
the man had made him watch…

He…cut off…Mom’s…

Danny gagged, squeezed his eyes shut, and
stopped for a moment. He pushed it all out of his mind, forced
himself not to think about it, not to remember it. He had to
pretend that it didn’t exist.

My Mom and Dad are dead…

It took a little while—to push it all away.
But he knew it was the Stickmen helping him.

And they had helped him, hadn’t
they?

Well, sort of.

They’d helped him get away.

Yeah, he thought, but only so I
can help them.

He didn’t understand, and he guess he never
would. And for some reason, he knew he wasn’t supposed to.
He knew that he couldn’t, he couldn’t understand. It
was like what his parents had told him about God, that time just a
little while ago when they’d all been in the living room watching
the news channel about the big earthquake in some place on the
other side of the world called Turkey. Thousands and thousands of
people had died, all in one night, and Danny didn’t understand, so
he’d asked “How could God let that happen?”

His Mom and Dad had both looked at each
other funny, but then his mother had said, “He didn’t let it
happen, Danny. It just happened because—”

“The devil owns the title deed to
this world, son,” his father had cut in, drinking beer like
he almost always did at night. “It’s been that way since Eve bit
the apple, since mankind said no to paradise.”

Danny did get it, and his mother didn’t look
too happy with Dad’s explanation. “God’s much bigger than us,
honey,” she said. “He’s a lot smarter than us, and there are a lot
of things about his plan for us that we simply can’t understand
because we aren’t able to.”

Danny still didn’t get it…but he guessed
this must be pretty much the same thing. He didn’t understand why
all of this was happening because humans couldn’t understand
it. They weren’t smart enough. But God understood because He was
smarter.

So were the Stickmen, Danny figured.

After the man had killed his parents and
handcuffed Danny’s wrist to the bed, he’d gone back downstairs.

That’s when the Stickmen had come back into
his head and told him how to get away.

The glove…

Danny always kept it in his back pocket,
just like the Stickmen had told him.

He continued walking, carrying the big case
along with him. He knew where he was supposed to go now—the
Stickmen had told him that too, just a little while ago.

Danny felt like a doll being pulled apart
four different ways. But he just kept walking. He just kept moving
on, to the place he knew…but didn’t.

This…this must be it, he thought. His
skin started to prickle, and he heard a drone in his head. It was
the way that the Stickmen talked to him when they couldn’t be close
enough to actually see him or put the weird shape-like words in his
head.

The prickling, the drone.

At least, after tonight, there’d be no more
headaches. The Stickmen promised him that.

He stood in a clearing now, just slight dip
against the belt of trees along the rising hills. The moonlight
drenched the entire area in its creepy yellow light. Danny set the
big case down, then lowered himself to his knees. He began sweeping
the leaves away with his hands, moving brush off the dry ground. It
took him a while; there was almost an inch of soil beneath the
leaves, and he had to dig through that, too. Several earthworms
came up between his fingers but he flung them aside. He knew this
was the right place.

He just didn’t know what the place
was.

He smoothed his hands around some more—it
began to hurt, scuffing against his skin—but then after only a few
more seconds, he felt it.

Something underneath.

Underneath the leaves and branches and
dirt.

Here…

It felt perfectly flat and cool, like metal.
Then he felt something else: a Square bump, like a box about half
the size of a video tape like the kind they rented sometimes at
Blockbuster.

When he brushed off all the dirt, he could
see it in the moonlight: the small box.

It was a lock.

The lock had sort of a lid on top, and Danny
simply flicked a little switch on the side, then the lid popped
open, to reveal ten buttons that reminded of the buttons on a
telephone. It was a combination lock, and the buttons were the
combination.

Danny didn’t know what the right buttons to
push were—but he didn’t really care.

It didn’t really matter, did it?

He firmly gasped the body of the lock with
his gloved hand, and pulled.

The lock broke open with a loud
snap!

Danny threw the pieces off to the side. Then
he grabbed the heavy steel ring underneath. He lifted the ring…

And then the cool flat surface beneath the
dirt began to rise, and that’s when Danny figured out what this
was.

A great big trapdoor—in the ground.

The face of the door itself was about the
size of his bed mattress. When he lifted the door up all the way to
standing height, he effortlessly flung it back. Its hinges
screeched a little, then the doors fell back flat against the
ground with a muffled swoosh, then a thud.

It was a square black hole that he was
looking at now. Then, very slowly, a light came on, faint at first
then gaining in strength, until Danny could see its detail. The
light was red, mounted on the side of a metal wall inside the hole,
like a backup light on a submarine.

Now he could see inside of the hole, he
could see what was there:

A gridded metal ramp.

Danny stood there for a time, wrapped up in
the warm summer air and the swarming nightsounds. The owl hooted
again, and deeper in the woods, he could hear the quick rustles of
an animal, squirrels probably, or a fox.

Even though he was only eight years old,
Danny felt a sudden and very complex notion of loss. Just being
able to stand in some grove in the middle of the night was
something he’d taken for granted. There was an astonishing beauty
in the world that he’d never really noticed until now, until just
this precise moment. The humid, sweeping night, the calls of
crickets and peepers, the hush-like sound of an errant
breeze straying through the woods.

It was all exponentially and indescribably
beautiful.

And for that same handful of isolated
moments, Danny felt like a grownup, thinking such things, becoming
aware of how beautiful the world was.

And understanding that he’d never see any of
that beauty ever again.

It’s almost time, he realized.

It was time to go down, down into the
hole.

Danny picked up the ADM and began to walk
down the red-lit ramp.

 


««—»»

 


The kid’s gonna die, the thought
pounded into Garrett’s head. It was a peculiar impact of emotion.
Kid’s shouldn’t die, but they did every day. Across the globe
millions of kids died every month, from starvation, disease,
remnant anti-personnel mines, and the mindless wars of men. Garrett
didn’t even know Danny Vander, had never met him…but that didn’t
matter at all. He was just another kid.

Just another innocent who’s gonna die
because of something he doesn’t understand.

Garrett felt impotent, useless.

He had done his job, though, hadn’t
he? Swenson’s last vital order had been carried out, and so had
Warrant Officer Ubel’s.

Ubel’s instructions repeated like a whisper
in Garrett’s mind. If Danny Vander is not allowed to set off
that ADM at exactly the right time, then… Christ, I don’t know what
will happen. Who knows what those things might do in
retaliation?Garrett had nixed the threat; he’d killed Sanders.
So now Danny Vander would be able to set off that bomb at
the proper time.

And he’d die.

Garrett understood the influence that the
aliens must have over Danny, and he couldn’t forget that they’d
influence Swenson too. But in all their clear psychical and
technical superiority over the human race, Garrett sorely doubted
that they had the capability of communicating the proper timer and
fuze instructions to Danny in a way that would allow him to escape.
Even if the bomb had instructions, how could an eight-year-old kid
discern all the details?

“Fuck!” Garrett suddenly shouted, and
punched the wall in frustration. The wall had barely dented—he’d
struck a stud—and then his knuckles throbbed in pain. Dickhead!
Break your hand why don’t you? That’s just what you need!

It was futile to be angry. There was nothing
he could do. What ever it was that needed to happen tonight in all
likelihood would happen. Not even Garrett was sure what that
could be, but he knew it was crucial. Danny Vander would die, but
something more important than Danny, than Garrett, than anyone on
the planet, would be served.

That’s just the way it is, Garrett
thought.

He meandered around the house, fully aware
that the dead bodies upstairs would have to be tended to in some
way. Garrett himself, of course, could not be present to
explain…because who would believe such an explanation? No, a
simple “anonymous” phone call to the base security office would
suffice. He’d leave the post soon, and stop at the nearest
payphone. And that would be the end of it. No one in authority
would ever figure it out, and that was fine. It would look like
some kind of militia murder, and Sanders’ body would never be able
to be officially identified except by the highest cells who knew
all about this already. Case closed.

Garrett helped himself to a beer from the
Vander refrigerator (he doubted that the general would mind), then
sullenly shuffled about and smoked, perusing the family room
without really seeing anything.

Walking through a bad dream.

The house sat totally silent; Garrett felt
edgy. There was something unnerving about being in a house that had
three dead bodies upstairs, wasn’t there? The darkest musing caused
his heart to skip a beat. He was the only one alive in the house.
What would he do if he heard someone coming down the stairs?

Garrett flinched.

His mind was trying to spook him, but he
knew it was only remorse. Why didn’t he just leave?

He tapped an ash in the sink, then cocked a
brow toward the other side of the kitchen.

What’s…that?

He noticed two doors.

One of them was obviously an exterior door
which lead out to the back yard. But the second door stood slightly
ajar.

Basement? he wondered.

When he approached and pushed it open, he
found exactly that. He flicked the light switch next to the wall
and was looking down a flight of wooden steps.

He took them down, found a typical basement.
Mostly storage for old stuff that had outlived its usefulness but
no one had the heart to throw away or give to Good Will. Lots of
cardboard boxes and old lamps and chairs with sheets draped over
them. He turned on another light from a dangling string. And
stared.

There, along the farthest wall, Garrett
easily noticed a number of disarranged moving boxes. They appeared
to have been pulled out, pulled away from the wall. Garrett walked
closer and leaned over. He squinted.

This is where Danny hid the ADM, he
knew at once. Swathes of dust on the floor had been plowed away
when the boxes had been pulled out, and it was clear it had
happened very recently. The boxes left lines of dust from their
movement.

“So that’s where Danny stowed the bomb,”
Garrett voice aloud. The words echoed dully. A short flight of
wooden steps lead to a pair of cellar doors which, when pushed up,
provided an exit to the basement. It was all right in front of him
now: Garrett knew that he was looking at Danny’s route with the
bomb.

When he went over to the cellar doors, he
wasn’t surprised to find a broken Master padlock. He mounted a few
of the steps, pushed up one of the cellar doors, and was next
peering out into the night.

He’s out there, somewhere, he
thought. An eight-year-old kid with a tactical atomic explosive
device…and I have no way of finding him.

Still glum, Garrett came back in, let the
cellar door flap shut. He was about to go back upstairs and leave
the house, but then he noticed the short work tale erected off to
the side. He turned on another overhead bulb and saw nothing out of
the ordinary. Just a regular workbench with a vise mounted in the
corner. Various tools hung from clasps in peg board sections on the
side wall. Big deal, he thought. But then he noticed the
corner of a folder sticking out from under a package of sandpaper.
Garrett withdrew the folder and found it filled with sketches.

Garrett began to flip through the sketches.
Looks like Danny had an interest in drawing… Though clearly
rudimentary, it was damn good artwork for a kid; in fact, when
Garrett thought back to the files Swenson had given him, and the
CIA’s Physiological Science Unit’s artistic renditions of the
Nellis crash based on eyewitness accounts—he decided that, if
anything, Danny’s drawings were better.

And definitely based on the same theme.

He’d drawn several versions of the ship, to
the same specifications and levels of detail related by witness
descriptions from over thirty-five years ago. The long, narrow
fuselage, all black, a cylinder in the sky. The thin illumination
element running underneath like a thread of light. The bizarre
trapezoidal shapes on the sides that could only be windows or
viewing ports. Next came a salvo of drawings depicting the beings
themselves: tall, lanky stick-figures, nearly flesh-less, a creepy
stub for a head. Worse was the face…if it could be called that. No
features whatsoever, save for a single slit for eyes.

But what bothered Garrett more than any of
that was the meticulousness with which Danny had drawn the only
part Garrett had actually seen for himself.

The beings’ hands.

They were identical in configuration to that
of the forearm bone he’d found in the storage garage.

Just two multi-jointed fingers joined at a
narrow wrist.

Garret shuddered.

Several more drawings showed a young
boy—obviously Danny’s depiction of himself—standing on a hillock at
night, gazing up at the cylindrical vehicle. Another sketch of the
figures standing over Danny’s bed, leaning over, and several more
of Danny standing in a place that could only be the inside of the
craft.

The kid must’ve been shit-scared,
Garrett considered, then wondered how well he would handle
the same situation.

Probably not very well.

The final few sketches, however, were easily
the most curious.

What the hell is this?

Garrett peered at the next drawing. It was
Danny carrying a fat suitcase-like container away from a fence that
had been pried apart. The bomb, Garrett realized. He had a
theory for everything else, but not this.

How did an eight-year-old kid bust open a
twin-layered electrically charged fence, break three unbreakable
high-security locks?

That’s what I wanna know? Garrett
thought, urgently examining the sketch.

Then he noticed something curious. In
Danny’s own sketch of himself lugging the bomb away from the
fence…

What’s…that?

There seemed to be something on his hand,
the hand that gripped the slot-like handle in the ADM’s case.
But…what was it?

A glove? Garrett wondered. .

He couldn’t be sure; the details of the
drawing were minute. But there was definitely something on the
figure’s hand in the drawing, the hand carrying the bomb, and it
could’ve been a glove, or…just something odd that seemed to be
covering Danny’s hand.

Then:

Wait a minute, Garrett slowly thought
when he flipped to the final sketch in the stack. Is that
a…

The last sketch was simple and stark. A
grainy black shape with an oval opening at one end and two
long…fingerlike shapes extending from the other end.

Like a glove.

For a two-fingered hand, Garrett
thought.

Garrett stared, cruxing, contemplating.

This was very interesting.

But then the full reality snapped back into
his power of cognizance. What difference did it make? There was
nothing Garrett could do. Even if he could figure these sketches
out completely, the fact remained that Danny Vander was already on
his way to Area November, Depot 12, to set off the ADM in a crudely
nuclear detonation that would surely vaporize his eight-year-old
self in a single five-million-degree second.

Garrett didn’t know where Area November,
Depot 12, was. And there was no way to find out.

Therefore, he was helpless to save Danny
Vander.

So what am I worrying about it for?
he reasoned. If I could do something, I would. But I
can’t…because I don’t know where Danny went.

That was it. That was the final truth.

I might as well just get out of here, go
home, get back to my life. I did my best, but the final pieces just
didn’t work out.

For some reason he couldn’t quite define, he
picked up the pile of sketches, placed them back in the folder, and
prepared to take them. Some last vestige, at least, if this little
kid he would never meet but who was carrying out a paramount task
nonetheless.

Something to remember him by.

An innocent kid…

Another confused anger welled up, though,
even though he realized it was a futile emotion. Whatever these
things were, and from wherever they came—

Fuck them, Garrett thought.
Fuckers…

Swenson’s last order had been fulfilled. And
these beings, sure, they were getting what they needed, but they
were doing so at the expense of a little boy—a little innocent
easily manipulated human boy.

What right did they have to do that?

With all the hypotheses and common-sense
deductions that any alien race capable of traveling to earth would
have to be superior—

It’s all shit.

They’re just as self-serving and selfish as
we are.

Garrett, at least, knew this: if his
own survival depending on the sacrifice of a little boy…he’d
say to hell with it. He wouldn’t let a little boy die to save his
own skin.

`He wouldn’t. He simply knew it.

He lit a cigarette, spewed frustrated smoke
into the cramped basement. Maybe people were the same everywhere
overall. On this planet or any other.

No compassion anywhere.

The whole thing’s just so…fucked up.

He placed the folder of sketches under his
arm and turned to leave, turned to put this whole nightmare behind
him, when—

CHRIST!

A stab of pain shot into his head like a
slaughterman’s air-bolt gun. Garrett’s face contorted into a twist
of agony. At first he thought that someone must’ve shot a bullet
into his head, but when he collapsed to the basement’s cement
floor, he vision showed him that he was undeniably alone.

Then the pain in his head trebled, and
trebled again, such that he lay completely paralyzed. Tears
squeezed out from the corners of his eyes, his face a rictus. His
mouth froze open but he couldn’t even muster a whimper much less a
scream.

Garret knew he was having a stroke.

He knew he was going to die.

But he didn’t know that he was wrong—

 


 


CHAPTER SIXTEEN

 


THIS IS AN AIR FORCE SECURITY SERVICE

SECURITY PERIMETER

ONLY CLEARED AIR FORCE PERSONNEL MAY
PROCEED

PAST THIS POINT, BY ORDER OF AFR 200-2

 


In the smeary red backup light, Danny read
the bold words on the warning sign at the bottom of the ramp, but
he thought little of it. It didn’t matter. After tonight, what good
would words be to him? Unless there was heaven.

Danny hoped so.

It was obvious that no one had entered this
place for a long time. Cobwebs festooned the metal walls, and he
could see heavy streaks of rust breaking out from blisters of
powder-blue paint. Danny could actually smell the rust down
here.

But…

Where do I go now? he asked
himself.

Now that he’d come all the way down the
ramp, it was just a small metal-walled room that he stood in, dark
in the weird red light. Just four walls, no doors. He knew,
however, that this wasn’t the place where he was supposed to set
off the bomb.

He knew because the Stickmen had told
him.

That’s when he noticed the small glass panel
on one of the walls. He had to stand on his tip-toes to open the
panel, and then he had to squint through the red light to read.

MAIN POWER, read a tiny plaque inside. And
just below the plaque was a handle.

Danny stretched his arm up and pulled down
on the handle. He grunted, gritting his teeth, but the handle
wouldn’t budge; it was probably locked up with rust. For a few
seconds, Danny felt frantic but then he nearly laughed at
himself.

He reached up with his other hand—the
hand with the glove on it—and pulled down on the handle again. The
rust in the handle’s slot, hard as cement, ground and broke, then
the handle thunked to the bottom.

Bright white lights snapped on, filling the
small metal room. Danny flinched, shielded his eyes. Now the floor
seemed to hum, and he could hear distant clicks and snaps and sharp
noises below him, underground. Now, with the lights blazing, Danny
easily spotted the circular red button on the wall opposite.

Danny pressed the button, and then came a
loud CLACK!, then a steady groaning sound like a motor running.

Wow…

The metal-walled room was a room at all, not
really. It was an elevator.

The entire “room” began to lower.

As the top-edges of the walls separated from
the ceiling, Danny could see wheels turning and long fat cables
extending. The squeaky hum follow him down for what must have been
fifty feet, while the floor jiggled. Then another, louder,
thunk.

The floor shuddered to a halt. Flecks of
rust drifted down, dusting Danny’s head in its red-black grit.

Here, Danny thought.

Deep.

He stepped off the elevator platform into
another room of blue-painted metal walls infected by outbreaks of
rust. More bright white lights blared. He set the ADM case down and
approached a very large white door that had sections and hinges
like the garage door back at his house.

Stenciled lettered in black paint read:

 


AREA NOVEMBER

(POST PLAT: 413, GRID: 66-798)

 


DEPOT 12

 


UNAUTHORIZED ENTRANCE PUNISHABLE BY
DEATH

 


Another rubber-tipped handle stuck out of a
slot in the wall. Danny yanked it down.

More humming and clanging. More rust sifted
out from overhead.

As the big hinged door began to rise.

Eventually the door’s slatted sections were
reeled overhead, leaving a wide open doorway before him, beyond
which more white spotlights beamed down. Danny picked the ADM back
up and walked forward into a another room, this one formed of not
painted metal walls but painted slab concrete.

This was the vault, Danny knew.

This was the depot.

The depot itself looked about as large as
the multi-purpose room back at school. Every step he took forward
echoed loudly around his head; Danny thought of the night-birds
outside, and the bats. It seemed to take a long time to walk to the
center of the depot.

And it seemed to be an awful lot of space
for just this.

The depot vault was big enough to house at
least a hundred cars, but all that sat in the middle of it were
three long, thin wooden crates lying next to each other.

The crates looked weird: eight or nine feet
long and only maybe a foot and a half wide. There was a part of
Danny’s psyche that couldn’t imagine what the crates contained.

But there was another part of Danny’s psyche
that knew exactly what the crates were.

Each crate had a stenciled label:

 


THESE CONTAINERS ARE THE

PROPERTY OF THE U.S. AIR FORCE MATERIALS
COMMAND

 


DO NOT TOUCH!

 


THIS MATERIAL IS BOOBY-TRAPPED!

 


UNAUTHORIZED OPENING OF THESE CONTAINERS

WILL RESULT IN A FATAL EXPLOSION

 


Again, Danny knew even though he
didn’t. The Stickmen had told him in his mind. This was just a
trick to scare people away.

I know, he thought. Just like he knew
his own address.

Danny knew that the long wooden crates
weren’t really booby-trapped. And somehow he knew more. He knew
that someone from a long time ago had hidden these crates here—and
old bald man who was dead now—and that this man had put the phony
booby-trap warning on the crates on purpose.

The Stickmen had told him that.

Besides, he didn’t really need to open the
crates anyway.

I just need to blow them up with this
bomb, he reminded himself.

Danny knelt at the ADM, and removed some
things from a canvas sack attached to it. He looked closely at the
things close inside the sack: a roll of tan-colored wire, a small
box with a clock on it, and a smaller box with square protruding
button.

He didn’t know what any of these things
were.

Then he opened a small book with a
light-yellow paper cover. The book was pretty fat. The cover
read:

 


FIELD OPERATING INSTRUCTIONS FOR

THE M129 (S-)A-D-M AND W-54 WARHEAD
ASSEMBLY

 


TECH LEVEL: MOS-12E50

FM: 233-24-65

 


Next, Danny turned open the cover, found a
heading in the Table Of Contents, and found a heading called
Primary Assembly.

It read:

 


EMERGENCY DETONATION PROCEDURES

1) Connect lead #1 (fig. 1) to DETCORD line
(fig. 2) to timer (fig. 3).

2) Connect lead #2 to M34 firing device
(fig. 4)

3) Unshunt one military (non-electric)
blasting cap (fig. 5) and fix to end of lead #1.

4) Insert blasting cap into ADM capwell as
marked.

 


Danny opened the ADM’s heavy black transport
case, and removed the heavy, block-like mechanism. It was covered
in an odd dark-green plastic with ridges. As best he could, he
followed all of the instructions he’d just read in the manual, then
looked back at the page.

 


5) Open safety cover of M34 firing device,
and switch safety toggle to OFF position.

6) Reclose safety cover and depress.

 


Danny hoped he was doing it all right, and
he had a pretty good feeling that he was. He followed the
instructions to the letter, using a diagram on the facing page as a
guide. Then he checked and rechecked and triple-checked.

It all looked right.

There, he thought. I think it’s
ready…

He picked up the little plastic box that was
the M34 firing device; he held in neatly in his hand. His thumb
slid over the safety cover.

All he needed to do was push down.

He wondered if he’d heard the explosion.

He wondered if he’d live long enough to even
hear a click.

But he did know one thing: he wouldn’t feel
anything when he died. It would all happen too fast.

“Bye, Mom. Bye’, Dad,” he said, blinking
tears out of his eyes.

I hope…I hope there really is a heaven…

Danny shut his eyes, squeezed them tight,
then began to press down on the plastic safety cover, until—

“Wait a second, Danny,” a man’s voice called
out.

 


 


CHAPTER SEVENTEEN

 


Jesus Christ! I’m a writer, not a fuckin’
gymnast! Garrett had thought as he’d cautiously repelled down
age-old elevator cables. His shirt was ruined, his $300 Italian
slacks ruined, his hands black with cable grease.

He didn’t know how he’d gotten here…but on
the other hand, he did.

He remembered being at the Vander house,
Danny’s butchered parents in the upstairs bedroom, and Sanders.

Oh, man…

He remembered killing Sanders.

Garrett didn’t know if it was right to feel
good about killing someone, even someone as corrupt, cold-blooded,
and simply as evil as Sanders. It probably wasn’t
right, but…

Garrett felt good about it anyway.

Then he’d strayed around a bit, feeling
absolutely useless—even feeling guilty because Danny would die when
he set off the ADM, and there was nothing Garrett could do because
he didn’t know where Area November was, nor Depot 12.

And, more particularly, he remembered
damning these foreign lifeforms for using an innocent kid to
do their dirty work. He remembered hating them for it.

Abducting and brain-washing a little kid for
their own devices….

Then—

He remembered more: the basement. He
wandered down to the basement, discovered the place where Danny had
hidden the bomb, then discovered the boy’s sketches.

But before he’d had time to leave, he’d
collapsed to the cold basement floor.

He imagined the worst tequila hangover he’d
ever had in his life, then increased that discomfort tenfold.
That’s what the headache had felt like.

It had struck him so suddenly that the
little rationale he had left suspected that all the booze, junk
food, and cigarettes had finally caught up to him, in Danny
Vander’s basement, of all places.

Garrett suspected that the Golden Hour had
arrived, by way of an aneurism or catastrophic stroke. When he’d
passed out from the eruption of pain, he actually expected to
die.

He expected to never wake up.

But he did.

He’d regained consciousness in a blurred,
glowing dream. A trance-channel, he knew at once, even
though he’d never before experienced such a thing. Reports of this
same phenomenon accompanied certain types of abduction reports the
same way meeting dead relatives accompanied near-death experiences.
Garrett’s own research community was well-versed with such reports.
A complex mode of telepathic thought- and image-conveyance, a crude
joining of minds that transcended language.

Garrett knew that’s what had happened.

The things had touched his
spirit. They answered his questions when he’d desperately needed
the answers.

And they’d told him, in their own way, how
to find Depot 12.

He recalled little else of the experience,
almost no detail. Just nebulous colors and metallic scents. Words
appeared in his head that weren’t really words. And for a
moment—the most irreducible fraction of a moment—he saw them.

Figures tall and thin, skeletons scarcely
covered with flesh at all.

Narrow, post-like heads…

Hands with but two fingers each…

And that had been the end of it. Garrett had
awakened on the basement floor, knowing exactly what to do and
where to go.

And now…he was here.

With difficulty, he twisted his body up and
over the top edge of the elevator wall, smeared with gritty grease,
and dropped down to the platform’s steel floor. Beyond the
elevator’s open entry, he saw—

Holy shit!

—the vast empty depot, the three weirdly
narrow crates, and Danny Vander kneeling stoically under the harsh
spotlights mounted overhead.

Danny had assembled the ADM, and it looked
like he was about to—

“Wait a second, Danny!” Garrett called
out.

The boy’s wan face jerked toward Garrett,
eyes wide, terrified, but also keenly defensive.

Danny had the small plastic firing device in
his hand. Garret knew the consequences. All the kid has to do is
press down on that switch until it clicks…and the show’s
over…

Garrett held up his hand. “Danny? Listen to
me for a second.”

“Who are you!” the boy wailed. “I don’t know
you! What are you doing here! No one knows about this except
me!”

“I know too, Danny,” Garrett said
softly.

Danny’s face strained, tears streaking his
cheeks. His thumb rested firmly on the firing switch. “You’re one
of the people against the Stickmen! You’re like that man at my
house who killed my parents!”

“No I’m NOT!” Garrett yelled
back.

“You want to stop me from blowing this
up!”

“That’s not true, Danny,” Garrett said,
trying to settle down. It was hard to settle down when one was a
half-second away from an instantaneous multi-million degree atomic
fireball. “I want you to blow it up, Danny. I know that you
have to do it. I want you to set that bomb off.”

Danny blinked, frozen. “You-you do?”

“That’s right, Danny. I was sent here to
make sure that you did. It’s very important, and you and I both
know that.”

Danny gulped, blinked again. “How did you
get here? Know one know about this place but me.”

“The aliens told me, Danny,” Garret said.
Then he thought: What did he call them? The— “The Stickmen
told me. They told me where you were.”

The boy’s paused lengthened. Then: “I don’t
believe you! The Stickmen only talk to me! I’m pushing the button
now!”

“All right, Danny. Go ahead and push the
button, because, like I told you, I want you to do it too. But if
you push that button now, you and I will both die. There’s a way
that you can still do it…but live. You’ve been having headaches,
right?”

The boy’s eyes fixed on Garret. “Y-yeah. How
did you know that?”

“But you only have the headaches when the
Stickmen talk to you, right?”

“Y-yeah.”

“Well, the same thing happened to me a
little while ago. The Stickmen talked to me.” Garrett was
sweating, trembling. He’d already beaten death once tonight. Maybe
twice was too much to ask. “My name’s Harlan,” he said. “I’m not
here to hurt you, and I’m not here to stop you from setting that
bomb off. The Stickmen don’t want you to die for them, Danny. But
the way that they communicate with you—the way that they talk to
you—it isn’t sophisticated enough to tell you all of the details.
If you listen to me for just one minute…”

“No!” Danny shouted. “You’re trying to trick
me! I’m blowing it up right now!”

The boy’s face reddened, then he—

snap!

—pressed the firing switch. The click, like
a tiny bone snapping, was all Garrett needed to hear to know that
his life was over. Het really wasn’t sure if he’d pissed in his
pants or not—what did it matter? A reflex caused him to close his
eyes, grit his teeth, clamp his hands over his ear, but that didn’t
matter either.

God…forgive me for my sins, he
thought.

At least he could take some comfort in
knowing that he would die so quickly, his nerves would not have
time to register pain.

Shit, I’ve had a pretty good life, so what
the fuck am I complaining about?

A second ticked by, then two, then
three.

Garrett knew he would be foolish to hope for
a misfire. He knew that the ADM—however “atomic”—relied on
conventional explosives and conventional fuse-mechanisms to
properly detonate. This might take another second or two.

Garrett stood there, frozen, eyes squeezed
shut, waiting for the big boom.

And he stood there like that for twenty more
seconds. Nothing happened.

No explosion.

Oh, man, this has been a long day, he
thought.

Danny was looking frantic at the ADM
assembly, pulling on wires, shoving against the transport case,
clicking and clicking and clicking the plastic firing switch.

Either it’s a dud, Garrett reasoned,
from being in storage for so long, or—

“Danny?”

The child was futilely smacking his hand
against the 1.5 kiloton atomic demolition munition.

“Danny? Listen to me.”

Danny cowered, looking up at Garrett.
“Something went wrong,” he sobbed. “And you’re going to kill me
now! Like the man at the house wanted!”

“No, Danny. It’s nothing like that,” Garrett
assured him. “I understand why you might think that. I understand
that you can’t trust anybody but yourself. Believe me, I’ve felt
the same way for a long time.”

“Stay away!”

Garrett spread his hands. “If I was going to
hurt you, I could do it now, couldn’t I?” he tried to reason. “But
I’m not that kind of person. I’m not like the…man at the house. I’m
here to help you. Will you let me help you? If you say no, then
I’ll walk away right now. But if I do that—”

“The Stickmen,” Danny whispered. “I didn’t
do what they needed…”

“Let me help, okay?”

A last long stare. Then Danny nodded.

Garrett walked to the center of the vault.
He wanted a cigarette, real bad, but that probably wasn’t a
very good idea considering his vicinity to a conventional fuse
assembly.

Danny buried his face in his hands. “I
fuh-fuh-failed them…”

“No you didn’t,” Garrett assured. “There’s
probably just a few kinks to work out of this thing.”

“I failed them… Just like I failed my
father.”

“You didn’t fail you father. You didn’t fail
anyone. You’re a good kid and you’ve always done your best.”

“My father wanted me to play sports and
stuff. But I was never any good at it. I just wanted to draw.”

Garrett knelt down beside the warhead
housing of the ADM. “Let me tell you something about fathers,
Danny. Sometimes they say things they don’t mean. Sometimes they
have their own idea about their kids. But later, after they’ve had
time to think about things, they want you to do what you
want. I’ve seen your drawings, and they’re real good. You’ll be a
great artist one day. And I’m sure your father was very proud of
you.”

Danny sniffled through some abating sobs.
“You think so?”

“I’m sure of it.”

Garrett looked at the top-face of the bomb
chassis. Yeah, I know what I’m doing, he sarcastically
thought. But at least the kid seemed to have put it together. “How
did you do this?” he asked.

“The book,” Danny said, pointing.

Ah, the good old operational
instructions, Garrett thought, and picked up the fat Army field
manual lying beside the device. He scanned the table of contents.
“How old are you?” he asked. “Eight?”

“Eight going on nine.”

“Well, even for a smart eight-year-old like
you, this book’s pretty thick and complicated. You think maybe I
should take a crack at it?”

“Yuh-yeah.”

Garrett flipped to crucial pages, noting
quickly that Danny had used the emergency detonation guidelines on
the inside front cover, which made no mention of the timer
protocol, nor the safe-distance perimeters. Getting this thing
to go bang shouldn’t be too hard. As he continued to survey the
manual, he said, “After the Stickmen told me how to get here, I
couldn’t help but notice that it’s a good five-mile walk from your
house, and five miles is a long way for an eight-year-old boy to
carry a big heavy thing like this.”

“The Stickmen made me strong,” Danny said
with little interest. “They gave me the glove…”

Glove? Garrett wondered, looking up
from the field manual. Then Danny handed him what looked like a
flap of grayish-black fabric, and when Garrett examined it, he
discovered that it was indeed quite glove-like: a thin sack of
mysterious cloth that felt oddly metallic. But when Garrett held it
up—

That’s some glove…

A glove for a narrow, two-fingered hand.

Garrett remember Danny’s sketch that he’d
found in the basement. A sketch of something like a glove…

“It doesn’t fit right ’cos the Stickmen only
have two fingers,” Danny said. “But when you put it on, it
stretches.”

Garrett slipped it over his own hand. The
bizarre material widened as if elasticized; Garrett slipped his
thumb into one finger, then squeezed the rest of his own digits
into the second finger until it appeared that he was wearing a
tight black mitten.

Now, Garrett was beginning to get it.

He put his covered fingers into the ADM’s
lug-slot—and lifted up the entire device as if it were a Styrofoam
box.

“See?” Danny said.

A simple explanation via a highly complex
extraterrestrial technology. As astonishing as it was, Garrett,
now, wasn’t particularly shocked. A poly-nano textile? A
molecular weft? Many remote theories of physics and motion
could account for something like this. A gallium-based isolator
in a nano-morphic shell, each microscopic in actual size yet
replicated a billion-fold could comprise such a material,
Garrett surmised. Simple body heat would suffice for a power source
whereupon the material would be able to harness one-half of the
proximal available gravity and convert it into foot-pounds of
force.

Instant human fork-lift…

Garrett, now that he could see it with his
own eyes, was actually surprised how unsurprised he felt. It
wasn’t much of a stretch to believe that a race of lifeforms
capable of inter-galactic flight could develop a lifting tool

“So this is how you tore open the security
fences and broke those locks,” Garrett said.

“Uh-huh. I threw a baseball with it once
and…it disappeared.”

“I’ll bet,” Garrett chuckled. “And I’ll bet
you could knock Mike Tyson out with one punch.” He took off the
glove and went back to scanning the manual. “So tell me more about
the Stickmen, Danny. They came a couple weeks ago, and they took
you on their ship, didn’t they?”

“Yeah, but no one believed me,” the boy
dejectedly replied.

“I believe you, Danny. There are all
different kinds of Stickmen, and I know lots of people who’ve met
them. Just like you. When the Stickmen took you onto their ship,
what did they do?”

“They…talked to me—well, sort of. They told
me how to help them, then they left real fast.”

“But they continued talking you after that,
too, right?”

“Yeah, like in my dreams, or during the day
when I’d get the headaches. They talked to me in my head, from far
away.”

“What else did they tel you?”

“They told me they’ve only been here a few
times. The first time was a long time ago, and that ship crashed.
They told me it was because of something called a valence frequency
shift displacement, but I don’t know what that means.”

“It means that the propulsion system on
their ship—the engine, Danny—can’t work for very long near earth,”
Garrett postulated. “There’s a magnetic field around the earth
that’s, like, the opposite of the magnetic field that they’re used
to. That first ship stayed too long, and its engine lost all its
power. That’s why it crashed. So the Stickmen on the other ship
asked you to help them. They want you to set off this bomb. The
radiation in the bomb will bring the dead Stickmen in those boxes
back to life, won’t it?”

Danny nodded glumly, looking at the long,
narrow wooden crates. “But I’m not too sure what happens after
that.”

Garrett could guess, now that all of the
theory was falling into place. “Then the other ship will come back
real fast, pick them up, and take them back home.”

“But it has to be tonight—that’s what they
told me too,” the boy added. “Because of something called an
apogee. I don’t know what that means either, but they said if it
doesn’t happen tonight, then it would be a really long time before
they could come back again.”

“What that means, Danny, is that they live
so far away, they can only come here at special times, when the
earth’s orbit is at a certain point in space.”

“Wow. You know a lot.”

Garrett raised a brow. “Well, let’s just say
that I think I know a lot, and if I’m wrong…” He didn’t
finish the speculation. “Right now we gotta set this bomb off like
you promised the Stickmen.”

“But it didn’t blow up. When I pushed the
button. It must be broken.”

“Well, let’s just check it out…” After a few
more moments of inspection, Garrett saw just how close they’d both
come to instant death. Jesus. What luck. And again he
thanked God, not really knowing if he believed in God. Garrett
figured now might be a good time to start.

He disconnected the main lead and saw that
Danny hadn’t properly unshunted the blasting cap, preventing a full
electrical circuit. Garrett carefully unwrapped the protective
insulation off the cap’s firing wires, then reconnected the
lead.

We see the timer close. Garrett turns the
timer indicator to 30 minutes.

 


STANDARD DETONATION PROCEDURES (cont. from
Line 4, Page 1-a).

5) Set Timer. [CAUTION: This device requires
a minimum safe distance of 2000 meters!]

6) Enable “Timer-set” to ON position.

7) Depress safety cover of M34 firing device
to activate timer.

8) Seek safe-distance perimeter!

 


Garrett followed the instructions and turned
the timer dial to 60 minutes. Now he had everything ready. At
least I HOPE I have everything ready… “I think this’ll do it,”
he announced. “This will give us plenty of time to get far enough
away that we won’t get hurt.”

“Oh. Okay.”

Garrett passed the small firing device to
Danny. “Push the button now, Danny. Then we can go.”

Danny looked at the plastic firing device.
His thumb pressed down on the cover—click!—and then the
timer began to tick.

Garrett took the boy’s hand and led him back
to the elevator platform. They both took a final glance at the
three strange narrow crates sitting just beyond the ticking ADM.
Not coffins, Garrett surmised. Not really.

“Let’s get out of here, Danny. That sound
good to you?”

“Yeah.”

Garrett pushed the power-button on the wall.
The motor kicked in and the gears and cables overhead began to
squeal.

Then the elevator began to rise, taking them
out.

 


««—»»

 


“I never thought I’d get to see the
nighttime again,” Danny said in the strangest tone, “or hear the
crickets.”

“No need to worry about that now,” Garrett
said. “You’ve got a whole great life ahead of you.” But Garrett’s
heart dipped a bit just after he’d said it.

What kind of life did Danny have
awaiting for him? It wasn’t enough that he’d been abducted and
manipulated by extraterrestrials—he’d been terrorized by a
contract-killer, had witnessed his own parents being savagely
murdered. That can fuck a little kid’s head up for life,
Garrett realized.

What really awaited Danny? Foster
care, adoption agencies, etc.

The night-sounds swirled above them. The low
moon wanly lit the fields before them. Once they’d left the depot,
they’d briskly walked north for a half an hour, Garrett leading
them both well-past the minimum safe-distance. Before this night
was officially over, there was still a show to see.

Garrett didn’t want to miss it.

He’d picked a good spot just past the
highest rise. The forestbelt extended past on either side, and now
they crouched down behind a substantial hillock. Two miles distant
lay the hidden dell that was Area November, Depot 12.

Garrett lit a much-needed cigarette, then
glanced at his watch. They sat with their backs to the bank.
“Whatever you do, Danny, keep your eyes closed and don’t look
toward the depot.”

“I guess it would hurt our eyes, huh?”

“You bet.”

“But if we can’t look at it, what are we
waiting to see?”

“We want to see what happens after
the bomb goes off. I think it should be pretty neat.” Another
glance to his watch. Ten seconds… Garrett put his arm around
Danny. “It’s almost time, sport. Don’t be scared.”

“Will it be loud?”

“I—” The question puzzled Garrett. “I don’t
really know. That depot’s pretty strong and deep. We’ll find out in
a few seconds…”

The next lapsed of time seemed more like
several minutes. Then a loud bang! echoed from behind them.
“This is it!” Garrett exclaimed. “Close your eyes and hang on!”
Garrett held the boy tight against him.

The earth beneath them seemed to tremor
slightly, and instead of a cacophonous explosion, what Garrett
heard instead was more like a long crackling roar. He felt the air
temperature around him rise, and even with his eyes closed and his
face pointing away from the bomb, he sensed a flash of light. Then
came a vast rustling—shock wave, he thought—as the trees
around them began to shake slightly.

What neither of them saw was the small
spectacular fireball that rose from the depot over a mile
distant.

Garrett waited for the roar to drone down,
then he looked over his shoulder. “Okay, Danny, it’s safe to look
now…”

The boy turned around, and they both peered
over the edge of the hillock.

A proverbial mushroom cloud unrolled upward.
Garrett was surprised how small it seemed. The mushroom’s head
looked filled with dark throbs of light.

Trace fires had broken out around the woods.
Garrett wasn’t sure, but he thought he detected small movements in
the distance. Damn it! Too far away, too dark!

Then the darkness gradually turned to
light.

“Look!” Danny shouted, pointing up.

An immense wedge of broad daylight seemed to
cut through the night.

Good God, Garrett thought.

A long black tube in the sky, hundreds of
feet long. A drone pressed Garrett’s ears as the vehicle hovered,
then began to descend several hundred yards down the field.

Garrett and Danny’s hair blew around as if
in a stiff breeze. Garrett note dark-red light wafting like smoke
from what he guessed was the ship’s engine vent, and the queer,
trapezoid-shaped window at the opposite end.

And then he noticed—

“There they are!” Danny exclaimed. “They
came out!”

Garrett peered. They’re still alive,
he thought. All of the speculation turned out to be true. Under the
craft’s intense illumination, he could see the three thin figures
walking away from the exploded depot and into the middle of the
field. They walked a bit further, then stopped, their post-like
heads looking upward.

The vehicle landed, and in only moments, its
long-lost passengers had been picked up.

And the ship was gone.

 


 




EPILOGUE

 


Distant car horns honked from the street
below. Washington, D.C. looked like a pattern of glitter beyond the
open window.

Garrett was back.

Ever the typified journalist, he sat at his
disheveled desk in a sleeveless t-shirt, a lit cigarette hanging
off his lips. He was typing madly on his computer keyboard…

 


Of the minutia of this case, I can only
really speculate. It’s my assertion, however, that the deceased
General Norton Swenson, formerly of MJ-12 and the Air Force Aerial
Intelligence Commander, was quite right in his decades-old
prediction. The skeletons from the Nellis crash weren’t dead bodies
at all. They were three alien bodies in hibernation. The detonation
of the (Small) Atomic Demolition Munition at the Edgewood Arsenal,
via its radioactive flux, sufficed to rejuvenate the skeletons,
whereupon they were picked up by a rescue ship.

 


Garrett paused, looking absently toward the
window. Then he glanced into his kitchen, where Lynn and Jessica,
both in jeans and rather provocative tube tops, fastidiously
prepared dinner.

Jesus, those girls are hot. They could make
the Pope kick out a stained-glass window…

“How’s it coming in there, oh great
investigative journalist?” Lynn called out.

“Great. I’m almost done with the rough
draft,” he answered. “Psi-Com’s gonna be damn sorry
they fired me. Bunch’a boneheads. They got dog food for
brains.”

He grinned to himself at the thought of
vindication, then got back to typing.

 


Dr. Jessica Truini, Deputy Medical Examiner
for the District of Columbia, has already performed initial
post-mortem analysis of the alien forearm. That forearm remains in
my possession, and once the proper precautions have been taken, it
will be released to public scrutiny. What also remains in my
possession is a small cylindrical device which seems to be some
sort of handheld anti-gravitational implement that the aliens gave
to Danny Vander during one of his abductions. It was this device
that enabled an eight-year-old boy to shatter military-grade
security locks, tear open an electrified fence, and carry off the
300-pound ADM in his bare hands.

 


“Hey, Harlan,” Jessica called out. “You want
your potatoes mashed or scalloped?”

Garrett frowned, snapped out of his train of
thought. “Mashed, please.”

He began typing again.

 


The ADM itself, being of very low yield
inflicted no extensive damage to the perimeter. A Field Assessment
Team from the Army Chemical Corp, Radiological Branch, discovered
only minor irradiation of the area. No big deal considering the
military, for decades, has been testing nuclear weapons hundreds of
times more powerful, on U.S. soil. Perhaps that’s what the aliens
were originally investigating in the first place, over thirty-five
years ago when the first ship crashed on the Nellis Military
Reservation near Las Vegas, Nevada. I don’t guess anyone’ll ever
know for sure.

 


“Hey, Harlan?” Lynn again. “Do you want your
string beans steamed or stir-fried?”

Garrett sighed, then quickly saved his file
and shut down his computer. Too many distractions right now, but so
what? He could do the final polish later.

He could make history later.

“Stir-fried,” he said.

“So are you finished with your
ground-breaking article?” Lynn inquired.

“Even amid all the distractions around here,
yes,” he replied, and lit another cigarette. “But of course this is
going to be more than just an article, it’ll be a book too. New
York Times best-seller list here we come. Only thing I’m stuck on
is the title.” He paused in reflection. “Hey, girls, how’s this
sound… The Truth About the Nellis Crash?”

“Stinks,” Lynn answered.

Garrett smirked. “Okay. Then how about this?
The Mystery of the Edgewood Arsenal?”

“Clunker,” Jessica contributed.

Who asked you anyway? Garrett
thought. Bimbos. Neither of them know a good thing when they see
it…and the good thing is sitting right here.

Lynn could be heard chopping the ends of the
string beans. “But, you know, it’s really too bad about the little
boy.”

“Yeah,” Jessica added. “The poor kid. He’ll
never be the same after all that happened to him. I guess he’ll
just get put in an orphanage or something.”

Garrett’s spirit nosedived. The whole thing
was a happy ending…except for the part about Danny. Two nights ago,
after it had all gone down, Garrett had had no choice but to drop
Danny off at the MP station. Too many questions would have been
asked if he’d actually taken the boy in himself. But Garrett had
promised to keep in touch. What else could he do?

“I talked to him on the phone today,”
Garrett finally answered. “At least his father left him
well-provided for. But he’s got no aunts or uncles or grandparents,
so it looks like he’ll go into the Army’s foster-care program.”

“That’s gotta be really tough for a kid that
age,” Lynn said.

“Yeah,” Garrett muttered. He knew it wasn’t
a good idea to say it…but he said it anyway. “I’ve been thinking
about it, you know?”

“What?” Jessica asked.

“I was thinking about maybe…adopting him
myself.”

Lynn and Jessica cackled like witches.

“Oh, that’s funny?” Garrett objected.
“What’s so funny about it?”

“Be real, Harlan,” Lynn said.

Then Jessica: “Yeah. You’re not exactly
qualified to adopt a child, Harlan.”

Garrett glared toward the kitchen. “Oh? And
why not?”

“There are state adoption regulations,” Lynn
said. “Things like minimum-income requirements.”

“Face it, Harlan,” Jessica added. “It’s a
nice thought, but if you make $6000 in a year, that’s a good
year.”

“And you’d have to make a lot more than that
to adopt a child,” Lynn finished with her two cents.

Garrett ground his teeth in frustration.
“Hello? Girl geniuses? It’s true that in the past I haven’t exactly
been pulling down the big money. But after I sell this article for
fifty grand and the book for half a mil—then I think I just might
meet the minimum-income requirements to adopt a kid. Ya think?”

More cackling laughter bubbled from the
kitchen.

“That’s what you said about your Martin
Luther King Assassination story,” Lynn reminded him.

“And that big book you wrote about Area 51,”
Jessica said. “How much did you get for those winners, Harley?”

Nothing, Garrett admitted. But that
didn’t matter. “You’re both just being arbitrary. This story’s
gonna sell, and it’s gonna sell big, and I can’t
believe you two bird-brains can’t admit that. You’re forgetting
what’s in my freezer, aren’t you? A severed alien
forearm?”

“It’ll be debunked, Harlan,” Lynn assured
him. “I mean, I know it’s real, Jessica knows it’s
real, and you know it’s real—”

“But you’ll never be able to prove it,”
Jessica tacked on.

Garrett waved a disgusted hand at them.
Fuck you both very much. Bitches.

Then Jessica piped back up. “Let me ask you
something even more important. How do you want your steak?”

“Rare,” Garrett replied. “Rare and bleeding,
the same way the both of you left my heart.”

Still more laughter cackled from the
kitchen.

“Laugh all you want,” he invited. “But look
what I’ve got. Not only have I got the story of the century in my
hands, not only an I about to bust open the truth about the
existence of extraterrestrial life to the whole world… I’ve got my
ex-wife and ex-fiancé cooking me dinner.”

“Two out of three ain’t bad,” Jessica said.
And burst out into more laughter.

Women can be SO malicious, Garrett
thought. But what did it matter to him anyway? I’ll show them.
I’ll show them both, and then we’ll see who’s laughing. When I’m
rich, they’ll both be crawling back to me on their knees.

“I can’t wait,” he muttered under his
breath.

“What was that, Harlan?” Lynn asked.

“I said…I have to go to the bathroom. Be
right back.”

Garrett went to do his business, determined
not to let their sour grapes get to him. Why should he care what
they thought. Garrett knew.

Garrett knew that this was going all
the way.

Yeah…

Garrett had never voided his bladder with
more satisfaction.

When he came out of the bathroom, he called
out, “Hey, girls? Is that beer cold yet?”

But no answer followed.

“Girls?”

Still no answer. What is this? Where The
Boy Aren’t? He walked into the kitchen.

“Gossiping about me behind my back, huh?
Probably trading tales about my pre-eminent skills as a lover—”

Appetizing aromas filled the air. Grade-A
t-bone steaks sizzled in the fry pan. But neither Lynn nor Jessica
could be found.

What is this rinky-dink bullshit?

He turned, then, and looked into the tiny
laundry room

You gotta be—

Garrett stared in confusion.

Lynn sat in the corner.

Tied up. Gagged. Her eyes wide with
fear.

“What the—”

A familiar metallic sound clicked behind
him, and before he could even think about reacting, a pistol barrel
was being pressed firmly against the back of his head.

Jessica’s voice flow like dark smoke. “Hands
in the air. Slow.”

—shitting me…

Garrett obeyed the command, after which he
slowly turned to see Jessica pointing a pistol in his face.

“I’m surprised you didn’t figure it out,
Harlan,” she said. “I told my station chief you probably would, but
we decided to chance it anyway. We don’t have any solid ties with
DIA; I couldn’t be sure what she would do.”

Jessica gestured toward the tied-and-gagged
Lynn. Then she lead Garrett at gunpoint back into the living
room.

Garrett felt his whole life crumbling around
him.

“She was setting you up, Harlan—”

“Looks to me like you’re the one
setting me up,” he offered, hands high.

“—but I had to beat her to the punch, make
my move now.”

“Make your move for what?”

“For the proof, Harlan. You really are
dense, aren’t you. That plastic bag in the freezer is coming with
me.”

Rage rose up in Garrett’s bones. “You’re not
taking my alien arm!”

Jessica tittered. “You can’t possibly
believe that you would be allowed to keep an extraterrestrial body
part. That really is proof, Harlan, and we can’t have the
world getting their hands on it.”

Garrett seethed. “Goddamn you, you—”

Save it, Harlan,” she said. “You know, for a
smart guy, you can be incredibly stupid. You’ve been my case
assignment for over a year.

“A sexual operative,” he realized. “Jesus.
So who do you work for? CIA, the Bureau, NSA?”

“You don’t need to know that, Harlan. Let’s
just say that I’m employed by a…compartmentalized cell.”

“Great. So it was you all along, making me
think you loved me.”

Jessica gave a thin smile. “I was the one
who put the direction-finder on your car when you were researching
the pay off at the Senate Select Committee. I was the one who
planted the electret bugs all over the apartment, and I was the one
who had your phones spiked. And that Nevatek job? Who else but me
could’ve possibly reported the break-in before it
happened?”

“You diabolical bitch…”

“I had to get our techs in here every couple
of months to break the passwords on your computers, but that takes
time, so every once in a while—”

Garrett realized the obvious. “You’d blow
the whistle on me to the cops, get me put in jail for a few nights
so your boys could come in here and copy all my files.”

“Um-hmm. You’re too trusting, Harlan, either
that or your brain takes a lot of vacations. But you were a
terrific case assignment—I’ll get promoted for this.”

“Congratulations, baby,” Garrett uttered,
“on a job well done.” This was just too embarrassing.
“Answer me one question. Did you ever love me at all, even just a
little?”

“No. But you are right about one thing.”

“Yeah?”

“You do possess pre-eminent skills as a
lover.”

“Thanks. I’ll put that on my resume.”

Jessica appraised him like an exotic trophy.
“I’ve got to take the arm and go now, Harlan, but I’ve got to tie
you up first. So let’s do this the easy way, okay. Turn around, get
on your knees, and put your hands behind your back.”

“Gee, you never wanted to do kinky stuff
before,” Garrett remarked.

“Let’s get this over with.” With her other
hand, she pulled a coil of rope from her back pocket. “Turn
around.”

Garrett paused. “I don’t guess you’d look if
I told you your shoe was untied, huh?”

Jessica was wearing sandals. “Come on,
Harlan. Give it up.”

“How about this: your fly is down.”

She frowned. “I’d except something more
original than those, Harlan.”

“All right,” he said, “how about this? A
tactical cop with a sound-suppressed submachine gun has just
rappelled down the side of my apartment and …I guess he’s about to
come through the window.”

A split-second later, the lights snapped
off.

Then the room seemed to explode in a rain of
broken glass. Garrett ducked; he couldn’t see very much, just bulky
quick-moving shape pounding in different directions across the
floor. Narrow flashlight beams darted back and forth. A
raid? Garrett could only guess. He hunched down, stepping
backward toward the corner of the room.

“Down! On the floor!,” a male voice
barked.

“Don’t move!” ordered another.

But Garrett knew they weren’t talking to
him.

Seconds later, the lights came back on, and
what Garrett saw astonished him. Three cops in black riot gear were
securing the room. They looked like robots in their kevlar vest,
black helmets, and ballistic visors. Jessica had already been
disarmed and was being hauled up off the floor and cuffed by one of
the cops. Garrett stood up from the corner, wearily noticing that
all of his windows had been busted in.

A second cop turned in silence, his
submachine gun poked at Garrett.

“Don’t shoot me. I’m only a writer.”

The cop ignored the comment, then raised a
walkie-talkie to his lips. “Alpha Unit, this is Extraction Team
One. The perimeter is clear.”

“Roger, Extraction Team One,” a voice
crackled back. “Commence standard SOP debark order.”

Garrett wasn’t sure, but the voice on the
other end of the walkie-talkie sounded vaguely familiar.

“What the hell’s going on here?” he
asked.

The cop ignored him again, as a third member
of the team brought Lynn—untied and ungagged now—from out of the
kitchen. Was she being arrested too?

“Who are these guys?” he asked
her.

“Our guys, Harlan.”

Garrett stared at her. The whole thing had
already started to stink—now it was stinking worse. Lynn extracted
a tiny thread from an edge of her tube top: a reversed-bias diode
microphone.

“You diabolical bitch!” he said for the
second time that night.

“Business is business,” she replied, making
no apologies. “It’s my job, Harlan.”

The front door clicked open, and in
walked—

“I should’ve known,” Garrett griped.

Myers, in his neat suit, surveyed the room
and glanced at Jessica. “Well, that was easy,” he said.

“You sure took your sweet time,” Lynn
complained.

“We had to wait for her to get to the middle
of the room to establish an optimum entry position.” Myers flicked
a hand at the cop who had Jessica. “Get her out of here.”

“Yes, sir.” Then Jessica was lugged out of
the room. The other two cops were—

“Hey!” Garrett yelled. “Stop that!”

—disconnecting Garrett’s computer.

“Myers! Tell them to stop!”

“Get that crap out of here,” Myers ordered
the other two men. One carried the computer out of the apartment;
the other followed with the old briefcase full of Swenson’s
files.

Garrett glared at Myers. “You motherf—”

“Good job on foiling that convenience store
robbery the other day,” Myers interrupted. “Too bad you’re not
real FBI. They could use a man like you.” Then he spiked the
phony ID wallet off the desk and put it in his pocket.

This just keeps getting better and
better, Garrett thought in useless rage. “Do I at least get an
explanation?”

“Not much to explain at this point,” Myers
replied.

“Gee, and at first I thought you sent in
your team just to save my ass.”

“Given the circumstances, Garrett, your ass
is very expendable, but we’re happy to have been able to save it
anyway.”

Garrett stroked his chin, thinking, then
looked to Lynn. “Jessica said that you were setting me
up.”

Lynn sighed. “Come on, Harlan. You gotta be
realistic about this. We had a pretty good idea what her move would
be, so I made a counter-move, that’s all.”

“What are you talking about?”

Myers went into the kitchen and returned a
moment later. “We’re talking about this.” He held up the plastic
bag which contained the alien forearm.

“Oh, so now you’re gonna steal my
alien arm!”

“Really, Garrett. Try to look at it from our
perspective.”

“I can’t look at it from your
perspective because I’m not a law-breaking truth-concealing
crypto-fascist Big Brother storm trooper like you!”

“Harlan, open your eyes,” Lynn said. “Even
Jessica was right about that part. The thing in that bag can never
be released to the public conscience. You know that.”

Myers again: “The ramifications would be
incalculable. It would change the very mechanics of human ideology.
It would change our governmental structures, our legislative
process, our economy, our morality. It would ravage every belief
system in the world.”

Garrett sputtered and lit a cigarette. “You
bastards. You’re taking my arm.”

“And life will go on just as it should,”
Myers continued. “The world goes on turning, we go on doing our
thing, and you go on writing your crackpot conspiracy articles that
mainstream America will never believe.”

“Because you Big Brother sons of bitches
keep concealing the proof by which they’d have no choice but to
believe!”

“Precisely.” Myers grinned. “And on that
note, I think we’ll make our exit.”

Lynn cast a sheepish glance at Garrett.
“‘Bye, Harlan. Take care of yourself.”

Bitch, Garrett thought as she and
Myers headed for the door. The apartment lay in shambles, the
forearm confiscated. Nothing left…But then he remembered:
Wait a minute! They forgot to take the—

“Oops. We can’t be forgetting this, can we?”
Myers came back into the living room and picked the glove up off
the desk.

Garrett nearly keeled over. “First you take
my arm, and now you’re taking my glove!”

“’Fraid so.” Myers looked at the glove
excitedly. “The Sciences Branch will love this.”

“Yeah, I’ll bet they will,” Garrett
grumbled. He looked one last time at his ex-wife. “Can I call you
sometime?”

“Nope,” Lynn said. “But have a good life,
Harlan.”

Myers slapped him on the back. “And if you
ever grow a brain and decide to give up writing this conspiracy
bunk, let me know. I have a job for you.”

Garrett perked up. “Oh, yeah?”

“Yeah, I need a new yard boy. I’ll pay ya
six an hour.”

Myers and Lynn both laughed as they left the
apartment.

Garrett trudged to the kitchen and turned
off the stove. The t-bones were close to charcoal now, the mashed
potatoes cement. Fuck. He meandered back to his work room,
sat down at his ravaged, computerless desk. He lit another
cigarette and dejectedly spewed smoke out the broken window.

I’m ruined, came the simple thought
like a pulse-beat in his head.

No one would believe the Nellis story any
more than they’d believe the others. No real proof. This was the
first time he’d every had it—the ultimate dream of any UFO
writer—but now it was gone as if it had never existed.

Add to that his computer was stolen and his
apartment trashed.

It felt as though he’d have to start his
entire professional life over again. Could tings get any worse?

An unconscious glance at the desk showed him
the day’s mail; he picked up the stack and wilted when he noted the
return address of the top letter.

 


Office of the Judge Advocate General

Legal Proceedings,

Washington, D.C., 20012

 


“Oh, gimme a break!” he bellowed allowed.
“What, now I’m being fined by the goddamn military?”

Guess I’ll have to move to Mexico, he
thought.

Could things get any worse? It was certainly
looking like that. He tore open the letter and read:

Dear Mr. Harlan Garrett:

The JAG office of the Washington Military
District has just processed the Last Will and Testament of the late
General Norton T. Swenson. As the General had no legal heirs and no
surviving relative, his Will remains uncontested and names you as
the sole beneficiary of his estate.

Please call the above number at your
earliest convenience. The estimated worth of the General’s estate
include $2,500,000 in property and real estate and approximately
$6,000,000 in cash, bonds, and other liquid assets.

Garrett collapsed.

Yes, he would have to start his life over
again, but this looked like a pretty good start.
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